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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
Strong UK performance, record order book and 
growth momentum in all regions

Second half adjusted profit 
before tax** up 29% to £4.9m 
(H2 2015: £3.8m)

Operating margins improvement
(year on year)         5.4 %4.4 %

Second half revenues up 5% 
to £70.9m (H2 2015: £67.3m)

2016

2015 +2%

REVENUE*

£133.5m

£130.5m

£7.2m

£5.8m

2016

2015 +24%

ADJUSTED OPERATING PROFIT**

£7.0m

£5.7m

2016

2015 +23%

ADJUSTED PROFIT BEFORE TAX**

2016

2015 +54%

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

£2.2m

£1.4m

* Including revenue from Joint Ventures
** Before separately disclosed items

£0.2m

£12.3m

2016

2015

TOTAL CASH NET OF DEBIT AS AT 31 MARCH 2016
After £7.9m 

investment in 
acquisitions
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  10.0p

1.0p
FINAL DIVIDEND

TOTAL
DIVIDEND
FOR YEAR 1.5p

4.0p

2.9p

2016

2015 +24%

EARNINGS PER SHARE

2016

2015 +9%

ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER SHARE**

10.0p

9.2p

+50%1.5p

1.0p

2016

2015

TOTAL DIVIDEND FOR YEAR

+43%1.0p

0.7p

PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND

2016

2015
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REVENUE INCREASES
 

 

 

Strong second half 
performance in 
our international 
businesses:

Driven by strong demand 
for WYG’s services across 
buoyant planning and
infrastructure markets, 
supplemented by acquisitions

5

Reflecting buoyant 
infrastructure and  
planning markets

Demonstrating 
significant new  
work now being 
contracted following  
EU budget hiatus

   

INCREASE

 
   

IN ORDER 

   

BOOK TO

 

150.1

 

m

 

  

 

  

  

UP
43

%

As at 31 March 2016
(31 March 2015: £105.0m)
prior to post year end wins.
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• Trading since the year end is in line 
with the Board’s expectations 

• Strong trading performance of UK 
Region continuing into Q1 2017

• €80m of specific opportunities in 
pre-accession countries with a 
further €100m pipeline of potential 
opportunities 

• Growing pipeline of international 
development opportunities with more 
than £150m specific opportunities 
and a longer-term pipeline of £350m 
major projects and frameworks across 
Africa supported by committed UK and 
European budgets 

• MENA Region now mobilising on major 
projects won in 2015/6 with continuing 
high levels of bidding activity to 
support future activity in this region

• Launched The Migration Partners, the 
first private sector consortium formed 
to address the migration crisis 

• Order book for work to be undertaken 
in the current financial year is £97.0m 
(2015: £69.2m) providing a sound basis 
for expectations of revenue growth

• The Board believes WYG’s business will 
not be unduly affected by the UK  
EU Referendum.

CURRENT 
TRADING  
& OUTLOOK

New management incentives approved at AGM
12.2m options awarded under the TIP have 
been surrendered, equivalent to

17.9 % of the current 
issued share capital

NEW APPOINTMENTS
Jeremy Beeton (below left) and Neil Masom (below right) appointed as  
non-executive directors and expanded the senior management team

Iain Clarkson 
appointed as  
Chief Financial Officer 

Strong progress following completion of the 
strategic review in June 2015:
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INTRODUCTION
I am delighted to report further 
positive developments in the long 
term prospects of the Group. This year 
we have delivered a 23% increase in 
adjusted profit before taxation despite a 
modest 2% increase in revenue which, 
as explained in our Half Year Report in 
December 2015, was held back in the 
first half of the year by the delayed ramp 
up of the EU funding cycle.

We saw a significant acceleration 
in both profits and revenue in the 
second half of the year as we were 
able to take advantage of a strong UK 
market, supplemented by acquisitions 
to strengthen our front end services 
offering, more than offsetting the initial 
delays in our international business. With 
record order coverage now in place, all 
three reporting segments (UK, EAA and 
MENA) have strong forward momentum 
which we expect to continue through the 
current year.

We have also made demonstrable 
progress towards delivering our strategy 
of accelerating future growth through our 
focus on driving quality revenues from 
our front-end planning consultancy and 
international development businesses, 
WYG’s core areas of strength. Since 
we announced the conclusion of our 
strategic review in June 2015, we have 
secured new, substantially increased 
committed funding, broadened the skills 
and experience of our Board and put 
in place, with shareholder approval, a 
new suite of management incentives 
which will enhance our ability to deliver 
on our strategy. We now have greater 
operational flexibility and have made 
selective acquisitions to provide access 
to a wider range of skills and resources, 
framework agreements and geographical 
coverage. Predicated on the significant 
growth in our order book, we anticipate 
a period of strong organic growth.

RESULTS
Revenue (including our share of Joint 
Venture revenues) for the full year was 
up 2% to £133.5m (2015: £130.5m). 
However, revenue in the second half was 
up 13% to £70.9m compared with the 
first half of the year (£62.6m) and up 
5% on the second half of 2015 (£67.3m). 
More pleasingly, revenue was also up 
12% in the final quarter of the year 
compared with the corresponding prior 
period, providing excellent momentum 
into the current year.

Adjusted operating profit increased 
by 24% to £7.2m (2015: £5.8m) 
representing an adjusted operating 
margin of 5.4% compared with 4.4% in 
the prior year. Adjusted profit before tax 
was up 23% to £7.0m (2015: £5.7m), 
reflecting a very strong improvement in 
profitability year on year. On a statutory 
basis, the Group made a profit before 
tax of £2.2m (2015: £1.4m). Earnings per 
share adjusted for separately disclosed 
items were 10.0p (2015: 9.2p). On a 
statutory basis, earnings per share were 
4.0p (2015: 2.9p).

As at 31 March 2016, the Group’s 
order book stood at £150.1m (2015: 
£105.0m), 43% higher than at the same 
point last year which, supported by a 
strengthening pipeline of opportunities in 
all our markets, underpins the significant 
growth we anticipate in 2016/7. All three 
regions have reported an improving 
trend with the UK up 50% on the 
position in March 2015 and Turkey’s 
order book is almost three times higher. 
This excellent performance is expected 
to progress further during the course of 
this year.

The Group closed the year with total 
cash net of debt at 31 March 2016 of 
£0.2m (31 March 2015: £12.3m) after 
investing £7.9m in acquisitions, including 
the deferred consideration payment for 
Alliance Planning. The year end cash 
balance was also impacted by the sharp 

increase in revenue in the final quarter 
and our increased focus on higher 
margin UK planning-related disciplines 
(where the working capital cycle is 
slightly longer) together with capital 
investment in upgrades to our offices 
and IT.

BANK FACILITY
In July 2015, we secured a new £25 
million five-year committed multicurrency 
revolving credit facility from HSBC 
offering broad flexibility between debt 
and bonding requirements. This facility, 
which gives the Group access to debt for 
the first time since 2010, ensures that we 
have the resources with which to fund 
our accelerated growth ambitions.

ACQUISITIONS
During the year we made three 
acquisitions. These have reinforced 
the Group’s position as a top three UK 
planning consultancy and enhanced  
our front end consultancy offering  
while supporting our focus on high 
quality revenues.

We acquired FMW Consultancy Limited, 
a specialist transport and infrastructure 
consultancy on 8 June 2015, in a 
transaction with an enterprise value of 
£1.4 million, which further improved our 
status as one of the largest transport and 
infrastructure planning consultancies in 
the UK. The acquisition was immediately 
earnings enhancing and, having been 
completely integrated into our business, 
is performing well as part of the Group.

We announced the acquisition of 
North Associates (Cumbria) Limited 
together with its subsidiary, Taylor & 
Hardy Limited, on 30 October 2015 
for a maximum total consideration of 
£5.0 million. This acquisition not only 
bolstered the Group’s status as one of 
the largest property asset management 
and planning consultancy businesses 
in the UK, it also positioned WYG to 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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“The excellent results set out in this report reflect the effort, professionalism 
and dedication of our employees, including almost 300 new staff who have 
joined the WYG family in the past 12 months, and on behalf of the Board I 
would like to thank them all for their hard work and contribution.” 
MIKE MCTIGHE, CHAIRMAN



benefit from some of the anticipated 
£90 billion of investment planned as part 
of the development of Britain’s Energy 
Coast in West Cumbria. This team, which 
is mainly based in Carlisle, has been 
working closely with our existing Cumbria 
office to develop an exciting pipeline of 
opportunities in this region. 

On 5 January 2016, we acquired the 
entire issued share capital of SCA 
Planning Limited, which trades as Signet 
Planning, for a maximum enterprise 
value of £3.7 million. Signet Planning  
is a fast growing town planning and 
urban design consultancy with a  
c.40-strong team and is well positioned 
to achieve further growth, especially in 
the London commercial development 
market, the residential sector generally 
and through opportunities driven by  
the UK government’s Northern 
Powerhouse agenda.

We now have more than 135 planning 
specialists constituting the third largest 
team in the UK. This leading market 
position places us well to take advantage 
of the strong demand we expect for 
these specialist skills within a buoyant  
UK market for property and 
infrastructure development.

NEW MANAGEMENT 
INCENTIVES
At the AGM in September 2015, 
shareholders approved new incentive 
arrangements which comprised three 
key elements: an annual bonus scheme 
with deferred cash and share-based 
payments, a more standard long term 
incentive plan (LTIP) with stretching 
three year EPS and TSR targets, and a 
retention scheme for other key senior 
employees. The Company has granted 
options over 1.4 million ordinary shares 
under the LTIP and 1.1 million ordinary 
shares under the retention scheme.

The new schemes replaced the existing 
Transformation Incentive Plan (TIP) 
and required 12.2 million options 
previously awarded under the TIP to 
be surrendered. The surrender was 
equivalent to 17.9% of the issued 
share capital and thus substantially 

removed the potential dilutive effect of 
the TIP scheme which had become an 
impediment to optimising shareholder 
value. Following the surrender of  
awards under the TIP (and the lapse 
of other awards) there are 4.1 million 
vested and unvested TIP options over 
ordinary shares.

There are no other options over the 
Company’s ordinary shares.

PENSIONS
In December 2015, the Trustees of 
the WYD Pension Scheme reached an 
agreement to insure the liabilities of the 
scheme with Just Retirement Limited. 
The agreement contained an option 
allowing the Trustees to effect a buy-out 
of all the WYD Pension Scheme liabilities 
and on 31 March 2016 they completed 
the exercise of this option. This 
eliminated the Group’s only remaining 
exposure to defined benefit pension 
risk. The process of winding up the WYD 
Pension Scheme has now commenced.

DIVIDEND
In March 2016 we paid an interim 
dividend of 0.5p. Subject to the approval 
of shareholders at the AGM, a dividend 
of 1.0p will be paid on 28 September 
2016 to ordinary shareholders on the 
register on 2 September 2016, bringing 
the overall dividend for the year to 1.5p 
per ordinary share (2015: 1.0p).

The Financial Results are discussed in 
more detail in the Strategic Report and 
set out in full in the Financial Statements.

BOARD CHANGES
Following the strategic review, the Board 
stated it would take the opportunity 
to extend the talents, skill sets and 
connections the Company needs to be 
more closely aligned to its markets and 
to ensure it has a board structure to 
deliver the next phase of growth. 

As a result, on 1 October 2015, we 
announced the appointment of two new 
non-executive directors. Jeremy Beeton 
joined us as the senior independent 
non-executive director with more than 

40 years’ experience in international 
business, government, construction and 
civil engineering. Neil Masom joined us 
to chair WYG’s Remuneration Committee 
with more than 30 years’ experience of 
working in complex, politically sensitive 
activities in international, commercial and 
public sector organisations.

Graham Olver, the Group’s Chief 
Operating Officer, decided to step  
down from the Board in August 2015.  
In September, Robert Barr, the  
Group’s senior independent non-
executive director retired from the  
Board having completed the maximum 
nine years’ service on the Board during 
which he could be deemed to be 
independent under the UK Corporate 
Governance Code.

Since then, we announced in December 
2015 that after four very challenging  
yet successful years, Sean Cummins  
had decided for personal reasons to  
step down as Group Finance Director. 
During his time with the Group, Sean  
has played a key role in WYG’s transition 
to a well funded, independent group  
and he will leave WYG in a strong 
position to execute the growth strategy 
which is at the heart of the next phase  
of its development. 

The Board wishes to take this 
opportunity to thank Graham, Robert 
and Sean for their contributions to the 
transformation of WYG and wish them 
every success for the future. 

We are pleased to announce the 
appointment today of Iain Clarkson 
as Chief Financial Officer. Iain joins us 
from AMEC Foster Wheeler plc where, 
from 2012 to 2016, he was Finance 
Director of their Clean Energy Europe 
Business, a £200 million division with 
operations in the UK, Central and Eastern 
Europe and South Africa, employing 
around 2,200 staff. Iain was previously 
Finance Director of AMEC plc’s nuclear 
business and its Power & Process Europe 
divisions. From 2001 to 2007, Iain was 
Vice President Finance of Westinghouse 
Electric Company’s European nuclear fuel 
business and then its global nuclear fuel 
business, where he supported growing 
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the company to become the world’s 
largest nuclear fuel operation with sales 
of approximately $1bn. Iain, who has 
a BSC in mathematics, qualified as a 
chartered accountant (ACA) in 1992. He 
trained with and worked for Coopers & 
Lybrand until 1996 when he joined BNFL, 
first as Head of Finance, New Business 
Ventures and subsequently as Corporate 
Finance Manager and then Head of 
Finance on BNFL’s privatisation project.

THE UK’S EU REFERENDUM
The European Union (in the form of 
EuropeAid) is the Group’s single largest 
client. As a Board, we have carefully 
considered the implications of the 
forthcoming UK referendum on the 
question of membership of the European 
Union (EU), or ‘Brexit’. We have formed 
the view that, should there be a vote 
to leave the EU, it will have no medium 
term effect on our international business 
and a very limited effect on the Group  
as a whole.

As regards our particular market 
exposure with EuropeAid, our unique 
‘localisation strategy’ developed over the 
past 12 years of creating local businesses 
and legal entities in our key markets 
positions us strongly to maintain all of 
our existing business and to continue to 
bid and win future opportunities.

Although much would depend on 
the type of economic and political 
relationship that the UK entered into 
post Brexit, we believe that we would 
continue to satisfy the eligibility criteria 
applicable to international public sector 
procurement frameworks. 

We currently bid for the majority of 
our European work through our well-
established Polish, Turkish and Croatian 
subsidiaries. We believe these will not 
be affected by Brexit. A relatively small 
proportion of our contracts are made 
solely through a UK entity. We do not 
expect there to be any impact on current 
contracts and we anticipate that if the 
UK enters into negotiations to leave the 
EU, there will be sufficient time for us 
to realign and reposition ourselves, if 
necessary, in such a way as to direct all 

of this business through our localised 
international subsidiaries so as to 
maintain our market leading position.

The Board has therefore concluded that, 
other than as a result of the impact of 
any wider market uncertainty on all UK 
businesses, WYG’s own business will not 
be unduly affected by a vote to leave.

CURRENT TRADING AND 
OUTLOOK
In the UK we have again seen strong 
revenue growth and significant increases 
in our profitability and order book. 

Several major new infrastructure 
spending programmes have been 
announced and work on these and 
other long term projects will fuel our 
core front end planning and consultancy 
businesses. We have continued 
improving our bid to win ratio on long 
term framework agreements. This 
has led to an increase in the volume 
of work on major contracts with core 
clients, including the UK MoD’s Defence 
Infrastructure Organisation. We believe 
that our UK business is well positioned to 
continue its strong growth trajectory.

Although the delay to the new EU 
funding cycle held back near term 
growth and profitability in our 
international regions, particularly in the 
first half, the EU budget is now being 
deployed at an accelerated rate making 
us extremely confident that the short 
and medium term prospects will show an 
ongoing and meaningful improvement. 
Our international business is beginning to 
mobilise on some of the major, multi-year 
projects we secured in the second half of 
last year and, with a very high proportion 
of the current financial year’s projected 
work already contracted, we anticipate 
that our teams in EAA and MENA will see 
a significant increase in revenue over the 
coming period. 

We have made good progress 
diversifying into fragile and developing 
states where we mitigate commercial 
risk by having a broad portfolio 
of projects, particularly in Central 
Africa. In this region we expect to 

deliver further growth and improved 
financial performance based on our 
success in winning work funded by 
the substantial, committed budgets of 
the UK’s Department for International 
Development (DfID), EuropeAid and 
other international funding institutions. 

Our overall order book for work to be 
undertaken in the current financial year 
is £97.0m compared with £69.2m at the 
corresponding point last year, providing 
a sound basis for our expectations of 
revenue growth in the current year.

THE ANNUAL REPORT
In the Strategic Report we provide a 
clear description of the business, the 
environment in which we work, our 
strategy and business model for  
creating value for shareholders, as 
well as a more detailed review of our 
performance, analysis of our results  
and a description of the risks to the 
business and the KPIs against which  
we benchmark our performance.

In the Corporate Governance section  
we provide further detail on our 
corporate responsibility activities,  
the statutory Directors’ Report and 
Directors’ Remuneration Report  
together with information on the key 
Board committees.

The Financial Statements and 
Shareholder information section 
(including the Notice of Annual General 
Meeting) follow a similar format to 
previous years.

The excellent results set out in this 
report reflect the effort, professionalism 
and dedication of our employees, 
including almost 300 new staff who have 
joined the WYG family in the past  
12 months, and on behalf of the Board  
I would like to thank them all for their 
hard work and contribution.

MIKE MCTIGHE 
CHAIRMAN 
7 JUNE 2016
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ENERGY & WASTE

ENVIRONMENT

DEFENCE & JUSTICE

MINING & METALS

TRANSPORT

URBAN & COMMERCIAL 
DEVELOPMENT

SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT 
& INFRASTRUCTURE

A global project management 
and technical consultancy  
with a difference1

3 REGIONS

OPERATING IN

Creating and managing strategic assets 
by engaging with clients in the early 

stages of a project, and often continuing 
to advise them throughout its lifecycle

Exporting our knowledge and 
undertaking ambitious international 
development projects that make a 
positive impact on infrastructure,  

socio-economic growth and 
the environment

7 GLOBAL 
SECTORS

SERVING
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at a glance

creative minds safe hands

1,600
SPECIALISTS

Using the breadth of our skills  
and knowledge to provide a unique 

integrated approach to projects 
whatever their size, complexity  

or geography

EMPLOYING

20,000
PARTNERS & 
ASSOCIATES

BRINGING 
TOGETHER  
A NETWORK OF
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We follow our clients wherever their 
ambition takes them, often operating 
in challenging geographies and 
circumstances. We are committed to 
selecting the best-equipped people for 
each assignment. We do our utmost to 
keep them healthy, safe and secure no 
matter where the work takes them.  
We call this our duty of care and 
it enables us to work in the most 
challenging environments.

Working with government and donor 
clients to create stability and support 
restructuring following change or post-
conflict continues to be a strong focus 
for the Company.

WYG also works to ensure that the 
world’s growing population is served 
with the necessary energy and water 
infrastructure whilst minimising 
carbon impact and climate change. 
This challenge is faced by developed, 
emerging and less developed  
economies alike.

Likewise, the business is an expert in 
developing infrastructure related to 
population expansion, urbanisation and 
transportation as the world seeks to 
become super-connected. 

Our Major Projects Unit ensures we 
approach big global projects with a  
spirit of cohesion: one company  
sharing resources, knowledge and 
technical excellence to deliver the  
best for our clients.

PROJECT SPOTLIGHT – EAA 
SOMALIA PFM
Civil war and political and economic 
instability has left Somalia with weak or 
dysfunctional institutions and minimal 
capacity for desperately needed 
reconstruction and development. 
However, the establishment of the 
Federal Government of Somalia in 
2012 has led to slow but steady 
progress towards greater stability and 
effectiveness of government. 

As part of an international consortium we 
have been helping to design, implement 
and manage an innovative and 
collaborative UK-Somalia public finance 
management (PFM) training programme 
for civil servants in the country. The 
programme is improving the capacity  
of Somali PFM practitioners by  
delivering an internationally recognised 
accounting qualification. 

The project is delivered through the 
design and implementation of a multi-
faceted learning programme alongside 
the capacity building of four participating 
universities to deliver and examine the 
qualification. The programme is also 
improving budgeting by providing hands-
on budget workshops as well as advising 
on the development of a professionalised 
PFM service in government and providing 
training to senior managers through an 
innovative online programme.

ACROSS THE GLOBE
Working on some of the most sophisticated projects 
across the globe, WYG finds the very best local 
partners to work with on projects to ensure that it 
understands and has the ability to influence positively 
the local communities it works with.
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Supporting Somalia’s 
progress towards 
greater stability  

and effectiveness  
of government 

Public Finance Management  
training programme



PROJECT SPOTLIGHT – MENA 
KAHRAMANMARAS WATER AND WASTEWATER PROJECT

Kahramanmaraş is one of the fastest 
developing and largest cultural cities 
in the Southern region of Turkey with 
a population of over 1 million people 
whose local economy depends upon 
textiles and agriculture in addition to 
making an important contribution to 
Turkish tourism.

Designed to establish a framework for 
successful financial and operational 
performance of water management 
across the Turkish municipalities, our 

work at Kahramanmaraş has been 
praised for its success and the superior 
wealth of experience we brought to 
the project. In particular, WYG’s pro-
active approach was singled out with 
regards to the administration of works 
contracts as part of our FIDIC Engineer 
role and our support to the Water 
Utility Departments. Our client and 
stakeholders were highly appreciative of 
the technical, financial and operational 
management we provided. 

Leading a consortium, which includes 
three major international partners, WYG 
is providing this 39-month technical 
assistance and supervision project within 
a total budget of just over €4 million. It 
is the largest such project within Turkey’s 
EU funded Environmental Operational 
Programme in the water and wastewater 
sector and is the fifth such major project 
that WYG has worked on in Turkey.





The key UK disciplines are:

• Asset Management

• Engineering

• Environment

• Management Services

• Planning

• Transport

• Urban and Landscape Design.

We ensure we deliver the very best  
value for our clients by providing 
excellent service, not just excellent 
services. Because our key disciplines 
work together at a strategic level, we’re 
committed to delivering the same client 
experience no matter what the type  
of project. 

WYG takes this commitment to clients 
very seriously. It is a people business, 
and by investing in training and resource 
for our people, and combining that with a 
respect for and ability to work as partners 
with our clients, we are able to make a 
difference on our projects. You can find 
testimonies to this in our case studies 
throughout this publication. 

Strategically in the UK, a number of 
areas have been highlighted as key to 
the growth of WYG. These include the 
residential and defence sectors, Britain’s 
Energy Coast, Northern Powerhouse, and 
London region. The business has also set 
up working groups to focus on four main 
areas of development supporting the 
business as it moves forward. These are 
people, clients, excellence and delivery.

PROJECT SPOTLIGHT – UK 
PROJECT BORONA
The UK PM, David Cameron addressed 
the Houses of Parliament in 2010, 
following the Strategic Security and 
Defence Review and stated that we 
would bring back our troops from 
Germany by 2020. He added that, by 
the end of August 2015, we would look 
to bring back half of the troops and this 
project is one of those initiatives. 

Project Borona comprised the 
redevelopment of Beacon Barracks to 
provide new Single Living Accommodation 
for all ranks, two new messes and 
associated anterooms, offices, welfare, 
recreational and other facilities for 
personnel returning from Germany.

Supporting the Defence Infrastructure 
Organisation to achieve this we 
provided both commercial and technical 
consultancy advice covering project 
management, cost management, risk 
management and full multidisciplinary 
consultancy over a five year period.

By ensuring that the project completed  
in the summer of 2015, children of  
service personnel returning to the 
UK had time to relocate ahead of the 
new academic year. The project also 
went some way to helping fulfil the 
Government’s commitment to provide 
regular army personnel with more 
certainty about where they will be based 
in the future giving them and their 
families greater stability.

IN THE UK
The business is organised into seven key disciplines 
and a business support group. Each key discipline has 
a head who sits on an operations board, ensuring that 
the people who do the work are the people who help 
influence its strategic growth.
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Giving service 
personnel and  
their families  

greater stability 
Project Borona
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STRATEGIC 
REPORT
This Strategic Report has been prepared 
for the WYG group as a whole and 
therefore gives greater emphasis to 
those matters which are significant to 
WYG plc and its subsidiary undertakings 
when viewed as a whole.

STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT
WYG is a UK headquartered, global 
project management and technical 
consultancy with an in-house team of 
c.1,600 specialists from a diverse set 
of disciplines. WYG is also able to draw 
on a network of over 20,000 partners, 
associates and contacts from around 
the world to form the teams its clients 
need to make their asset creation and 
international development project 
ambitions come to life. In the year to 31 
March 2016, WYG generated revenues of 
£133.5m on which it made an operating 
profit before separately disclosed items 
of £7.2m. As at 1 June 2016, WYG had a 
market capitalisation of £92.0m. WYG’s 
ordinary shares are traded on AIM.

STRATEGY & OBJECTIVES
Our focus is on delivering shareholder 
value and driving growth across the 
business as a whole and, having agreed 
a new, committed £25m bank facility 
with HSBC in July 2015, we have a sound 
financial basis from which to do so. With 
an emphasis on ‘front-end’ services, 
we focus on delivering outcomes for 
our clients that either create value or 
manage risk. 

Our strategy is to make the most of our 
people’s skills and expertise to address 
and solve a number of select global 
challenges, namely:

• Fragile States and Stabilisation 
- working with government and 
donor clients to deliver humanitarian 
programmes, create stability and 
facilitate post-conflict restructuring 
across many fragile states;

• Preserving the Global Environment 
- ensuring that the world’s growing 
population is served with the necessary 
energy and water infrastructure whilst 
minimising carbon impact and climate 
change. This challenge is faced by 
developed, emerging and third world 
economies alike; and

• Urban Development and Connected 
Cities – planning, optimising and 
developing infrastructure related to 
population expansion, urbanisation and 
transportation as the world seeks to 
become super-connected.

We aim to grow quality revenues in the 
UK and internationally, both organically 
and through partnerships and selective 
acquisitions which provide access to in-
country experience, technical expertise 
or new framework opportunities.

We deliver our strategy using a sector-
led operational structure with strong 
leadership and management controls 
helping to ensure that we take full 
advantage of the opportunities that we 
wish to pursue. These are explained in 

more detail under the Business Model 
section below.

We keep our strategy under review to 
ensure that it remains appropriate and 
focussed. To that end in January 2015, 
we initiated a comprehensive review 
of the strategic options available to 
WYG. Having tested the scale of the 
opportunities available to the Group, 
the Board concluded that continuing as 
an appropriately funded independent 
group represents the best route to 
optimising value for all stakeholders. 
The detailed recommendations of the 
review, including obtaining an improved 
bank facility, strengthening the Board, 
the appointment of a Director of 
Strategy and Corporate Development, 
and reviewing the existing management 
incentives were all implemented within 
six months of the review concluding in 
June 2015 and are described in more 
detail in the Chairman’s Statement and 
Business Review. The strategic review 
also concluded that we should continue 
with our active programme of identifying 
and screening potential acquisition 
targets in line with our overall strategy 
and we completed the acquisitions of 
FMW Consultancy, North Associates and 
Signet Planning in the financial year.
Cautionary statement
This Strategic Report has been prepared solely to provide 
information to shareholders to assess how the directors have 
performed their duty to promote the success of the Company.
The Strategic Report contains certain forward-looking statements. 
These statements are made by the directors in good faith based 
on the information available to them up to the time of their 
approval of this report and such statements should be treated 
with caution due to the inherent uncertainties, including both 
economic and business risk factors, underlying any such forward-
looking information.
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We aim to grow 
quality revenues in the 
UK and internationally, 
both organically and 
through acquisitions



WYG is a multidisciplinary provider of front-end (programme, project management and technical) consulting services with an 
increasingly global presence. Client profiles, workflow and service delivery models differ between our UK and international 
markets but all three reporting regions are positioned so as to align as closely as possible with their respective markets and to 
deliver optimum profitability.

Development of the natural, social and built environment is the common thread running through the range of consulting services 
that we offer. In more mature regions such as the UK, we focus on asset creation through our traditional planning disciplines - 
especially for infrastructure, urban and environmental projects.

 Asset Management

 Engineering

 Environment

 Management Services

 Planning

 Transport

 Urban & Landscape Design

THE BUSINESS MODEL

WYG at every
stage of the

financing cycle

STRATEGY
FOR GROWTH

PROJECTS TO
MEET OBJECTIVES

ACCESS TO
RESOURCES

DELIVERY

EVALUATION

EVIDENCE
FOR POLICY

SITE IDENTIFICATION 
& ASSESSMENT

19%

VIABILITY
& FEASIBILITY

14%

PLANNING & 
PERMITTING

13%

CONCEPTUAL 
DESIGN

16%

IMPLEMENTATION
SUPPORT

24%

ASSET 
MANAGEMENT

14%

WYG at every
stage of the

project life cycle

Overseas activities focus more on policy  
and institutional advice and planning for  
the implementation of international 
development funding programmes, usually 
for external agencies.
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We seek to grow revenue and 
profitability by positioning the business 
in markets where governments and 
international finance institutions have 
made strategic, budgeted commitments, 
such as countries in Africa. We continue 
to enjoy a leading position in a number 
of EU funded programmes and our well-
developed presence in Poland, Croatia 
and Turkey ensures that we are able to 
bid and deliver major projects across the 
whole pre- and post-accession life cycle. 
As the opportunity and our resources 
permit, we make carefully selected 
acquisitions to accelerate our growth.

We commit our resources to winning 
places on key framework agreements 
and then maximising the opportunities 
arising from them. We look to increase 
value for our clients by uniting our 
own technical and economic expertise 
with that of chosen partners and then 
integrating complex supply chains of 
small and medium sized enterprises 
to ensure we offer a comprehensive 
solution to clients’ problems. 

Where we are exposed to particular 
risks, whether of scale or due to the 
geo-political risk environment in which 
a project is to be delivered, we adopt 
project-specific risk mitigation measures 
and we take a portfolio approach to 
ensure that the underperformance of one 
project is mitigated by outperformance 
on others.

WYG comprises a number of limited 
companies (or equivalent) within a 
structure headed by WYG plc. However, 
at the operational level, the Group is 
structured on a fully regionalised basis 
(UK, EAA and Turkey/MENA). Each 
Region has its own support services and 
can draw on the expertise of the Major 
Projects Unit to enhance the prospects 
of successfully winning and delivering 
selected opportunities.

Direction is provided by the WYG plc 
board of directors, who set the Group 
Strategy and through:

• the Senior Management Team (SMT) 
which comprises the CEO, CFO, and 
Group HR Director plus the heads of 
each of the Regions, the Major Projects 
Unit, the directors of our International 
Development and Technical Services 
teams and the Group Health, Safety & 
Security Director

• Regional Leadership Teams  
comprising the Head of Region, 
Finance Director and others by 
invitation. These teams meet monthly 
or more often as required and report 
to the executive directors at monthly 
Regional Accountability Reviews and, 
in more depth, at Quarterly 
Performance Reviews. 

The seven core market sectors we serve 
are: Defence & Justice, Energy & Waste, 
Environment (including water and waste 
water), Transport, Mining & Minerals, 
Urban & Commercial Development, and 
Social Development & Infrastructure. We 
define these sectors by reference to our 
clients and can bring together almost 
any combination of experts to service 
their specific requirements.

In the UK, the business is organised into 
seven disciplines and a business support 
group. Each discipline has a head who 
sits on the UK Region Operations Board.

The disciplines are:

 Asset Management

 Engineering

 Environment

 Management Services

 Planning

 Transport

 Urban & Landscape Design

We use a variety of approaches to 
charge for services including: hourly 
rates, cost plus, and lump sum or fixed 
price contracts, or a mixture of these. 
Fees may be billed on completion of the 
project (usually the smaller ones), at 
fixed intervals or upon the achievement 
of certain milestones. Whichever method 
is agreed with our client, we aim to 
ensure this is clearly understood from 
the outset.

www.wyg.com 22

http://www.wyg.com


For larger projects (where significant 
mobilisation costs may be incurred) we 
may seek an advance payment whether 
or not secured by a bond. Throughout 
the Group we emphasise the importance 
of cash generation and the effective 
management of working capital. In 
particular, we place a heavy emphasis 
on seeking to reduce our working capital 
days, one of our primary financial KPIs. 
Our other financial and non-financial KPIs 
are described in more detail below.

In delivering services to our clients 
we aim to project our values of 
confidence, authenticity, imagination and 
resourcefulness so as to strengthen the 
WYG brand and operate in accordance 
with our business principles as well as 
the detailed policies and procedures that 
are promulgated throughout the Group. 

We have a clearly articulated Commercial 
Development and Operating Process 
(CDOP) which is a framework for decision 
making and project management. We 
believe that a robust CDOP is essential 
for a professional services firm with 
multiple professional disciplines and 
markets such as ours, because it helps 
us to mitigate risk thereby creating 
sustainable profits and cash to reinvest 
in the business, to re-invest in our people 
and to create value for our shareholders. 

The executive directors also comprise 
the Investment Committee. The purpose 
of the Investment Committee is to:

• ensure a strategic view is maintained 
of any consents requested from WYG’s 
main board 

• review and challenge any matters 
reserved for the approval of the main 
board or the Investment Committee 
itself including:

• major bids

• where WYG main board  
approval is required, make 
recommendations to 
the board

• other out of budget  
investment proposals 

• ensure that effective governance 
arrangements are in place  
throughout the Group.

Our Major Projects Unit (MPU), formed  
in 2014, continues to improve our 
approach to identifying, securing, 
mobilising and delivering high profile, 
complex projects and acquisitions 
throughout WYG. The MPU draws 
upon lessons identified across the 
Group relating to the governance and 
assurance of high risk projects and works 
collaboratively across all WYG’s Regions 
and Disciplines to improve our win rate 
and successful delivery of major projects.

“I am pleased to report on another successful year for WYG in which we have 
seen continued strong profit growth and a very significant increase in our 
order book despite the first half of the year being held back by the EU budget 
hiatus. We enjoyed a very strong finish to the year in all three regions and this 
momentum has been carried into the current year.
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With all regions also showing very substantial order book growth, WYG’s total 
order book at the year end was £150m, an all time high for the Group. This 
gives us excellent forward visibility underpinning our confidence that the Group 
can deliver the further significant growth forecast for the current year.” 
PAUL HAMER, CEO



BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

MAIN TRENDS AND FACTORS
The outlook for the global Support 
Services sector continues to appear 
very positive. Despite some wider 
macro-economic concerns including 
the strength of the Eurozone, slowing 
economic growth in China, weak 
economic results in other parts of the 
world and continuing instability in the 
Middle East, our own core markets show 
no signs of slowing down. The demand 
for consultancy services, both in the 
UK and overseas, continues to be very 
strong and the business is growing as  
a result.

UK
In the UK there has been steady flow of 
positive news on infrastructure projects 
following the announcement of a number 
of schemes as part of the NIP (National 
Infrastructure Plan) in December 2014. 
Recent UK government announcements 
including the Chancellor’s Autumn 
Statement and the March 2016 Budget 
validate our growth strategy and 
confirm that we are well positioned to 
take advantage of opportunities arising 
from the Comprehensive Spending 
Review and the Strategic Defence and 
Security Review (SDSR). In particular, 
our position on key frameworks with 
the UK Foreign & Commonwealth Office 
(FCO), World Bank and the Department 
for International Development (DfID) 
means that we should benefit from the 
Chancellor’s confirmation that 50% of 
DfID’s budget will be allocated to fragile 
states in each of the next five years, the 
Conflict Stability and Security Fund will 
increase from £1 billion to £1.3 billion 
by 2019/20, the Good Governance Fund 
for Eastern Europe and the Balkans will 
be doubled to £40 million a year, the 
creation of a new £500 million crisis 
reserve and the finance for climate 
change resilience in developing  
countries will be increased by 50% to  
at least £5.8 million.

Under the SDSR, it has been confirmed 
that £178 million is to be spent by the 
MoD on new assets over the next 10 
years and that the MoD estate is to be 
reduced by 30% to build 55,000 new 
homes meaning that our positioning 
on the ASP Supply Chain Framework 
and our involvement with the Army 
Basing Programme, together with our 
experience of over 25 years on projects 
for the MoD such as masterplanning 
for Salisbury Plain, ensure that we 
are ideally placed to win many major 
new opportunities for which there is a 
firmly stated political will and a clearly 
identified budget. 

These and other major infrastructure 
projects provide significant direct and 
indirect opportunities to provide expert 
technical consultancy services in all of 
our disciplines. 

Other infrastructure projects that have 
been announced and in which we have 
an interest include Crossrail 2 in London, 
the HS3 link between Manchester 
and Leeds, more than £230 million 
earmarked for road improvements in the 
north of England, £700 million for flood 
defence schemes and resilience and a 
major programme to build 10,000 homes 
on sites around England’s rail stations. 

Against this generally positive trend, the 
UK residential housing and commercial 
property sectors have not experienced 
the levels of growth hoped for in 2015 
but there have been significant regional 
variations such that in the South 
East and South West, where we are 
strongest, the market has generally 
performed well and we have seen 
increased opportunities and work as a 
result. Reforms to the planning system 
mean that new build house starts 
are at an 8-year high with planning 
permission having been granted for 
more than 250,000 homes last year. The 
government is committed to increasing 
the number of affordable houses being 
started to 400,000 a year by 2020/21. 

We are currently working on over 50 
major housing schemes across the UK 
which have the potential to deliver c. 
100,000 new homes with many of these 
sites, if permitted, contributing to supply 
within the next five years. 

We believe that the UK government’s 
support for devolution which will transfer 
significant budgets and responsibility 
to the local level will be beneficial as 
we are well positioned in most of the 
regions where devolution deals have 
been agreed or announced, not only in 
the residential housing sector but also in 
transport, masterplanning, green energy 
and other vital components of city and 
regional plans.

INTERNATIONAL
WYG has a range of private, national 
and supra-national public sector clients 
across its international markets. There 
is typically greater cyclicality in the 
private sector and although public 
sector spending is not immune to this, 
it generally brings greater long-term 
visibility and stability in certain markets.

The availability of project and 
programme funding is the main 
business driver for most of our overseas 
operations so the new seven year EU 
budget – the Multi-annual Financial 
Framework or MFF 2014-2020, which 
was finally approved in December 2013, 
is of particular interest to WYG. This 
authorises spending of up to €960bn, 
with a strong emphasis on budgetary 
discipline, boosting growth and creating 
jobs which resonates well with our core 
areas of technical expertise in public 
financial management and the delivery  
of economic, social and technical 
assistance programmes.

Overseas operations, which accounted 
for c.28% of WYG’s revenue, provided 
some stability during the UK downturn. 
Largely due to the delay in signing the 
MFF 2014-2020, we saw a decline in 
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overseas revenue from EAA and Turkey 
over the past two years whilst the UK has 
provided stability and growth. However, 
projects are now being released under 
most of the major programmes which 
are funded by the MFF 2014-2020 and we 
have been successful in EAA and Turkey 
winning a substantial amount of new 
work for delivery over the next two to 
three years.

During the previous funding cycle our 
Polish Group of companies won more 
contracts with a higher aggregate value 
than any other private company in 
Poland and we see no reason why, with 
our skills and experience, this should not 
be repeated in the next cycle.

One element of the MFF 2014-2020 is the 
Instrument for Pre-Accession Assistance 
(IPA). IPA I had a total budget of some 
€11.5bn; its successor, IPA II, will build 
on the results already achieved by 
dedicating €11.7bn for the period 2014 
to 2020. Of this sum, €4.4bn has been 
allocated to Turkey. These funds are 
designed to help the beneficiaries make 
political and economic reforms preparing 
them for the rights and obligations that 
come with EU Membership. They also 
help the EU achieve its own objectives 
regarding a sustainable economic 
recovery, energy supply, transport, 
the environment and climate change. 
The other beneficiaries are Albania, 
Bosnia and Herzegovina, the former 
Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Kosovo, 
Montenegro and Serbia. We have offices 
and/ or projects in all of these countries. 

Further afield, Africa continues to 
present significant opportunities for the 
Group, specifically in support of the UK 
government (through the Department 
for International Development (DfID)) 
and other international funding bodies 
whose ambition is to create stability 
and essential infrastructure across the 
continent. Both DfID and EuropeAid 
have substantial budgets committed to 
development in Africa and we and our 

partners have an excellent track record 
of delivering major projects for them. 
Over the past two years we have made 
a very considerable investment in the 
critical support systems that ensure 
we fulfil our duty of care obligations 
to employees and associates. This has 
enabled us to deliver projects in Libya, 
Somalia, Nigeria and other countries 
where the quality of our duty of care 
arrangements has been recognised as 
excellent by our clients and partners.

OTHER TRENDS AND FACTORS
M&A activity continues in our sector 
with a number of major transactions 
announced in the past 12 months 
including Sweco’s acquisition of Grontmij, 
Nippon Koei’s purchase of architects BDP 
and, most recently, Canadian company 
Stantec’s acquisition of MWH. The drivers 
for these mergers: low interest rates, 
strong long term estimates of future 
workloads, a return to higher margins 
and the emerging development of the 
consultant-contractor hybrid is set to 
continue. However, we have decided 
that our best route to optimising value 
for all stakeholders is by continuing as 
an independent group, and we consider 
that our portfolio of UK and international 
work allows us to make the most of 
global opportunities while keeping the 
associated risks to a reasonable level.

Unsurprisingly, given the opportunities 
on offer in the buoyant markets 
in which we work, there is a lot of 
competition, not only for the work 
itself but also for talented individuals 
to deliver it. Increasingly, alongside 
companies which might traditionally 
have been considered to be our natural 
competitors (Mott Macdonald, Atkins, 
Aecom, Turner & Townsend etc) we find 
ourselves competing against high-end 
management consultancies such as PwC, 
KPMG and McKinsey among others. 
This presents challenges, for example 
in terms of brand recognition (although 

our brand in Poland and Turkey is very 
strong, if not stronger than theirs) and 
opportunities given that our track record 
in these spheres extends back almost 
25 years, we operate from a lower 
cost base and have a better developed 
local presence in key markets than 
many of them. Indeed, on many of our 
international development projects our 
competitors are often keen to partner 
with us to leverage our references, 
expertise and local presence. 

In the Chairman’s Statement on  
pages 7 to 10 we set out our views on 
the implications of the UK referendum on 
the question of membership of the EU.
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The Board is 
responsible for 
determining the 
Group’s risk appetite 
and tolerance levels 
to see that robust 
procedures for risk 
management are 
in place.

As detailed in the Strategy and objectives 
section above, and the Corporate 
Governance section below, the Group 
has established a number of internal 
controls, processes and procedures in 
order to manage its risks effectively.

The Audit & Risk Committee has 
delegated authority from the Board to 
oversee and review the effectiveness 
of this risk control framework. The 
Committee has adopted a Group Heat 
Risk Map that is updated regularly by 
the executive management team and 
is reviewed by the Committee every 
six months. All risks are categorised 
according to potential impact and 
probability in order to determine 
exposure, and action plans are  
created accordingly.

Having successfully negotiated the 
buyout of the WYD Pension Scheme 
we now consider the Group to have no 
material exposure to any risks associated 
with its pension scheme provision. 
Accordingly this risk has been removed 
from the table below.

The key risk areas potentially impacting 
on the business are as set out in the 
table below.

KEY:

Increased risk

No change since 2015

Decreased risk

PRINCIPAL RISKS & UNCERTAINTIES

Risk Potential impact Mitigation Trend

International risk

Risks associated with conducting  
business in different jurisdictions around 
the world include: economic, social or 
political instability, fluctuations in  
currency exchange rates, and changes 
in foreign laws.

Ability to collect cash in a 
timely manner. 
 
 

Significant movements in 
foreign exchange rates could 
affect sterling profits and the 
values of assets and liabilities 
on the balance sheet which are 
valued in foreign currencies.

WYG mitigates a major part of this risk by 
contracting mainly with UK, European and other 
governments and international finance institutions, 
meaning that business, contractual and payment 
risk is minimal.

Employees undertake training in working cash cycle 
management and establish relationships with clients 
in order to help improve cash collection.

In spite of fluctuations in exchange rates, the 
Group does not at present consider it necessary to 
hedge such investments since the majority of its 
operational income and expenditure is incurred in 
the same currencies.

Working in fragile and conflict affected states

We operate in some countries where 
there is or maybe a heightened risk of 
crime, kidnap, terrorist related activity and 
potential exposure to disease. In some 
cases, the Group works for or alongside 
Government agencies which may afford 
greater protection but can also increase the 
risk of being targeted.

Increased security and health 
risks for staff working on 
projects abroad. 

Delays, deferrals or 
cancellations of projects  
for reasons outside the  
Group’s control.

The Group has extensive safety and security 
policies and procedures in place, a dedicated  
and experienced security team and technological 
back up.

The Group has contracts in place which enable  
it to track, support and provide medical and  
security advice (including, if necessary,  
emergency repatriation) to all its employees  
on a worldwide basis.
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Risk Potential impact Mitigation Trend

Market risk

The Group’s core markets continue to 
be susceptible to economic changes and 
market volatility.

A new, substantial downturn in 
one of our key markets, or in a 
number of markets at the same 
time, could have an adverse 
effect on the Group.

Reductions in the number of 
opportunities increase pricing 
pressures and reduce our 
operating margins.

We mitigate this risk by keeping our direct and 
indirect exposure to each of our markets under 
close review, and by implementing bespoke 
strategic plans to ensure a balanced portfolio. 

The Group benefits from the spread in sector 
and geographical diversity which provides some 
protection against market changes in specific 
countries or sectors.

Government and EU spending

Each of the Group’s core market sectors 
is heavily influenced by the impact of UK 
government spending programmes and, 
in the case of the International business, 
the spending programmes of the EU and 
various overseas governments and other 
international organisations.

The unprecedented public 
sector cuts generated by 
the UK government’s major 
spending reviews since 
2010 have impacted upon 
the Group’s activities and 
caused uncertainty for the 
Group’s future revenues. 
Significant new reductions in 
UK government or EU spending 
affecting sectors on which the 
Group relies could have an 
adverse effect on the business.

We have expanded our growth into international 
markets in order to create a balanced risk portfolio.

Following the UK general elections of 2010 and 
2015, major public spending cuts were introduced. 
The majority of those have now been implemented 
or announced and our business model adjusted 
accordingly.

To overcome the peaks and troughs of the EU’s 
seven year budget cycle we continue our efforts to 
diversify in our core overseas markets.

Key Customers

Certain of the Group’s revenues are 
dependent on it being designated  
an ‘approved supplier’ by a number  
of customers.

There can be no guarantee 
that the Group will retain  
this status.

The Group seeks to mitigate such risks by ensuring 
that it has ongoing dialogue with these customers 
and by monitoring closely its business relationships 
with them.

Large, complex and/or loss making contracts

WYG undertakes a number of large, 
complex projects, some with tight margins 
and others that are subject to factors 
outside our control.

Underperformance on a major 
contract or series of contracts, 
whether or not due to factors 
within WYG’s control, could 
cause significant financial loss 
and/ or reputational damage to 
the Group.

CDOP, WYG’s operating process, is a robust 
internal framework for decision making. It sets out 
detailed, mandatory project management principles, 
progress reviews and authority limits at each stage 
of a contract from bidding, through inception to 
completion and lessons learned. 

We also mitigate this risk by ensuring that we have 
a balanced portfolio of such projects with the object 
of ensuring that a significant loss on one is offset by 
being on target or outperforming on the others.

We have a clearly defined ethics and anti-bribery 
policy which is supported by training and internal 
checks.

Litigation risk

WYG operates in a number of markets in 
which there is an inherent risk of claims for 
alleged professional negligence.

In common with its 
competitors, WYG receives 
professional negligence or 
similar claims on an  
ongoing basis.

The Group is insured against the majority of 
professional negligence claims and seeks to 
mitigate the risks of such claims through its internal 
processes and controls.
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Risk Potential impact Mitigation Trend

Key employees

The Group’s success depends, to a 
significant extent, on the continued 
services of its Directors and senior 
management team who have substantial 
experience in the industry and in their 
specific roles.

The loss of members of the 
senior management team 
and of other suitably qualified 
employees could be detrimental 
to the business.

We mitigate these risks through succession 
planning, our overall performance and reward 
programme and our share-based incentive  
scheme for senior management under which, 
among other things, participants agree to  
extended restrictive covenants.

Resourcing

In certain of our sectors, increasing 
market strength has impacted upon 
the employment environment resulting 
in increased competition for talented 
specialists and higher salary expectations.

Higher staff turnover rates 
and the loss of associated 
knowledge.

Loss of associated clients.

Failure to attract and retain 
high quality staff impacts 
the ability of the Group to 
win contracts and grow the 
business.

We use a range of staff recruitment and retention 
methods including social media, raising awareness 
of our employer brand and re-launching our 
employee referral programme and increasing the 
ratio of direct hires to agency hires. We conduct 
regular salary and benefits reviews, benchmarking 
and realigning them as required to ensure that we 
continue to be able to attract and retain high  
calibre individuals.

Acquisition integration

An important element of the Group’s 
strategy consists of selective, niche 
acquisitions.

Unforeseen difficulties in the 
integration of acquisitions  
could result in increased 
expense, loss of customers, 
decline in profitability, and 
disruption to the Group which 
could reduce the value to the 
Group of the acquisition.

We conduct a structured and thorough due 
diligence process before making acquisitions. 

We aim to negotiate terms which provide  
protection against underperformance including 
earn outs, clawback and appropriate warranty and 
indemnity protection.

As part of any acquisition we adopt an integration 
process which addresses areas such as systems 
integration, client management, Group wide 
processes and controls, management of internal 
and external communications, staff consultation and 
regular management reporting.

We conduct thorough post-implementation reviews 
to ensure that we can apply any lessons learnt in 
the future.

Health and Safety

Involvement in the construction industry 
(including, for example, working at height, 
underground, trackside, airside or close  
to heavy machinery) gives rise to health 
and safety risks for both our staff and  
third parties.

Risk to staff, clients and 
other contractors as well as 
the potential for reputational 
damage to the Group.

The Group continually aims to improve its health 
and safety performance and has well established 
accident reporting procedures and processes in 
place to mitigate such risks. These are overseen by 
the Security Committee.
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Robust procedures  
for risk management 

are in place



A significant  
proportion of our 
business is based 
on social and 
environmental 
projects. 

We believe that our work in these  
fields helps to embed a culture of 
corporate responsibility throughout  
the business and that the high  
proportion of our business that is  
directly focussed on social, 
environmental and ethical outcomes 
delivers benefits for our clients, 
employees and other stakeholders.

We understand that sustainability needs 
to be embedded in our own business 
strategies, decision making and practices 
at all levels and to that end, the Board, 
its committees and the operational 
management of the business routinely 
take account of social, environmental and 
ethical risks and opportunities in their 
decision making. 

Further details of our approach to 
Corporate Responsibility including 
employee welfare initiatives are set out 
in the Corporate Responsibility Report 
set out below on pages 57 to 66 of the 
Annual Report.

RESPONSIBLE TRADING
As a global business, our people are 
expected to be aware of, and give 
proper consideration to, all cultures 
and economic groupings including 
disadvantaged and vulnerable adults and 
children. We seek to comply with the 
laws and regulations of the countries in 
which we operate.

We continue to seek closer engagement 
with our suppliers so that together we 
can reduce the impact of our supply 
chain on the environment, particularly 
with regards to travel, transport and 
office products. We aim to work with 
suppliers who are also environmentally 
aware and can demonstrate sustainable 
practices. We manage this through 
a careful selection process as part of 
which our suppliers must complete 
an evidence-based pre-qualification 

questionnaire. We check some of 
the answers independently and audit 
suppliers periodically.

C02 EMISSIONS
We continue to make a significant effort 
to make energy savings and emissions 
reductions through the individual office 
energy management plans introduced 
in 2011/12. Although we have seen an 
increase in overall CO2 emissions in the 
year, this is chiefly due to the growth 
of the business and the inclusion of 
newly acquired businesses and their 
business premises. Compliance with the 
2014 ESOS Regulations has prompted 
a full review of how we address carbon 
management in the organisation and we 
are introducing new targets for energy 
consumption and business mileage for 
the current financial year. 

We publish our CO2 emissions and 
energy consumption data in detail in the 
Corporate Responsibility Report rather 
than in this section of the Strategic 
Report since the Board is of the opinion 
that the nature of WYG’s business is  
such that this data is not materially 
significant to the economic decisions  
of shareholders.

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY
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WYG is committed to 
recruiting and retaining 
the best available 
employees and we 
believe that encouraging 
diversity amongst our  
workforce helps us  
to achieve this.
Our aim is that our workforce will be 
representative of all sections of society and 
each employee feels respected and able to 
give their best. We believe that diversity will 
ensure we deliver our best to our clients.

WYG is also committed to providing equality 
and fairness for all in our employment 
and not discriminating on the grounds of 
gender, gender reassignment, marital status 
(including civil partnerships), race, ethnic 
origin, colour, nationality, national origin, 
disability, sexual orientation, religion or age. 

This year we have continued to fund 
membership of a group of our female 
employees to the Women’s Leadership 
Association. We have given new employees 
access to this group to build a strong 
pipeline of senior women managers to 
improve our gender balance at a senior 
level. We have also joined the Women in 
Nuclear network and held a Women in 
Planning event which brought together WYG 
employees and female peers from across 
the industry. 

We have also signed up to the National 
Equality Standard which is a groundbreaking 
initiative that sets clear equality, diversity 
and inclusion criteria against which we 
can assess and measure our continuous 
improvement to demonstrate our 
commitment to equality and diversity.

EMPLOYEE DIVERSITY

*
 
Excludes two men who are also on the WYG plc main Board.

**
 
Excludes members of the WYG plc main Board and members of the Senior Management Team 

who are also directors of trading entities which are included in consolidation.

New Recruits
Men 200  Women 92

68.5%

31.5%

Total Group
Men 1,033  Women 563

64.7%

35.3%

Subsidiary 
Directors**

Men 19  Women 4

82.6%  17.4%

Senior Management 
Team*  Men 7  Women 1

87.5%  12.5%

Board 
Men 6  Women 0

100%  0%
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In line with our current strategy,  
we have focussed on delivering  
projects in those core areas where  
WYG has strong market positions,  
long-standing client relationships  
and demonstrable expertise:

• Fragile States and Stabilisation 
– working with government and 
donor clients to deliver humanitarian 
programmes, create stability and 
facilitate post-conflict restructuring 
across fragile states and  
developing countries

• Preserving the Global Environment 
– advising on major projects in 
developed, emerging and third-world 
economies which ensure that the 
world’s growing population is served 
with the necessary energy and water 
infrastructure whilst minimising carbon 
impact and climate change

• Urban Development and Connected 
Cities – planning, optimising and 
developing infrastructure related to 
population expansion, urbanisation and 
transportation as the world seeks to 
become super-connected.

During the year WYG won record 
volumes of new work in these areas 
and strengthened our UK business with 
three carefully selected acquisitions. 
We improved our financial and project 
discipline to deliver improved outcomes 
for our clients and stakeholders, whilst 
improving profitability which has enabled 
us to invest significantly in the business. 
At the same time, we have positioned 
ourselves alongside those key clients 
who will enable us to maximise the very 
considerable opportunities which our 
broad portfolio of skills and resources, 
framework agreements and our 
international footprint have created.

BUSINESS 
PERFORMANCE REVIEW
Our UK business performed extremely 
well, showing double digit growth in 
revenue and profitability for the second 
year in succession with underlying 
organic revenue growth of more 
than 10%. The region has also been 
successful in generating new orders, 
which underpin expectations for the 
current financial year and provide a  
good base for the next year. Competition 
for talented staff has been intense  
and shows no sign of letting up.  
We have therefore made a considerable 
investment in our resourcing team  
and the platforms they use to attract 
skilled employees.

As we have reported on a number of 
occasions, the slower than anticipated 
ramp up of the new EU funding cycle 
impacted our EAA Region in particular 
during the first half of the year. However, 
in the second half, we saw a 20% 
increase in revenue and a good finish to 
the year with the announcement of the 
€5.8m Labour Office training programme 
in Katowice. We are now focussed on 
winning a proportion of the pipeline of 
opportunities in the Western Balkans 
including the next phase of the IPF 
(Infrastructure Projects Facility).

Our Africa and Rest of World sub-region 
performed especially well in the final 
quarter as it closed out a number of 
major programmes and started work on 
many of the new projects they have won 
with DfID, EuropeAid, World Bank and 
other international finance institutions in 
the past 12 months. 

In our Middle East North Africa (MENA) 
Region, Turkey delivered revenues which 
were again lower overall than in the 
previous financial year. This result masks 

the fact that in the second half revenue 
was more than 50% up on the first half, 
and the order book grew to a level that 
now means more than 90% of budgeted 
work for this financial year was secured 
before 1 April.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW
Operationally, the Group was structured 
and reported throughout the financial 
year on a regional basis with the three 
regions being:

• UK

• Europe (which includes CIS and 
Western Balkans), Africa & Asia (EAA)

• MENA (Middle East & North Africa 
including Turkey).

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW OF THE GROUP’S BUSINESS
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We have seen 
continued strong 
profit growth and 
a very significant 
increase in our  

order book



Strong growth in 
revenue, profits and 
order book. 
The UK region generated a 15% increase 
in revenue of £96.3m (2015: £83.9m) 
with an operating profit before separately 
disclosed items of £10.3m (2015: £7.7m). 

The continued growth in our UK region 
has been achieved with strong organic 
performance, supplemented by further 
strategic acquisitions, strengthening 
still further our ‘front-end’ services. 
With the acquisition of Signet Planning 
in January, WYG is now one of the 
three largest planning consultancies in 
the UK, employing approximately 135 
town planners. We continue to perform 
strongly in the environmental sector, 
supporting National Grid, the Homes & 
Communities Agency (HCA), Defence 
Infrastructure Organisation (DIO) and a 
number of national house builders. 

We continue to support the HCA on 
numerous site disposals and housing 
delivery projects. Our urban designers 
have provided strategic advice to 
councils in Oxfordshire and South 
Northamptonshire on major urban 
expansions. We were reappointed as 
one of only two planning consultancies 
nationally, supporting Sainsbury’s. We 
were successful in securing a number 
of major education schemes including 
Strule, which is a £100m plus scheme 
consolidating five existing school 
campuses in Omagh, Northern Ireland. 

We are designing a range of highly 
specialist laboratories in Wiltshire and 
are working on the design of the new 
headquarters for the Square Kilometre 
Array (SKA) at Jodrell Bank in Cheshire, 
which will link radio telescopes from 
South Africa and Western Australia. As 
one of the largest scientific endeavours 
being undertaken in the world today,  
the SKA will bring together a wealth of 
the world’s finest scientists, engineers 
and policy makers to bring the project  
to fruition.

Our Management Services team is 
leading a group of experts drawn from 
across WYG’s disciplines to oversee the 
refurbishment of City of London Police’s 
flagship Wood Street headquarters. Our 
transport team have been delivering 
‘intelligent transport’ systems for 
local authorities and transport and 
infrastructure solutions for our clients 
and our transport services capability in 
the South West has been strengthened 
by our acquisition of FMW. 

The Asset Management discipline has 
continued to grow this year, adding 
new services with the acquisition of 
North Associates, which provides 
niche strategic asset management 
services. We have been appointed as 
technical compliance consultant to the 
Co-operative Group Limited and have 
been successful in renewing the Civil 
Inspection and Topographical Surveying 
Framework with Sellafield Ltd. 

Work to support the DIO has continued 
and we are working on numerous 
construction and asset management 
schemes across the globe. We also 
assisted the disaster recovery efforts 
in Nepal on a pro-bono basis, providing 
project management support to the 
charity Community Action Nepal 
immediately after the devastating 
earthquake. Our lead project manager, 
Glyn Utting subsequently won a  
British Expertise award for the  
support provided.

The outlook for the UK business is very 
positive indeed with our order book up 
by 50.0% to £79.5m (31 March 2015: 
£53.0m) reflecting buoyant infrastructure 
and planning markets. As we approach 
the end of the first quarter of the new 
financial year it is apparent that the 
acceleration we saw towards the end  
of the previous period has continued  
and we are confident that we will  
enjoy another year of growing revenue 
and profitability.

UK

UK
7 2 . 2 %
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CASE STUDY – UK 
KIRKSTALL FORGE, LEEDS

Situated in picturesque surroundings 
next to Kirkstall Abbey is an area 
claimed to be the longest continually 
used industrial site in Britain. Directing 
water from the nearby river, Cistercian 
monks originally used the site in the 
12th century to power their mill. A few 
centuries later the first forge was built 
with iron and steel production taking 
place there until 2002 when the 
facility closed. 

Breathing new life into the area

More than a decade later the site was 
acquired by a developer (Commercial 
Estates Group) and plans to regenerate 
the site were born. The scheme is set 
to become a thriving new quarter of the 
city with over 1,000 new homes, offices, 
shopping and leisure facilities. It will 
create hundreds of new jobs and attract 
£400 million of private sector investment 
as well as an estimated £5 million a year 
in local retail spend. The site will also be 
served by a new railway station linking it 
with Leeds city centre in just six minutes. 

The strategic importance of the Kirkstall 
Forge site was recognised by the Leeds 

City Region Enterprise Partnership, the 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority and 
Leeds City Council early on. Their vision 
to support the transformation of the 
Brownfield site into a family-friendly  
hub capable of boosting job creation  
and business activity in the region was 
clear. In order to turn it into reality, 
however, they had to ensure that 
connectivity and infrastructure was  
at the core of their plans. 

Unlocking the potential

Appointed by the site developer for the 
first phase of works our civil engineers 
have led the infrastructure, highway and 
bridge design. We have also coordinated 
environmental studies and remediation 
requirements to enable the infrastructure 
works which are now under construction. 

The complexities of the site mean that 
innovation has been key to finding 
the best solutions whilst also retaining 
flexibility so that plans for the site could 
be adapted as needed. WYG Head of 
Environment Marc Davies explains, ‘The 
scheme is believed to be the first in the 
UK to feature a cantilevered pedestrian 

platform founded directly in a reinforced 
earth wall. This solution has been 
successfully used many times across 
Europe but never in the UK’. 

Contamination issues on the southern 
side of the site also required a degree 
of creative thinking to enable work to 
progress. The solution used meant 
the excavation being sealed off and 
contaminated water being pumped out 
so that it could be treated at an on-site 
system before being discharged. 

Building the Northern Powerhouse 

Resonating with the UK government’s 
well-publicised plans to improve 
economic growth and connectivity  
across the north of England, Kirkstall 
Forge is set to create a diverse 
community where new generations  
can live and work whilst being  
connected to national and international 
transport links right on their doorstep.





Impact of delays from 
EU budget in the first 
half started to reverse 
in the second half; 
strong growth in Africa  
with DfID. 
In this region WYG operates through four 
sub-regional business units - Central and 
Eastern Europe (CEE), South East Europe 
(SEE), Africa, and Asia. In the year the 
EAA region generated revenue of £23.9m 
(2015: £30.4m), with an operating profit 
before separately disclosed items of 
£0.7m (2015: £1.6m).

The year was characterised by our 
very strong business development 
performance in Africa, and the delayed 
onset of projects in markets with a 
strong link to the EU funding cycle. 

In the CEE business unit, Bulgaria was 
successful in winning a portfolio of 
transport and other projects. Throughout 
the CEE business, delays in the release 
of EU funding impacted the uptake of 
work. However, towards the close of 
the year, significant European Structural 
Funds projects and other opportunities 
began to emerge. In Poland this delay in 
funding resulted in a backlog of almost 
€40 million of opportunities awaiting final 
decisions in the forthcoming year.

The strongest performer during the 
year was our SEE business unit which 
delivered a diversified portfolio of socio-
economic and infrastructure projects 
throughout the region. In addition we 
continued our successful implementation 
of the Infrastructure Projects Facility 
(IPF) in the Western Balkans – a 
programme with which we have been 
involved since 2008. 

In Africa and Asia, we secured 
€43m worth of new contract wins, 
a 66% increase on the prior year, 
maximising the market development 
work undertaken in the previous 
year. Important new projects saw 
us expanding into areas such the 
sustainable agriculture sector in Sub-
Saharan Africa, support of non-state 
organisations in Zanzibar, as well as 
further public financial management and 
monitoring and evaluation work. 

We work in 32 countries in Africa and 
Asia and are in a unique position to 
address international governments’ 
concerns over uncontrolled mass 

migration. With that in mind, we have 
developed a new business entity, The 
Migration Partners, bringing together 
a pan-European consortium with 
longstanding, deep understanding of, 
and experience in, each of the fields 
that will be needed to address this 
pressing issue. Funding is now being 
made available through, for example, 
the European Development Fund 
which has been increased under the 
MFF 2014-2020 to €30.5bn (MFF 2007-
2013: €22.7bn), and we believe that 
we are the first private sector entity to 
engage meaningfully with a number 
of governments and international 
institutions to help them address the 
migration crisis.

Looking forward, the longer term market 
outlook is very positive. We are well 
positioned to take advantage of the 
international development opportunities 
in Africa and Asia and, with the EU 
funding cycle beginning to regain 
momentum, we are looking to expand 
our business development activities 
significantly in both SEE and CEE.

EUROPE, AFRICA 
& ASIA

EAA
1 7 . 9 %
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CASE STUDY – EAA 
SUPPORTING DEVELOPMENT AID IN SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA

Failure to deliver tangible results is 
a recurring criticism of development 
assistance. There is now international 
recognition that progression towards 
the Millennium Development Goals 
requires better aid and not just more 
aid. This, coupled with recent scrutiny of 
international development budgets, has 
increased the drive towards maximising 
the impact of each pound spent to 
improve poor people’s lives. 

Rigorous and independent evaluation 
is central to this approach. It enables 
donors to evidence the impact of their 
development spend, identifying best 
practice and ensuring accountability to 
tax payers.

Monitoring & Evaluation

In countries throughout Sub-Saharan 
Africa we are working with international 
funding organisations and national 
government agencies to provide 
monitoring and evaluation on a range 
of development programmes. While all 
of these programmes aim to strengthen 
vulnerable states, they address a variety 
of development needs from improving 
rural markets to public procurement 

reforms, digital job creation and 
education initiatives. 

Evaluation of Results Based Aid in 
Rwandan education 

Rwanda has one of the highest primary 
school enrolment rates in Africa but 
this success is not matched by the 
quality of teaching and many children 
still finish without basic levels of literacy 
and numeracy. The DfID funded 
Results Based Aid (RBA) pilot aims to 
address this imbalance by providing a 
financing scheme that makes payments 
contingent on the verification of results 
achieved rather than on stage or activity 
completions.

Our three year commission was to 
determine whether the additional 
incentive of RBA impacted on pupil 
completion at key stages of education 
and what influence it has on developing 
the competency and motivation of 
teachers and institutions. The research 
framework covered the context in 
which RBA was implemented as well as 
exploring its reception by stakeholders. 

We took a ‘realist’ approach to the 
evaluation, exploring key questions 
about what works, for whom, in what 
circumstances and why. In addition 
to assessing the impact of RBA on 
educational attainment, and whether 
this represented value for money, 
our evaluation aimed to identify how 
individual elements of the programme 
were affecting the results. This involved 
desk-based reviews of policy and 
literature, combined with qualitative 
primary research at national, district and 
school level to explore the response to 
RBA and the drivers of change.

Our evaluation reports have been used 
by the Government of Rwanda and 
its agencies to develop strategies to 
enhance teachers’ competence and to 
inform decision making around education 
sector spending thereby supporting 
their aim of building a skilled, knowledge 
based and international competitive 
economy. For DfID, and the wider 
development community, our findings 
provide valuable lessons on designing 
and implementing RBA projects in other 
contexts, thereby maximising the impact 
of development spending.



Promoting inclusive markets in 
Northern Ghana

Ghana MADE is an M4P (Making Markets 
Work for the Poor) programme intended 
to improve the incomes and resilience 
of poor farmers and small-scale rural 
entrepreneurs in the Northern Savannah.

While other donor programmes focus on 
infrastructure and regional cooperation 
deficits, Ghana MADE aims to 
complement these efforts and stimulate 
economic growth through improving the 
way that agricultural markets work. The 
M4P approach is based on the premise 
that changing market systems can 
improve the lives of the poor and Ghana 
MADE aims to make transformative 
change in six market sectors in northern 
Ghana; chilli, onions, other vegetables 
and fruit, rice, groundnuts, and livestock.

It is an integral part of the M4P process 
that continual monitoring is at the heart 
of the intervention and our appointment 
is for a four year performance evaluation 
in parallel with the programme. The 
evaluation draws on data already 
collected, as well as primary data 

collection to fill gaps, and pioneers a 
method of prioritising research effort at 
selected points within the programme. It 
is designed to use a mix of quantitative 
and qualitative methods to build up a 
picture of the programme in action in 
order to assess effective operation, guide 
revisions and substantiate successful 
interventions.

In addition to contributing to the 
evidence base for Northern Ghana, our 
objective is to inform the international 
debate on the value of the M4P approach 
within the context of ‘thin’ markets.  
It will also inform DfID and the 
Government of Ghana of sustainable 
approaches to developing market 
systems and feed into future policy and 
funding decisions relating to tackling 
poverty reduction and achieving the 
Millennium Development Goals.



Broadly stable in year 
performance offset by 
excellent order book 
growth and cover for 
FY 2017.
In the MENA region we generated 
revenue of £13.2m (2015: £16.1m) with 
an operating profit before separately 
disclosed items of £0.3m (2015: £0.5m). 
The results in the year reflect the impact 
of the delay in the release of EU funding 
within the region, which has only now 
begun to be allocated.

WYG MENA generates most of its 
revenue from socio-economic, technical 
and engineering programmes, the 
majority of which are funded under the 
Instrument for Pre-Accession Assistance 
(IPA) – a component of the MFF 2014-20. 

With more than 60 permanent staff 
operating in and from Ankara, as well 
as a network of around 200 associates 

working throughout the country, we 
continue to focus on our core strength of 
socio-economic consultancy, where we 
are the market leader in Turkey.

Illustrating the variety and scope of what 
we do, some of the key socio-economic 
consultancy projects worked on during 
the year include projects which:

• increase the employability of 
disadvantaged persons

• provide technical assistance for 
recruitment of future blood donors 

• increase the number of human tissue 
donors

• increase regional competitiveness

• address enforcement services in 
prisons

• assist in preventing corruption and 
promoting ethics

• assist on the Garment Training and 
Entrepreneurship Initiative (GATE for 
Women)

• provide advisory services for 
development of social and 
environmental investment programmes 

• improve the employability of women 
and young people

In addition, we have maintained our 
market leading specialism in technical 
services with particular success in  
the water and waste water sectors, 
where we have been awarded a fifth 
major water project in the city  
of Kahramanmaraş. 

Building on our efforts to increase 
business diversification we have, in 
consortium with others, won and started 
work on our first major transport project 

namely, “Turkey’s National Transport 
Masterplan”. We continue to make good 
progress with our efforts to identify and 
pursue eligible opportunities with a range 
of public and private sector organisations 
in relation to the soft environment (ie 
the natural environment, air quality, 
greenhouse gas emissions, groundwater 
management, marine strategy etc), 
infrastructure and in other sectors to 
achieve our diversification goal.

During the year we worked on a number 
of new business opportunities with 
various international development 
agencies, and we began to work on 
private sector and other EU-funded 
projects in the Middle East. These efforts 
started to yield results towards the end 
of the financial year and we hope to 
continue growing in this area.

Continuing last year’s trend, the Region 
has seen a significant increase in 
tendering activity in the current financial 
year, resulting in the award of 15 major 
new projects, winning one in four of 
the projects we bid, and bringing the 
total order book as at 31 March 2016 to 
£24.3m nearly three times what it was 
at the corresponding time last year (31 
March 2015: £8.3m. With more than 
90% of our budgeted work for 2017 
contracted, we approach the current 
financial year with a high degree of 
confidence that the MENA Region will 
deliver a strong performance.

MIDDLE EAST & 
NORTH AFRICA

MENA
9 . 9 %
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CASE STUDY – MENA 
PROMOTING SOCIAL INCLUSION IN DENSELY ROMA POPULATED AREAS OF TURKEY

Thought to have originated from India, 
Roma people have migrated across the 
world over hundreds of years occupying 
nearly every continent with no specific 
‘homeland’. Highly concentrated in 
Europe, the New York Times estimates 
that there are around 2.75 million Roma 
people in Turkey alone. 

Facing Discrimination

After centuries of persecution, the Roma 
population in Turkey face a number 
of inter-related social issues, often 
experiencing prejudice and discrimination 
which prevents them fully integrating 
into Turkish society. They are challenged 
with a vicious circle of social exclusion 
and poverty which in turn brings with 
it numerous problems including health 
issues and high levels of crime.

One of the chief problems faced 
by Roma groups is the inability to 
access secure, regular employment 
and, as a result, many can only gain 
temporary work. Lack of education 
and job skills coupled with the decline 
of traditional occupations compounds 
the discrimination already faced when 
looking for work. Stereotyped by some 

in Turkish society, rejection has been 
all too common for Roma people when 
trying to access things that other 
communities take for granted. 

Tackling Social Exclusion

To tackle the problems that this 
community faces, and to reduce their 
social exclusion and improve integration, 
EU countries have been under increasing 
pressure to develop comprehensive 
action plans. In Turkey this challenge is 
being led by the Ministry of Family and 
Social Policies who have, in turn, enlisted 
the support of a number of experts to 
help them.

Leading a consortium, which includes 
Project Group, Archidata srl, Archidata 
International, A.N.F.E. Delegazione 
Regionale Sicilia and the National Agency 
for Roma, our experts at WYG are 
providing a two year technical assistance 
programme for The Ministries of Family 
and Social Policies, National Education, 
and Health. The aim is to increase 
social inclusion of the Roma population 
principally by facilitating their entry into 
the formal labour market. 

Enabling change

At the programme’s inaugural meeting 
in November 2015, all the consortium 
members expressed their commitment 
to implementing the project to enable 
sustainable improvements for Roma 
citizens in Turkey. Our strategy to 
achieve this includes promoting social 
inclusion in densely Roma populated 
areas by:

• improving the quality of training 
and education delivery along with 
vocational education

• enhancing health, employment,  
social protection and social  
assistances services

• increasing coordination amongst 
different public providers

• increasing access to and demand for 
public services

• increasing social harmony/cohesion 
by enhancing the knowledge and 
awareness for social inclusion of the 
target groups

• improving employability.



This programme will not only bring 
benefits for Roma population but also 
greater economic opportunities for 
Turkey as groups share their skills and 
knowledge with each other and create 
richly diverse communities.

As the first project of its kind in Turkey 
to be targeting Roma communities the 
programme will initially be implemented 
in 12 pilot provinces.



Throughout the year, the Unit worked 
collaboratively across the Group, its 
Regions and Disciplines to develop our 
major projects portfolio and project 
delivery capability. This resulted in 
outperformance on national and 
international frameworks for UK 
government departments including the 
MoD, FCO, DfID and the HCA.

The MPU emphasises the need to bid 
less but win bigger projects; over the 
last 12 months, this resulted in the 
award of the Omagh Shared Education 
Campus and Southern Regional Colleges 
in Northern Ireland, the retention of 
frameworks at Sellafield and contracts 
along the length of High Speed 2 
between Birmingham and London. 
Internationally, it led to our commission 
to project manage additional building 
at the British Army Training Unit Kenya, 
Bahrain’s Mina Salmon Port, and  
our placement on the UK FCO’s  
CSSF Framework.

During FY16, the Unit managed the 
completion and integration of three 
acquisitions – FMW Transport, North 
Associates and Signet Planning. 

During the last 12 months we have been 
developing an industry leading position in 
our approach to Integrated Information 
Management including BIM, recognising 
that this is changing the way our Clients 
plan, build, maintain and use both social 
and physical infrastructure.

In the coming year, the MPU will 
continue its focus on converting major 
opportunities, mobilising major projects, 
driving framework outperformance and 
enhancing our international technical 
services offering. 

MAJOR PROJECTS UNIT
The Major Projects Unit (MPU) was established 
during FY15 to manage the identification, 
development and delivery of large scale, 
high-risk and complex opportunities, major 
frameworks and acquisitions across our  
three Regions.
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PEOPLE

The Board recognises that our people 
are our most important asset: they drive 
and deliver our performance. We greatly 
appreciate the personal and professional 
commitment they have demonstrated 
throughout the year. Working closely 
with our partners, our people deliver 
expert advice, technical assistance 
and project management to clients 
around the globe. Our work helps to 
change, shape and enhance the world’s 
landscapes, societies and economies. 
Therefore, attracting, developing and 
retaining high calibre individuals is critical 
to the ongoing success of the business. 
Competition for talented employees is 
particularly intense in our sector so to 
provide an environment in which people 
can thrive, we have during the past year:

Improved internal 
communications channels with:

• The Thread: a monthly electronic 
newsletter which has rapidly become  
a valuable source of information  
about individuals and activities around 
the business

• Quarterly team briefings: to share 
consistent messages, important 
knowledge and information on 
business performance with all 
employees personally, rather than  
in writing

• ASK WYG: a confidential channel 
allowing WYG employees to ask 
any question to any member of the 
leadership team and then be certain 
of an honest and timely reply with, in 
most cases, both the question and the 
reply being made available to all on 
the intranet.

Improved employee engagement:

• A clear engagement strategy stressing 
our commitment to listen to employees 
and act on their feedback 

• A campaign sharing the Company’s 
vision and values, to promote clarity 
and purpose among employees

• BOOST social events: an initiative 
bringing together new and existing 
employees within a local office and 
allowing them to get to know one 
another around food, drinks  
and entertainment

• Launched a Health and Wellbeing 
Handbook including free fruit, holistic 
health therapies, wellness checks, 
discounted gym membership, 
nutritional advice and health cash plan.

Improved career 
development opportunities:

• We have re-launched our Graduate 
Development Programme: a 36 month 
programme giving graduates the 
opportunity to learn how the business 
operates and develop their skills in key 
areas at the same time as progressing 
their professional development

• A series of management development 
virtual workshops have been 
introduced to up skill managers in  
key areas such as employee 
engagement, performance 
management and recruitment

• A pilot of 360o feedback has been 
undertaken for a group of managers 
to enable us to understand where 
our management strengths and 
opportunities to improve lie and  
to ensure we provide targeted  
learning and development activities  
to our managers

• We have recruited a number of 
apprentices into the business across 
a variety of roles and are supporting 
their progression towards their 
vocational qualifications.

Improved benefits:

• Continued to conduct regular salary 
and benefits reviews, benchmarking 
and realigning as required to ensure 
that we continue to be able to attract 
and retain high calibre individuals

• Developed and issued every individual 
with a total reward statement to 
ensure that they are aware of the true 
value of their benefits package

• Introduced an additional day’s  
holiday during the week of each 
employee’s birthday

• Launched a Chartership Bonus 
to reward those who attain this 
prestigious achievement.

Given the competition for quality people 
and the challenging markets in which we 
operate we have looked to use a range of 
resourcing methods such as social media 
and a digital marketing campaign to 
raise awareness of our employer brand. 
We have also re-launched our Employee 
Referral programme which is open to 
all WYG employees who successfully 
introduce a new member to the Group. 
Direct hiring has been a major focus to 
minimise recruitment spend. We finished 
the year on a 78% rate of direct hires, 
up from 59% at the start of the year. 
A large number of recruits continue to 
be graduates who join in their chosen 
specialism and, given their importance 
to the ongoing success of WYG, we 
continue to run our successful Graduate 
Development Programme, nurturing and 

As at 31 March 2016, we employed 1,596 employees (2015: 1,481).  
As we deliver our plans for growth in the coming year we expect  
to see employee numbers continue to increase in a number of  
business areas in line with our strategic plan.
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developing our graduates, as well as an 
Apprenticeship Programme that enables 
16 to 18 year olds to join WYG across a 
range of disciplines and functions.

Additionally, we have been working 
hard to build on our partnership with 
the Ahead Partnership to work with 
secondary and feeder primary schools 
to promote our industry sector and to 
mentor young people and educate  
them in respect of the types of  
careers available and the subjects  

and qualifications they need to attain in 
order to pursue a successful career in 
our industry. This work commenced in 
Leeds, Birmingham and London. We are 
now looking to extend this activity across 
all our key sites in the UK. Our strategy 
is about utilising multiple channels to 
source high calibre candidates and, 
wherever possible, to seek to grow 
our own talent and support them in 
achieving their career goals.
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AWARDS
This year our teams have maintained their strong track record for  
winning major industry awards demonstrating that our people continue  
to deliver work that is independently recognised as being outstanding. 

The awards include:

2015 ICE East Midlands Merit Awards

‘Large Project Award’ for A453 Widening M1 
Junction 24 to A52 Nottingham

‘Commended’ Team Achievement Category 
for A453 Widening M1 Junction 24 to A52 
Nottingham

2015 Brownfield Briefing Awards

‘Highly Commended’ in the Best Project 
Closure/Verification Process category for 
remediation work on the Petroleum Filling 
Station Spill in Crossgar, NI

2016 Royal Society for the Prevention 
of Accidents (ROSPA)

Gold Award 12th consecutive year; 
President’s Award 3rd year in succession

2016 British Expertise  
International Awards

Glyn Utting ‘Highly Commended’ in Young 
Professional of the Year category

‘Highly Commended’ in Outstanding 
International collaboration

Build Earth Live Series

‘Overall Excellent Effort’ for Team OneWYG 
during the 48 Hour Build New York Live  
BIM Competition

2016 Association for Consultancy and Engineering 
(ACE) Awards

• Best UK Business Performance (Large)

• ACE Young Professional of the Year -  
Glyn Utting

• Diamond Award for Engineering Excellence –  
Glyn Utting
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2015 Royal Town Planning Institute 
(RTPI) Planning Excellence Awards, 
South-West Region

‘Highly Commended’ for The Salisbury 
Plain Masterplan

2015 Royal Town Planning Institute 
(RTPI) Wales Planning Awards

‘Highly Commended’ for Barry Pumphouse, 
Vale of Glamorgan

2015 Planning Awards

Waste and Minerals Planning award for the 
Ecological Enhancement of RSPB Cliffe  
Pools project

‘Highly Commended’ for Stakeholder Engagement 
in Planning category for engaging with the local 
community in Drayton, Oxfordshire

2015 Landscape Institute Awards

‘Highly Commended’ in the Strategic Landscape 
Planning category for CIVI: Cumulative Impacts 
of Vertical Infrastructure project

2015 Rutland ProCon (Property and 
Construction) Awards

Winner in the Regeneration category for 
‘Connecting Leicester’ project

Going into 2016 we have been shortlisted for a number 
of prestigious awards the results of which  
will be announced later this year. 

These include:

• Construction News Awards – Construction 
Consultancy of the Year 

• NCE 100 – International Impact Award 
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“We expect to use the 
new £25m five year 
committed bank facility 
with HSBC as a catalyst 
to accelerate growth, 
both organic and 
acquisitive.” 

SEAN CUMMINS, GROUP FINANCE 
DIRECTOR

Revenue (including our share of joint 
venture revenues) was £133.5m (2015: 
£130.5m), with international revenues 
accounting for 27.8% (2015: 35.7%) of 
Group revenue. However, revenue in 
the second half was up 13% to £70.9m 
compared with the first half of the year 
(£62.6m), and up 5% on the second 
half of 2015 (£67.3m). More pleasingly, 
revenue was also up 12% in the final 
quarter of the financial year compared 
with the corresponding prior period, 
providing excellent momentum into the 
current year. Although the proportion 
of international work has declined for 
the second year in succession this is as 
much to do with the significant increase 
in UK revenue as the continuing impact 
of delays in implementing the EU 
programmes financed by the MFF  
2014-2020. 

Adjusted operating profit increased 
by 24% to £7.2m (2015: £5.8m) and 
adjusted profit before tax was up 23% 
to £7.0m (2015: £5.7m), reflecting a very 
strong improvement in profitability year 
on year. In the second half of the year 
we achieved an operating profit before 
separately disclosed items of £5.0m 
(2015: £3.7m), more than double the 
£2.2m achieved in the first half (2015: 
£2.1m). The improvement is driven by 
a combination of improving discipline at 
the project level together with continued 
improvements in staff utilisation and 
control of overhead costs.

On a statutory basis, the Group made a 
profit before tax of £2.2m (2015: £1.4m). 
Earnings per share adjusted to exclude 
separately disclosed items increased to 
10.0p (2015: 9.2p). On a statutory  
basis, earnings per share were 4.0p 
(2015: 2.9p). 

The primary component of finance 
costs is the charges relating to our bond 
and banking facilities. We have now 
completely redeemed or replaced the 
legacy bonds we had under the more 

expensive 2009/2010 facility. Finance 
costs were slightly up at £0.2m (2015: 
£0.1m) as we have gradually increased 
our use of less expensive bonds and 
started to make use of the £25m five 
year committed bank facility agreed with 
HSBC in July 2015. Going forward, we 
expect to make increased use of this 
facility as a catalyst to fund organic and 
acquisitive growth.

The Group still has significant losses 
brought forward in the UK and is likely 
to pay a reduced rate of UK tax for the 
foreseeable future. We also generate 
profit in many of our overseas activities, 
upon which we pay local corporation tax. 

The Group closed the year with total 
cash net of debt at 31 March 2016 of 
£0.2m (31 March 2015: £12.3m) after 
investing £7.9m in acquisitions. Although 
we benefited from a one off payment 
arising from a successful professional 
negligence claim, other demands on cash 
have included the planned application of 
£3.4m towards legacy issues (including 
ongoing commitments on unoccupied 
offices), total dividend payments of 
£0.8m and the costs associated with 
the strategic review. Cash spending on 
legacy issues continues to reduce ahead 
of target and going forward we expect 
this trend to continue, albeit at a slower 
rate than in previous years. The year 
end cash balance was also impacted 
by the sharp increase in revenue in the 
final quarter and our increased focus 
on higher margin UK planning-related 
disciplines (where the working capital 
cycle is slightly longer), the impact of a 
small number of global price contracts 
noted below together with capital 
investment in upgrades to our offices 
and IT.

We place a heavy emphasis on the 
importance of cash generation and 
the effective management of working 
capital – indeed, cash conversion is one 
of the performance targets under the 

FINANCIAL REVIEW
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current bonus schemes for the senior 
management team. This year we have 
changed our working capital KPI to an 
‘after fees in advance’ basis, for which 
the measure as at 31 March 2016 was 
81 days (2015: 72 days). The increase 
is due, in part, to the impact of a small 
number of large global price EU contracts 
in respect of which (in line with the 
relevant contract) we have received 
no fees during the reporting period 
but which will close in the first half of 
the current financial year restoring the 
working capital position to a level closer 
to, or better than, our KPI target of  
75 days.

As at 31 March 2016, the Group’s order 
book stood at £150.1m (2015: £105.0m) 
which is made up of UK orders of £79.5m 
(2015: £53.0m) and international orders 
of £70.6m (2015: £52.0m) and is 43% 
higher than that the same point last 
year. All three regions have reported an 
improving trend with the UK up 50% on 
the position in March 2015 and Turkey’s 
order book almost three times higher. 
This excellent performance is expected 
to progress further during the course of 
this year and the record level of orders, 
supported by a strengthening pipeline 
of opportunities in all our markets, 
underpins the significant growth we 
anticipate in 2016/7.

PENSION SCHEMES
The Group has fixed residual liabilities in 
respect of one defined benefit scheme 
(the White Young Consulting Group 
Limited Retirement Benefit Plan (1986) 
(1986 Scheme)). On 31 March 2016, 
the Group effected a buy-out of all of 
its liabilities in respect of the only other 
defined benefit scheme in the Group, the 
WYD Pension Scheme (WYD Scheme).

In 2013 we reached a full and 
final, binding settlement with the 
representative beneficiary and 
independent trustee of the 1986 

Scheme, concluding an issue that had 
been in dispute since 2008. Under the 
Court approved settlement, we will pay 
£3.2m into the Scheme in instalments 
over 12 years. Other than this, WYG has 
no further liability to the 1986 Scheme.

On 20 March 2015, the 1986 Scheme was 
transferred to the Financial Assistance 
Scheme and, in accordance with s161 
of the Pensions Act 2004, is treated as 
having been wound up from that date.

In December 2015, WYG Engineering 
Limited (the Principal Employer under 
the WYD Scheme), and the Trustees 
of the WYD Scheme reached an 
agreement under which the liabilities 
of the WYD Scheme were insured with 
Just Retirement Limited. The agreement 
contained an option allowing the 
Trustees to effect a buy-out of all the 
WYD Scheme liabilities and, on 31 March 
2016 they completed the exercise of this 
option. This eliminated the Group’s only 
remaining exposure to defined benefit 
pension risk. Individual insurance policies 
were issued to the former members 
of the WYD Scheme in April 2016. The 
process of winding up the WYD Scheme 
has now commenced. 

Although the buyout resulted in an 
accounting loss of £1.7m, there is 
a residual surplus of approximately 
£0.8m in the WYD Scheme Trustee 
bank account. After allowing for the 
expenses of the buyout and tax arising in 
accordance with the Pensions Act 2006, 
it is anticipated that there will be a return 
of cash to the Group.

TREASURY OPERATIONS
Our policy on treasury and financial risk 
is set by the Board and reviewed on a 
regular basis. The treasury risk faced by 
the Group includes credit risk and foreign 
exchange risk, details of which are in 
note 22.

It is our policy that we do not  
speculate in financial instruments or 
enter into speculative transactions. 
The types of financial instruments we 
use include internal cash resources, 
borrowings, bonds and receivable and 
payable balances arising directly from 
Group operations.

The majority of revenue and expenditure 
from operations is denominated in the 
same currency giving an effective hedge 
to relevant transactions. A proportion of 
our net assets is denominated in Euros.

KEY 
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
We identify and set key performance 
indicators (KPIs) at different levels 
throughout the business. At the Group 
level the main focus of our analysis is on 
the KPIs and performance measures the 
Board has set for financial performance, 
operations and growth.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Under this heading we assess our 
performance on revenue, profit and cash. 
We link executive directors’ pay to these 
financial KPIs through the bonus scheme 
(STIP) by setting specific targets relating 
to profit before tax and cash conversion.

OPERATIONS
These KPIs include measures to assess 
order intake, utilisation, earnings per 
person and claims.
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GROWTH
KPIs measured under this heading 
include: order book, international 
revenue, the split of international public 
and private work, and the conversion 
rates of expressions of interest to bids 
and bids to contract wins.

Within each business segment the 
metrics we use to assess KPIs can 
vary considerably, so we use a variety 
of methods to measure performance 
against the KPIs. For example, an 
acceptable level of order intake or 
earnings per person may be very 
different in a part of the business  
where we undertake a large volume of 
relatively small projects as compared 
with one where we work on a small 
number of very long term projects. 
‘Traffic light’ reports are produced for 
monthly management meetings.  
Where concerns are identified, the  
Board requires targeted mitigating 
measures to be identified, put in place 
and reported upon.

In addition, we have established KPIs for:

Technical Excellence – intended to 
measure and improve the technical 
quality of solutions and services we 
provide to our clients and measure our 
profile in the technical press.

Leadership & Line Management 
– this is predominantly measured 
through our annual employee survey 
and through key indicators such as 
retention rates and feedback from 
leavers. Additionally, we have used a 
360° feedback pilot to enable more 
direct feedback to be provided to our 
leaders and line managers to assist with 
their development. The success of this 
pilot means that we are now rolling it out 
across our business.

Staff Satisfaction – this is measured 
through a number of methodologies:

• our annual employee survey which 
looks to benchmark some of the 
following dimensions

• engagement

• compensation and reward

• line management

• leadership

• communication

• employee turnover

• employee absence.

GOING CONCERN BASIS
Having reviewed the Group’s budget, 
cash position, order book and the 
committed facilities available to it, the 
Directors have formed the conclusion 
that the Company and the Group 
have adequate resources to continue 
to operate for the foreseeable future 
after taking into account reasonably 
foreseeable risks and uncertainties 
relating to its business. For this reason, 
the Directors continue to adopt the  
going concern basis in preparing  
these accounts.
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CONCLUSION
Having performed strongly in the first half, our UK business 
delivered even better results in the second, accelerating 
through the final quarter and creating excellent momentum 
into the current financial year. We are seeing an increasing 
flow of work from our major public and private sector clients 
underpinned by continuing economic growth and infrastructure 
spending which are the main drivers of our core front-
end planning and consultancy business. Our three recent 
acquisitions have helped to secure the Group’s position as a 
leading UK planning and transport consultant, strengthened 
our capability in strategic asset management, and will help to 
augment the growth of our UK activities. 

Internationally we continue to make very good progress 
diversifying into fragile and developing states and we are 
starting to see good levels of growth, particularly in central 
Africa. Whilst the delay in the ramp up in the EU funding cycle 
held revenues back in the first half, we have now started work 
on some of the significant new multi-year EU related projects 
won since the start of the financial year which we expect to 
drive performance during the current year and beyond.

This, combined with our new long term bank facility, improving 
win rates, increasing profitability and the exceptionally high 
proportion of current year revenue expectations already in 
our order book, leaves us well placed to deliver on market 
expectations for this year and our aspiration of building 
towards a profit before tax of £15m by 2018.

The Strategic Report has been approved by the Board and 
signed on its behalf by:

 

PAUL HAMER  
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  
7 JUNE 2016 

SEAN CUMMINS 
GROUP FINANCE DIRECTOR 
7 JUNE 2016
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CORPORATE 
RESPONSIBILITY
POLICY
At WYG we apply our skills to create 
a positive, sustainable future for our 
business, society and the environment. 
We define sustainability broadly, covering 
all of the social, environmental and 
ethical aspects of what we do to help 
our clients meet their own sustainability 
goals. We believe that sustainability 
needs to be embedded in our own 
business strategies, decision making 
and practices at all levels and to that 
end, the Board, its committees and 
the operational management of the 
business routinely take account of social, 
environmental and ethical risks and 
opportunities in their decision making.

BUSINESS ACTIVITY
A significant proportion of our business 
is based on social and environmental 
projects. During the past 12 months  
our consultants in the UK have, among 
other things:

• started work on the survey of over 
650 legally protected archaeological 
monuments across the Ministry of 
Defence’s training estates  
throughout the UK, informing  
decisions regarding their future 
management and protection

• supported Cumbria County Council 
in managing the consequences of 
the December 2015 floods to get the 
region back on its feet 

• co-ordinated the Traffic Snake Game 
– a school campaign funded by the 
European Commission to encourage 
children, their parents and teachers  
to travel to school by more 
sustainable modes.

Overseas, the majority of our work is 
to support international development 
agencies such as the EU, DfID, World 
Bank, European Bank for Reconstruction 
and Development, and the Asian 
Development Bank. Our work  
has included:

• supporting the Polish Government’s 
initiative to help the unemployed back 
into work by providing initial help and 
short term training

• teaming up with the Natural Resources 
Institute to launch Sustainable 
Agricultural Intensification Research 
and Learning in Africa (SAIRLA). This 
is a five year programme which will 
commission research and facilitate 
learning to understand the different 
ways of achieving Sustainable 
Agricultural Intensification (SAI) and 
their developmental implications.

We have also continued our support 
of local improvement projects near 
landfill sites through the work of 
our not for profit company, Waste 
Management Research Limited, which 
provides assistance to landfill tax funds 
beneficiaries and landfill operators and 
has now handled more than 200 projects 
with a combined value of over £4.2m 
since it was established in 1996. 

We believe that our work in these fields 
helps to embed a culture of corporate 
responsibility throughout the business 
and that the high proportion of our 
business that is directly focussed on 
social, environmental and ethical 
outcomes delivers benefits for our 
clients, employees and  
other stakeholders.
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THE BRIBERY ACT 2010
Our procedures are designed to reflect 
the UK Government’s guidelines 
in relation to the Bribery Act: 
proportionality, top level commitment, 
proper risk assessment, due diligence, 
communication (including training), 
monitoring and review. Our guidance 
notes and other anti-bribery resources, 
which were reviewed and updated 
in 2015, are available on our Group 
intranet and our “anti-bribery” e-learning 
module has been completed by all of 
our employees who work in areas we 
consider to be high risk.

MODERN SLAVERY ACT 2015 
– WYG SLAVERY AND HUMAN 
TRAFFICKING STATEMENT 2016
WYG plc and its subsidiaries (WYG) 
acknowledge that slavery and human 
trafficking represent gross violations 
of fundamental human rights. WYG 
fully supports the implementation 
of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 and 
seeks to operate in such a manner 
as to ensure, so far as possible, that 
slavery and human trafficking do not 
take place within our business or supply 
chains. We recognise the importance of 
transparency in our approach to tackling 
these issues and expect the same high 
standards to be held by our contractors, 
suppliers and business partners.

WYG’s Structure, Business and 
Supply Chains

As a global programme, project 
management and technical consultancy 
with a turnover of c. £130m, WYG 
comprises a number of limited UK and 
international companies headed by WYG 
plc. Due to the nature of our national 
and international development business, 
WYG’s supply chains consist primarily 
of other professional service providers 
whose employees have qualifications and 
skills that are unlikely to be exploited 
through forced labour. We assess the risk 
of modern slavery and human trafficking 

occurring in our business to be low but 
we recognise that no organisation can 
consider itself immune or afford to  
be complacent. 

Our Policies on Slavery and Human 
Trafficking

WYG is committed to operating all 
aspects of our business in an ethical 
manner. Our Ethics Policy directly 
references our zero tolerance stance 
on slavery and human trafficking. Our 
Whistleblowing Charter also confirms 
that incidences and/or suspicions related 
to slavery or human trafficking must 
be reported. These and other relevant 
policies are reviewed annually and 
published on our intranet to ensure wide 
distribution. They are also part of our 
compulsory induction process for  
new employees.

Due Diligence Processes for Slavery 
and Human Trafficking

Before they can start any work for 
WYG or on our behalf, our national 
and international suppliers are subject 
to strict checks to assess their 
compliance and suitability. Our Supplier 
Information Form and Pre-Qualification 
Questionnaires now directly enquire as to 
whether such organisations are covered 
by the Modern Slavery Act 2015 and, if 
they are, require them to provide a copy 
of their slavery and human trafficking 
statement pursuant to section 54(1). If 
they are not subject to the provisions of 
the Act, suppliers are required to provide 
details of their Modern Slavery Policy (or 
equivalent documents), any training or 
education offered and any due diligence 
processes they operate. The information 
received is scrutinised and further 
investigation taken where necessary.

Assessing and Managing Risk

Our risk management processes seek to 
ensure that particular areas of risk in our 
business and supply chains are identified 
and impact assessments undertaken 
prior to the commencement of projects. 

In cases where a specific ethical concern 
has been raised, the ethical issues, 
including any related to slavery and 
human trafficking, will be referred to and 
considered by our Ethics Committee prior 
to the approval of project work. 

Training

Given WYG’s limited risk exposure and 
our enhanced due diligence and other 
processes in place, we have decided 
not to implement specific training in 
modern slavery and human trafficking 
at this stage. However, in circumstances 
where we consider there may be 
particularly high risks, appropriate 
training will be developed and targeted 
at those personnel who may have direct 
exposure. WYG’s Ethics Committee will 
review this stance periodically.

This statement is made pursuant to 
section 54(1) of the Modern Slavery Act 
2015 and constitutes WYG’s slavery and 
human trafficking statement for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2016.

SOCIAL VALUE
At WYG we are committed to the social 
value agenda and we are proud of our 
efforts and achievements in this regard. 
This is demonstrated by the range and 
scale of activities we undertake to ensure 
we have a positive social impact on 
our communities. In the past year our 
employees in the UK have undertaken 
more than 1,350 hours of volunteering 
activities on causes in our communities. 

We provide our people with up to three 
volunteering days per annum to support 
charities and worthy causes of their 
choice. This programme is about working 
with the local community utilising 
their individual skills and capabilities 
to improve local communities and the 
lives of those who live there. We also 
launched an initiative last year called 
‘Make a Difference’ days, these are two 
fixed days per year where individuals 
and teams from within the organisation 
can get involved with either a national or 
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local programme to support such things 
as land clearance to provide a space for 
a playground for children and supplying 
the materials and labour to decorate a 
community centre/hall. This was used 
by a number of employees in Cumbria 
to support clean-up efforts following the 
December 2015 floods.

Another step towards increased 
employee satisfaction was the 
introduction of an annual, company-
wide social initiative. Employees were 
encouraged to walk, swim, cycle or 
row submitting their miles to reach a 
combined company target of 10,000 
miles. Milestones led to information 
being shared about offices to educate 
employees about the wider business 
whilst charities also benefited from 
sponsorship and donations. The 
response was unprecedented with 
over one third of our employees taking 
part and many more supporting them. 
Overall, more than 80,000 miles were 
clocked in 80 days. 

We operate an Apprenticeship 
programme and look for opportunities  
to employ locally recruited Apprentices 
on to our projects. We currently work 
with three Apprenticeship Training 
Agencies, in Leeds, London and 
Manchester and are looking to extend 
this to other regions. Our programme 
provides meaningful work experience 
and the opportunity to train and  
achieve a recognised qualification that 
will lead to employment opportunities 
within the local community or within  
our organisation.

We are current partners with ‘Ahead 
Partnership’ on a ‘Make the Grade’ 
programme. This is a three year 
commitment where students get hands 
on experience of the world of work. 
Currently we support three schools in 
Birmingham, Leeds and London and 
plan to expand the programme over the 
next two years to tie in with the location 
of our projects. We are also committed 
to do this on the Southern Regional 
Colleges project in Northern Ireland. 

More information on how we seek 
to improve WYG’s employer value 
proposition to support candidate 
attraction and retention is set out in  
the Business Performance section of  
the Strategic Report under ‘People  
and Awards’. 

We have also: 

• gained FORS (Fleet Operator 
Recognition Scheme) accreditation 
- this encompasses safety, fuel 
efficiency, vehicle emissions and 
improved operations; and

• maintained low Accident Frequency 
Rates (AFR) and low Accident Incident 
Rate (AIR) RIDDOR figures.

Accident and enforcement record

RIDDOR reportable accidents in the UK

Accident Frequency Rate (AFR)*

2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12

0.08 0.04 0.00 0.00

- -

- - -

0.09

Environmental incidents/
near misses

Reportable incidents in the UK

2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12

2010/11

-

0.13

2010/11

AFR = Total number of reportable injuries x 100,000

               Man hours worked
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RESPONSIBLE TRADING  
AND CO2 EMISSIONS

We continue to make a significant effort 
to make energy savings and emissions 
reductions through the individual office 
energy management plans introduced  
in 2011/12. 

Display Energy Assessments (DECs) have 
been completed in each of our UK offices 
where they are relevant. Compliance with 
the 2014 ESOS Regulations has prompted 
a full review of how we address carbon 
management in the organisation and we 
are introducing new targets for energy 

consumption and business mileage for 
the current financial year. Although we 
have seen an increase in overall CO2 
emissions, this is chiefly due to the 
growth of the business and the inclusion 
in the data of newly acquired businesses 
and their business premises.

The following tables and charts (which 
are calculated using the World Resources 
Institute’s GHG Protocol Tools) illustrate 
our total greenhouse gas emissions in 
the UK for the past four years, being 

the period for which we have usable 
data, an analysis of the key sources of 
those emissions, and the ratio of such 
emissions per square metre of UK office 
space. Water consumption is based on 
billed cubic metres of water used in UK 
offices: this is deemed low in significance 
and is omitted from reporting (due to 
reduction measures already in place).

2016

2016

2016

2016

2016

UK utilities*

Fuel cards

Overseas 
utilities*

Cars and  
vans

Public 
transport**

2015

2015

2015

2015

2015

2014

2014

2014

2014

2014

2013

2013

2013

2013

2013

824.11

322.02

23.65

738.50

1,682.46

722.41

360.45

17.95

798.77

1,903.45

667.87

559.68

10.81

770.69

1,509.67

577.29

557.66

9.86

669.46

59.15***

CO2e (tonnes) emissions breakdown by method

* UK utilities is the combination of electricity, gas and oil. 
Overseas utilities is electricity only.

** Public transport is the mileage from journeys by train 
(including London underground and metros) and air travel 
(domestic, shorthaul and longhaul)

*** No air data is available for 2013.
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Electricity Gas Oil

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

0.030.02 0.03 0.06 0.010.00
0.17

0.00
0

1

2

3

4

5

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

3.71
4.27

4.62 4.70

CO
2e

 (k
g)

Total consumption (CO2e (kg) per m2) per fuel used in UK offices

Notes

1. Per square metre is based on the calculation of total energy against the Group’s UK property footprint. Energy 
consumption is based on billed Kwh usage of gas and electricity within UK Offices and oil consumption in litres 
within UK Offices (in summer 2015 the Group ceased to use oil for heating within offices). 

2. Excludes non-UK offices

3. Excludes fully serviced managed offices for which no data is available.
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% Energy consumption (CO2e kg) per fuel used in UK offices

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Fleet (cars and vans)1

Rail (Network Rail)

Air2

2,412,419 2,511,281 2,849,092 2,524,355

584,771 938,066

2,801,122

1,019,379

4,305,579

2,539,685

Total: 
2,997,190 miles

Total: 
3,449,347 miles

Total: 
6,669,593 miles

Total: 
9,369,620 miles

We collect data on our business 
mileage. The information in the table 
below is taken from UK company 
business mileage expense claims and 
fuel card data which provides the total 
amount of litres consumed. Public 
transport is the mileage from journeys 
by train (including London underground 
and metros) and air travel (domestic, 
shorthaul and longhaul). 

We have taken steps in the past 12 
months to improve the accuracy of this 
data by introducing new procedures 
for booking certain types of travel. This 
fact, together with the inclusion of data 
for travel by air, our expanding business 
and international geographical footprint 
explains the significant increase in our 
business mileage.

Business mileage by method

1 Includes grey fleet and pool vehicles.
2 No air data is available for 2012-13 or 2013-14.
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COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Our community engagement policy 
allows up to three days’ paid leave for 
employees undertaking community 
engagement initiatives. We have also 
matched the funds raised by our 
colleagues in a number of individual  
and office-based fundraising events  
for national and local charities, 
sponsored community-based events  
and local volunteering.

Among the many initiatives this year  
we have:

• pledged £20,000 to Community Action 
Nepal to support the rebuild of critical 
infrastructure in the country. We have 
also been in the privileged position to 
be able to deploy some of our people 
on the ground in Nepal where their 
expertise has been able to make a  
real difference to the recovery of  
the country

• supported the Royal British Legion’s 
Poppy Appeal 2015: WYG volunteers 

around the country took to the streets 
to help raise funds for the Royal British 
Legion. Demonstrating our support 
matters to us because of our strong 
bond with the Armed Forces and 
a long-standing history of working 
alongside service personnel in  
difficult conditions

• continued our connection with Ahead 
Partnership and the “Make the Grade” 
programme to build sustainable 
relationships between the business and 
local schools and lets children see what 
working life at WYG is like 

• extended our support of the project 
work in Uganda led by One Brick at a 
Time (OBAAT) to a sixth consecutive 
year. OBAAT is an independent charity 
that works to transform the lives 
of school children in communities 
in one of the poorest countries in 
Africa through construction and 
refurbishment of schools, hospitals, 
and health centres

• provided on-the-ground support for 
the clean-up in Cumbria following the 
flooding in December 2015

• pledged funds for numerous 
charities as a result of the efforts of 
employees during our first ever global 
engagement campaign, WYG 80 Days

• carried out our first ever virtual 
community event, Sport Relief 2016. 
Employees were challenged to run 
5km and share their progress via social 
media platforms, raising over £1,000 in 
the process

• given support to Tshwarangany Day 
Care Centre - colleagues have given 
time and personal donations to help 
bring smiles to the faces of orphaned 
children in Pretoria

• given our support to Leeds charity 
Sunshine and Smiles on World Downs 
Syndrome Day.

WYG continues to have a broad corporate social responsibility agenda. 
This year our people have not only been committed to contributing to 
the communities close to them but we have also been able to help the 
recovery in Nepal following the 2015 earthquakes.

Helping clean up after the Cumbrian floods, December 2015
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We are proud to say that we have many 
individuals within WYG that support 
our engagement with the community 
through volunteering their own time and 
expertise, undertaking activities such as:

• performing the role of non-executive 
director for local charities

• running and/or participating in local 
support groups

• acting as school governor, treasurer or 
parent association member

• participating in ‘getting ready for  
work schemes’ helping to prepare 
school leavers or ex-offenders for  
job interviews

• managing local clubs such as scouts, 
brownies and sporting teams

• managing international voluntary 
projects to ensure adequate  
healthcare for children in post-conflict 
affected areas 

• undertaking sporting challenges to 
raise funds for the support of local  
and national charities.
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DIRECTORS

Mike McTighe 
Non-executive Chairman (62)

Mike McTighe was appointed to the Board in August 2009. He is currently chairman 
of four private companies. Until 31 December 2015 he was a member of the Board 
of Ofcom. Previously he was Chairman and CEO of Carrier I International S.A. and 
before that Executive Director and Chief Executive Global Operations of Cable & 
Wireless plc.

Paul Hamer 
Chief Executive Officer (47)

Paul Hamer has been Chief Executive Officer of WYG since March 2009. He sits on 
the board of the Leeds City Region Local Enterprise Partnership and is also Chairman 
of the Green Economy Panel. Previously, he was Managing Director of VT Nuclear 
Services, part of VT Group Plc, and brings with him over 20 years’ experience in 
business management, leadership and project delivery. He has also held several 
senior executive positions in the contracting, nuclear, oil, chemical and petrochemical 
sectors. Paul is a Fellow of The Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (FRICS).

Sean Cummins 
Group Finance Director (53)

Sean Cummins joined WYG in December 2011 as Group Finance Director. He was 
Group Finance Director of Scott Wilson plc, the global design and engineering 
consultancy, from September 2007 until its acquisition by URS Corporation in 
September 2010. From 1999 until 2007 he was Group Finance Director of Yule Catto 
& Co plc, the international chemicals group, prior to which he was Finance Director of 
BTR Power Systems, a division of Invensys plc. Sean is a chartered accountant with 
more than 25 years’ experience in financial management and business leadership as 
well as in depth knowledge of the global consultancy sector.
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David Jeffcoat 
Non-executive Director 
and Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee (66)

David Jeffcoat was appointed to the Board in December 2009. He is a qualified 
accountant with extensive experience in the engineering and technology sectors. 
He was Group Finance Director and Company Secretary of FTSE 250 manufacturing 
group Ultra Electronics Holdings plc from 2000 until his retirement in April 2009. 
Prior to that, he served as Group Financial Controller with Smiths Industries plc 
(now Smiths Group). He also sits on the Board and is Audit Committee Chairman of 
Aberforth Smaller Companies Trust plc

Neil Masom OBE 
Non-executive Director  
and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee (57) 

Neil was appointed to the Board in October 2015. He was appointed to the board of 
HS2 in September 2014 as Director and Audit Committee Chair, and also holds non-
executive director roles at IFS AB, a quoted Swedish software company, Solutions 
SK Ltd, and CQC Holdings Ltd. He was formerly non-executive Chairman of FCO 
Services. Neil is a Chartered Engineer whose previous executive roles have included 
some 30 years with BAE Systems culminating in the position of Managing Director, 
Logistics and Information Systems.

Jeremy Beeton CB 
Senior Independent Non-executive Director (63)

Jeremy Beeton was appointed to the Board in October 2015. He has more than 
40 years’ international business experience including in Government, corporate, 
project management, construction and facilities management. He is currently a 
non-executive director of SSE plc and John Laing Group plc prior to which he was 
Director General of the UK Government Olympic Executive. Between 1999 and 2007, 
he was Principal Vice President and Director of Bechtel Ltd. Jeremy is a Fellow of the 
Institution of Civil Engineers.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
WYG plc is incorporated and domiciled 
in England. The address of its registered 
office is Arndale Court, Otley Road, 
Headingley, Leeds, LS6 2UJ.

As required by the Companies Act 
2006, a review of the Group’s business, 
together with an indication of its 
future prospects and a description of 
the principal risks facing the Group, is 
provided in the Chairman’s Statement, 
the Strategic Report on pages 19 to 56 
and in the five year financial summary on 
page 135.

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries are 
listed on pages 107 and 108. The Group 
also has branch offices in Kurdistan, 
Jamaica, Russia and South Africa and 
representative offices in Belgium, 
Cambodia, Russia and Serbia.

SHARE CAPITAL
The Company’s ordinary shares are 
traded on AIM, a market operated by the 
London Stock Exchange plc. Accordingly 
as at 31 March 2016, the Company’s 
share capital is as follows:

• 68,384,528 ordinary shares of 0.1 
pence each

• 4,540,758 convertible shares of 0.1 
pence each.

The rights and obligations attaching to 
each class of shares are set out in the 
Company’s Articles of Association which 
are available on our website.

DIVIDEND
Subject to the approval of shareholders 
at the AGM, a dividend of 1.0p will be 
paid on 28 September 2016 to ordinary 
shareholders on the register at the close 
of business on 2 September 2016.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT TRUST
The Company’s Employee Benefit Trust 
(EBT) was established to satisfy awards 
granted under the Company’s share 
options plans. The trustees of the EBT 
are RBC Cees Trustees UK Limited which 
is resident in Jersey. As at 31 March 
2016, the EBT held nil Ordinary Shares.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company who 
served during the year and up to the 
date of the signing of the financial 
statements were as follows:

Mike McTighe 
Paul Hamer 
Sean Cummins 
Graham Olver (resigned 31 August 2015)

Robert Barr (resigned 24 September 2015)

David Jeffcoat
Jeremy Beeton (appointed 1 October 2015)

Neil Masom (appointed 1 October 2015)

The biographical details of the directors 
can be found on pages 67 and 68.

DIRECTORS’ ELECTION 
AND ROTATION
In accordance with the Articles of 
Association, which require that any 
director appointed during the year shall 
hold office only until the next AGM and 
shall then be eligible for election, Jeremy 
Beeton, Neil Masom and Iain Clarkson 
are seeking election at the AGM. Mike 
McTighe and David Jeffcoat will retire 
by rotation and, being eligible, will offer 
themselves for re-election at the AGM. 
Biographical details for Iain Clarkson can 
be found on pages 9 and 10.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The beneficial interests of the Directors 
of the Company and their families in 
the ordinary shares of the Company 
and their options and/or awards over 
shares comprised in the Company’s share 
schemes are detailed in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report on pages 77 to 80.

No Director had any interests in any 
contract with the Company or its 
subsidiaries at any time during the 
year other than those arising from 
their service contracts or letters of 
appointment and through the Company’s 
share option schemes.

The Company maintains insurance to 
cover directors’ and officers’ liability.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES
As permitted by the Companies Act 
2006, the Company has indemnified 
the Directors in respect of proceedings 
which may be brought by third parties. 
Neither the Company’s indemnity nor its 
insurance provides cover in the event 
that a Director is proved to have acted 
fraudulently or dishonestly.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Group’s statement on Corporate 
Governance is included in the Corporate 
Governance Report on pages 73 to 76 of 
this report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The AGM will be held at the Company’s 
registered office at Arndale Court, Otley 
Road, Headingley, Leeds LS6 2UJ on 22 
September 2016 at 10.00am. Formal 
notice of the AGM, including details of 
special business is set out on pages 127 
to 132 and on the Company’s website at 
www.wyg.com

The Directors present their Annual Report and 
the audited accounts of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (Group) for the year ended  
31 March 2016.
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Significant shareholdings

Slater Investments

Hargreave Hale, Stockbrokers

Robert Keith

Franklin Templeton Fund Management

Henderson Global Investors

River and Mercantile Asset Management

Majedie Asset Management

Old Mutual Global Investors

Miton Asset Management

Henderson Volantis Capital

9,460,000

8,038,669

7,450,349

6,750,000

5,865,585

5,506,023

4,357,400

3,307,679

2,442,800

2,426,893

As at 15 May 2016 the Company had been notified of the following interests in 3% or more of its issued share capital:

Number of shares held % issued share capital
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SUBSTANTIAL CONTRACTS 
AND CHANGE OF CONTROL
The Group has in place various 
contractual arrangements with 
customers and suppliers some of which 
provide for termination in the event of a 
change of control but none of which is 
considered to be significant in terms of 
its potential impact on the business as  
a whole. 

The Group also has a revolving credit 
facility with HSBC Bank plc which 
provides that the facilities may be 
cancelled in the event of a change  
of control.

TREASURY POLICY
The Group’s policy on treasury and 
financial risk is set by the Board and is 
subject to regular reporting and review. 
The main risks faced by the Group relate 
to foreign currency risk, credit risk, and 
cash flow. A more detailed explanation 
of these risks and the Group’s policy for 
managing them is set out on page 54 
and in note 22 to the Accounts.

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES
Our policy is to ensure there is adequate 
provision for the health, safety and 
welfare of our employees and of other 
people who may be affected by our 
activities. In addition to our robust 
duty of care and health and safety 
procedures we are also committed to 
our employees’ wellbeing. We support 
flexible working, and provide a Health 
and Wellbeing Handbook which includes 
the provision of free fruit, holistic health 
therapies, wellness checks, discounted 
gym membership, nutritional advice and 
a health cash plan. We also provide an 
employee assistance programme, free 
of charge, to all employees that offers 
impartial advice and support on issues 
such as personal finances, relationship 
issues or stress management.

EMPLOYMENT OF 
DISABLED PERSONS
Disabled employees and applicants 
are treated equally with others having 
regard to their ability, experience and 
the requirements of the job. We commit 
to making reasonable adjustments to be 
able to offer employment or continued 
employment within the Group.

DIVERSITY
Our general approach to employee 
diversity is set out in detail on page 32 
of the Strategic Report. As regards the 
Board, we believe Board composition is 
a key element of Board effectiveness. 
Each member and potential member 
of our Board must be able to 
demonstrate the skills, experience and 
knowledge required to contribute to 
the effectiveness of the Board. WYG 
believes that the Board’s perspective 
and approach can be enhanced through 
gender, age and cultural diversity and 
we support the principle of boardroom 
diversity. It is our policy to consider 
overall Board balance when appointing 
new directors and we will always seek 
to appoint on merit against objective 
criteria, including diversity.

EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT
Our success depends upon the continued 
commitment and motivation of our 
workforce and it is our policy that 
employees are kept informed of matters 
affecting their employment and of our 
financial results on a regular basis. 

As in previous years, the Group 
undertook an extensive exercise to 
gauge the views of employees on a 
number of topics. The results were 
presented to the Board and, in response, 
the Directors initiated a programme 
to review employee engagement and 
retention which resulted in some of the 
initiatives described in the Corporate 
Responsibility Report on pages 57 to 66. 
These organisation-wide improvement 
plans are given the most senior support 
and reported to the business quarterly to 
ensure progress is maintained.

Communication in WYG is a two-way 
process. Employees are encouraged 
to feel safe to share their ideas and 
feedback on how to make WYG the best 
it can be for our clients and investors 
and how to help the Group ensure WYG 
is a great place to work. To support 
employees in accessing the information 
and resources they need and connect 
with their colleagues, a comprehensive 
employee intranet with news items 
and employment-related resources is 
maintained and supplemented with 
monthly newsletters and regular Group-
wide emails. Our two-way feedback 
portal, ‘Ask WYG’, also offers employees 
the opportunity to provide feedback, 
submit ideas and ask questions to 
anyone within the business at any given 
time throughout the year.
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POLITICAL DONATIONS
The Group made no political donations 
(2015: nil).

STATEMENT OF 
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The Directors are responsible for 
preparing the Annual Report, the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors 
to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year. Under that law the 
Directors have prepared the Group and 
Parent Company financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted 
by the European Union. Under company 
law the Directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group 
and the Company and of the profit or 
loss of the Group for that period. In 
preparing these financial statements, the 
Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and 
then apply them consistently

• make judgements and accounting 
estimates that are reasonable  
and prudent

• state whether applicable IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union have 
been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in 
the financial statements

• prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the 
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that are 
sufficient to show and explain the 
Company’s transactions and disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the 

financial position of the Company and 
the Group and enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with 
the Companies Act 2006. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the Company and the Group and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for 
the maintenance and integrity of the 
Company’s website. Legislation in 
the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Each of the Directors, whose names 
and functions are listed in the Director’s 
Report confirm that, to the best of  
their knowledge:

• the Group financial statements, which 
have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, give 
a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit  
of the Group and

• the Strategic Report includes a fair 
review of the development and 
performance of the business and the 
position of the Group, together with  
a description of the principal risks  
and uncertainties that it faces.

GOING CONCERN
As explained in the Strategic Report,  
the Directors continue to adopt the  
going concern basis in preparing  
these accounts.

STATEMENT ON DISCLOSURE 
OF INFORMATION TO THE 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
So far as each Director is aware, there 
is no relevant audit information of which 
the Company’s auditor is unaware.

Each Director has taken all reasonable 
steps to make himself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to 
establish that the Company’s auditor 
is aware of that information. This 
confirmation is given and should be 
interpreted in accordance with the 
provisions of s418 of the Companies  
Act 2006.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
Deloitte LLP has expressed its willingness 
to be re-appointed. A resolution to re-
appoint them as independent auditor will 
be proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board

BENJAMIN WHITWORTH 
COMPANY SECRETARY 
7 JUNE 2016
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

UK CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE CODE
WYG is committed to high standards  
of corporate governance throughout  
the Group.

As a company whose shares are traded 
on AIM, WYG is not required to comply 
with all the requirements of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code (Code) 
published by the Financial Reporting 
Council in 2014. However, the Board 
continues to implement policies and 
procedures designed to comply with the 
Code so far as reasonably practicable 
and appropriate for a public company  
of its size and complexity and in the  
light of the nature of the risks and 
challenges it faces. 

This report sets out how the principles 
identified in the Code have been applied 
by the Group in the financial year to  
31 March 2016.

THE BOARD
The Board currently comprises a Non-
executive Chairman (Mike McTighe), 
two Executive Directors (Paul Hamer, 
Chief Executive Officer and Sean 
Cummins, Group Finance Director) and 
three Non-executive Directors (Jeremy 
Beeton, David Jeffcoat and Neil Masom). 
The Board considers Jeremy Beeton, 
David Jeffcoat and Neil Masom to be 
independent. Mike McTighe satisfied 
the Code’s independence criteria on 
his appointment and, notwithstanding 
the fact that he now participates in the 
Company’s share option scheme, the 
Board considers that he is sufficiently 
independent in character and judgement 
as to continue to be considered an 
independent director in keeping with the 
principles of the Code. Jeremy Beeton  
is the Senior Independent Non- 
executive Director.

The roles of Chairman and Chief 
Executive are separate and clearly 
defined in writing. The Chairman 
is responsible for the leadership of 
the Board and for monitoring its 
effectiveness. The Chief Executive 
is responsible for the executive 
management of the Group’s business. 

All Directors are subject to election by 
the shareholders at the first opportunity 
after their initial appointment to the 
Board and to re-election thereafter at 
intervals of not more than three years. 
Biographical details of the Directors are 
set out on pages 67 and 68. The Non-
executive Directors bring a balance and 
range of skills and experience to the 
Board and its committees. None of the 
Executive Directors holds non-executive 
directorships outside of the Group 
although Paul Hamer is a board member 
of the Leeds City Region Local  
Enterprise Partnership.

The Board is collectively responsible  
to shareholders for the Group’s  
overall strategy and direction within  

a framework of controls which enables 
risk to be assessed and managed. It 
has a schedule of matters reserved to it 
for decision, including: strategy, policy, 
approval of budgets, acquisitions and 
disposals, major capital expenditure, and 
risk assessment and assurance. 

An evaluation of the performance of the 
Board was last conducted in 2013. The 
Chairman reviewed the outputs from the 
evaluation with each Director individually 
and the conclusions of the overall 
assessment were reviewed by all the 
Directors. The Board does not consider 
that an externally facilitated evaluation  
is appropriate at this stage of the  
Group’s development. 

All Directors have access to the advice 
and services of the Company Secretary, 
who is responsible for ensuring that 
Board procedures and applicable rules 
and regulations are observed. There is 
an agreed procedure for Directors to 
take independent professional advice at 
the Company’s expense, if necessary, in 
the performance of their duties. Where 
it is considered appropriate, training is 
made available to the Directors. The 
Company has appropriate insurance 
cover in respect of legal action against 
its Directors.

The Company’s Articles of Association 
permit the Board to authorise directors’ 
conflicts of interest should they arise. 
The Company maintains a register 
of interests which are deemed to be 
permanently disclosed and authorised. 
The register is updated annually and 
as and when a new potential conflict 
of interest is notified. At each Board 
and Committee meeting, directors are 
prompted to declare any conflict of 
interest. The Board (or Committee) then 
authorises the conflict thereby enabling 
the relevant Director to participate in and 
vote at the meeting or, where applicable, 
to abstain or even to absent themselves 
from the meeting.
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AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE
The Audit & Risk Committee is chaired 
by David Jeffcoat. David is a qualified 
accountant with extensive experience in 
the engineering and technology sectors. 
He is considered by the Board to have the 
necessary recent and relevant financial 
experience for his role as chairman. The 
other members of the Committee are 
Non-executive Directors Mike McTighe, 
Jeremy Beeton and Neil Masom. The 
Executive Directors also attend most 
meetings of the Committee at the 
invitation of the chairman. 

Key features of its terms of  
reference comprise:

• ensuring as far as possible the integrity 
of the Company and Group statutory 
financial statements

• making recommendations to the 
Board regarding the external auditor’s 
appointment, re-appointment and/or 
removal, and fees

• agreeing the scope and nature of the 
external audit process and considering 
the resultant reports prepared by  
the auditor

• monitoring the arrangements that the 
executive management has in place to 
identify and mitigate major operational, 
financial, reputational and other 
significant risks within the Group

• monitoring the effectiveness of the 
internal audit function, ensuring that it 
is independent, adequately resourced 
and has appropriate standing within 
the Group

• reviewing procedures for detecting 
fraud and ensuring that arrangements 
are in place whereby staff may, in 
confidence, raise concerns about 
possible improprieties in financial or 
other matters; and 

• reviewing and approving the Group 
Finance Manual, including delegated 
authority levels, on a regular basis. 

BOARD MEETINGS
The Board meets formally on a regular 
basis. One meeting each year is 
specifically reserved for a strategic 
review. The Board is provided with 
management information which includes 
detailed monthly management accounts 
which includes an analysis of the Group’s 
actual performance against budget, 
latest forecast and the previous year. 
The form and quality of the information 
are reviewed to ensure that it is of a 
quality appropriate to enable the Board 
to discharge its duties.

The following table shows the number 
of years each Director has served on the 
Board as at the financial year end and 
their attendance at scheduled Board and 
Committee meetings.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
The Board delegates certain specific 
responsibilities to committees. Each 
committee has clearly defined terms of 
reference which are reviewed annually  
by the Board. The terms of reference  
for the Board and each of its committees 
are available on our website at  
www.wyg.com

Board meetings

Paul Hamer

Sean Cummins

Graham Olver 
1

Mike McTighe

Robert Barr 
2

David Jeffcoat

Jeremy Beeton 
3

Neil Masom 
3

8/8

8/8

1/2

8/8

3/3

8/8

4/5

5/5

–

–

–

4/4

4/4

4/4

2/2

2/2

–

–

–

5/5

2/2

5/5

3/3

3/3

Full board
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee

NUMBER OF 
MEETINGS HELD

8 4 5

8

4

7

7

9

7

<1

<1

Tenure
in years

3/3

–

–

3/3

1/1

3/3

1/1

1/1

Nominations
Committee

3

Number of board meetings attended by each of the directors during the period:

1. Graham Olver resigned from the Board on 31 August 2015
2. Robert Barr resigned from the Board on 24 September 2015
3. Jeremy Beeton and Neil Masom joined the Board on 1 October 2015
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During the year the Committee met 
formally on four occasions. The 
Committee also met the external auditor 
without the presence of the Company’s 
executive management to review the 
financial statements and discuss any 
other relevant matters in confidence. 
The chairman of the Committee also 
held informal meetings with the senior 
external audit partner and the Head of 
Internal Audit on a regular basis during 
the year.

The Committee chairman reports 
to every main Board meeting on 
any relevant audit & risk-related 
developments and provides copies of the 
Committee minutes and relevant reports 
to all Board members.

A detailed description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties facing the Group, 
the impact they might have on the 
Group and the mitigation measures in 
place is set out on pages 27 to 29 of the 
Strategic Report.

The Audit & Risk Committee also 
monitors the nature and extent of non-
audit work undertaken by the auditor. 
Details of the fees paid to the external 
auditor for the twelve months to 31 
March 2016, the split between audit and 
non-audit fees and information on the 
nature of non-audit fees is included in 
note 4 to the accounts. The non-audit 
fees that were paid to the auditor were 
not considered by the Audit & Risk 
Committee to affect the independence of 
the auditors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The composition and role of the 
Remuneration Committee is set out in 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
on pages 77 to 80. Full details of the 
Directors’ remuneration and a statement 
on remuneration policy are included in 
the report.

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
The Nominations Committee comprises 
all the Non-executive Directors and the 
Chief Executive Officer and is chaired by 
Mike McTighe. The Committee’s terms 
of reference include periodic reviews 
of the structure, size and composition 
of the Board and the identification 
and nomination of candidates for 
appointment to the Board. 

The Committee also considers 
succession planning for the Board and 
senior managers of the Group.  During 
the year the Committee met on a 
number of occasions to consider the 
recruitment and selection of new Non-
executive Directors. The Committee 
used the services of an external search 
consultant. Detailed reports on a shortlist 
of candidates were prepared for and 
reviewed by the Committee before the 
final selections were made.

DIALOGUE 
WITH SHAREHOLDERS
We value the views of all our 
shareholders and recognise their  
interest in our performance, strategy  
and objectives. 

There is a regular dialogue with 
institutional investors, fund managers, 
brokers, analysts and the media. These 
meetings are generally conducted by 
the Chief Executive Officer and the 
Group Finance Director. Feedback on 
these meetings and copies of resulting 
analysts’ reports are provided to the 
other members of the Board.

Formal communication with shareholders 
is mainly through the Half Year 
and Annual Reports, face to face 
meetings and online presentations. All 
shareholders are invited to attend the 
AGM, which is attended by the full Board. 

There is a comprehensive investors 
section on our website, www.wyg.com, 
which is regularly reviewed to ensure 
that all shareholders have access to the 
most up-to-date information.

The Chairman and the Senior 
Independent Director are available to 
shareholders at any time to discuss 
strategy and governance matters. Non-
executive Directors do not ordinarily 
attend meetings with major shareholders 
but would do so if this was requested.

Approved by the Board and signed on its 
behalf by:

BENJAMIN WHITWORTH 
COMPANY SECRETARY 
7 JUNE 2016
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee comprises 
all Non-executive Directors and is chaired 
by Neil Masom. 

The Remuneration Committee is very 
aware of the continuing public focus 
on executive pay and, in particular, 
market ‘best-practice’ requirements for 
companies to show that their executives’ 
pay arrangements are closely aligned 
with the creation of shareholder value 
and the company’s long-term strategy.

NEW MANAGEMENT  
INCENTIVE PLANS
At the Annual General Meeting on 24 
September 2015 the following new 
management incentive plans were 
approved by shareholders (as detailed 
in the circular to shareholders dated 27 
August 2015):

• Performance Share Plan (PSP) 
– covering senior executive and 
leadership teams, vesting of awards 
being dependent upon achievement of 
absolute EPS growth and TSR targets 
(measured against a peer group);

• Restricted Share Plan (RSP) – covering 
other key senior employees; and

• Short Term Incentive Plan (STIP) 
incorporating a Deferred Annual Bonus 
Share Plan (DABS) – a revised annual 
bonus arrangement for the executive 
directors and senior management team 
which includes a significant element 
of bonus deferral in the form of cash 
and share-based payments which 
are subject to the achievement of 
demanding PBT and cash  
conversion targets

(together, the ‘New Plans’). 

As a pre-condition to accepting awards 
under the New Plans, participants in 
the existing TIP scheme agreed to 
surrender 12.2m options (equivalent 
to 17.9% of issued share capital at 

that time), representing the majority 
of unvested awards. This substantially 
removed the potentially dilutive effect of 
the TIP scheme which had become an 
impediment to optimising shareholder 
value. Following the surrender of the 
unvested TIP awards there remained a 
total of 4.2m vested and unvested TIP 
options over ordinary shares. Since then, 
a further 0.1m awards have lapsed such 
that there are now 4.1m vested and 
unvested TIP awards outstanding.

The New Plans have been established 
to retain and incentivise existing talent, 
and to enhance our ability to recruit 
new talent to support our growth 
ambitions, in addition to aligning the 
interests of the directors with those of 
our shareholders. The PSP is intended 
to ensure the alignment of our executive 
team with shareholder objectives in using 
both EPS and TSR targets as measures 
of performance and growth. The RSP 
encourages employee retention and the 
DABS plan contains a significant element 
of deferred bonus which must be held as 
shares which, in turn, seeks to encourage 
long term holding. The PSP focuses on 
incentivising and rewarding the delivery 
of stretching financial performance 
targets and to reward the creation of 
long-term shareholder value based on the 
delivery of growth of EPS and TSR. The 
performance targets under the STIP and 
DABS Plan are based on PBT and cash 
conversion which have been selected as 
two of the key factors in driving further 
growth of the Group.

It is the Board’s intention that the New 
Plans will fall within the recommended 
“10% in 10 years dilution” aggregate limit 
which will apply to all awards in respect of 
new issues of shares made under the new 
PSP, the RSP and the DABS Plan. This limit 
is forward looking from the 2015 AGM and 
excludes dilution from any awards made 
under the TIP.

TERMS OF REFERENCE
The Remuneration Committee has clearly 
defined terms of reference to determine, 
on behalf of the Board, all aspects of 
remuneration of the Executive Directors 
consisting of salary, pension, benefits, 
and annual and long-term incentives. 
The Committee’s terms of reference 
are reviewed annually by the Board. It 
is also kept advised of and consulted 
on all aspects of senior management 
remuneration across the Group. The 
Chief Executive Officer is invited to attend 
meetings of the committee but not 
when his own arrangements are being 
considered. The Group Finance Director 
attends and advises the committee 
as required by invitation. No director 
participates in discussions about their own 
remuneration. The committee obtains 
regular governance updates from, and 
has available to it the advice of, FIT 
Remuneration Consultants LLP. 

Copies of the Committee’s terms of 
reference are available on the Company’s 
website www.wyg.com

REMUNERATION POLICY
The overall policy of the Board is to:

• attract, motivate and retain talented 
people at all levels across the Group

• provide competitive salary and benefit 
packages and

• encourage the holding of shares in 
the Company as an effective way of 
aligning the interests of the senior 
management team with those  
of shareholders.
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BASIC SALARY
The Executive Directors’ basic salaries are 
reviewed by the Committee each year 
taking into account individual and Group 
performance. It uses as a comparator the 
salaries of other companies of a similar 
size and complexity and the level of base 
salary of other senior staff in the Group.

BENEFITS
Benefits include a car allowance or a  
car and payment of its operating 
expenses and fuel, life assurance and 
entitlement to a non contributory private 
healthcare scheme.

PENSIONS
Executive Directors are members of a 
defined contribution pension scheme. 
Annual contributions are calculated by 
reference to a percentage of base salary, 
with Executive Directors each receiving 
contributions of 17.5% of salary. Each 
of the Executive Directors is required to 
contribute 3.5% of his salary. With effect 
from 1 March 2014, in accordance with 
the terms of his service agreement, Sean 
Cummins elected to receive an amount 
equal to 17.5% of salary as payment 
in lieu of contribution to the pension 
scheme. This payment is not treated as 
salary for the purposes of calculating STIP 
or PSP award opportunities.

PERFORMANCE RELATED 
ANNUAL BONUS AND  
DABS PLAN
Executive Directors participate in a 
performance related annual bonus 
scheme – the STIP; the maximum bonus 
payable is 225% of salary. Bonuses  
can only be earned if challenging 
performance targets determined by the 
Committee at the start of the financial 
year are achieved.

Two thirds of any bonus outcome will 
be deferred for a period of 3 years, one 
half of which (i.e one third of the bonus 
outcome) will be deferred in the form of a 
cash award and one half of which (i.e one 
third of the bonus outcome) will be an 
award of shares under the DABS plan. 

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the 
Executive Directors’ performance-related 
annual bonus scheme comprised two 
separately weighted elements based 
on achieving clearly defined stretching 
profit before tax and cash conversion 
targets. For the cash conversion element 
to become payable, the profit before tax 
target must also have been met. The 
profit before tax target was achieved 
but the cash conversion target was not 
met. Accordingly, the Executive Directors 
will be paid a proportion of that element 
of the bonus which relates to on target 
profit before tax. This proportion equates 

to 14% of annual base salary. The initial 
cash element will be paid in June 2016 
and accompanied by an issue of share 
options with an equivalent market value 
under the DABS Plan.

The Executive Directors’ performance-
related annual bonus scheme for the year 
to 31 March 2017 will again comprise two 
elements based on achieving profit before 
tax and cash conversion targets.

LONG TERM INCENTIVES
PSP

The Company granted options over a 
total of 1.4m ordinary shares under 
the PSP – of which 0.7m were granted 
to the Executive Directors. Vesting of 
initial PSP awards will be determined 
in equal measures by the achievement 
of absolute EPS growth targets and 
relative TSR targets, with TSR measured 
against a comparator group of support 
services companies drawn from the 
FTSE SmallCap, FTSE Fledgling and AIM 
indices. The targets are summarised in 
the table below.

This plan requires participants to build 
and retain a holding of vested awards or 
shares equal in value to the participant’s 
maximum annual cash bonus potential.

Long term incentives – PSP

Maximum 100%

Potential vesting of 
each part of the award
(50% subject to TSR; 
50% subject to EPS)Performance level

Upper Quartile or above

TSR attainment

50% or more growth

Intermediate Between 25% and 100% 
on a straight line basis

Median to Upper Quartile Between 25% and 
50% growth

Threshold 25% Median 25% growth

EPS attainment
(3 year growth) 
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RSP

The Company granted options over 1.2m 
ordinary shares under the RSP. This 
arrangement is focused on the retention 
of selected key staff. The Executive 
Directors do not participate in this plan. 
Awards will usually vest after three years 
subject to continued employment.

Transformation Incentive Plan (TIP)

The TIP is now closed to new entrants. 
Following the recent surrender of 
awards, there are now 4.1m million 
options outstanding under the TIP all of 
which have vested. 1.8m are currently 
exerciseable, the remainder will become 
exerciseable on the anniversary of their 
vesting date. Awards to the executive 
directors are set out in the table of 
Directors’ interests below.  

During the year the following performance 
targets were met and awards to Directors 
vested under the TIP as follows:

Performance 
Target (share 
price)

£1.25

Date of Vesting 11 November 2015

Number of  
Options Vested

687,581*

* Includes 287,581 options comprised in the 
Chairman’s Award and 50,000 options awarded to 
Graham Olver.

CHAIRMAN’S SHARE AWARD 
AND MATCHING SHARE AWARD
A key member of the management team 
is our Chairman, Mike McTighe. In order 
that Mike’s strategic expertise remained 
available throughout the period of the 
Company’s restructuring and the vital 
period of its development thereafter, 
two share-based arrangements were 
established for Mike in July 2011.  
These are:

• an arrangement that mirrors the key 
terms of the TIP described above, and 
that potentially makes one twenty-
fifth of the TIP pool available to the 
Chairman

• a share matching arrangement, 
whereby the Chairman’s investment 
of £100,000 in the Company’s capital 
restructuring could be matched on 
a 2.5 to 1 basis after three years 
providing that the Chairman remained 
on the Board for this period. The 
award vested on 12 July 2014 but any 
shares that result from the exercise 
of the award could not be sold before 
12 July 2015 other than to cover the 
payment of taxes.

The Chairman does not participate in the 
new incentive arrangements.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ 
SERVICE AGREEMENTS
All service agreements for the Executive 
Directors are terminable on 12 months’ 
notice by either party. None of the 
Executive Directors’ service contracts 
contains provision for pre-determined 
compensation for loss of office. 

As a condition of becoming a participant 
in the New Plans and under the TIP plan, 
each of the Executive Directors agreed, 
by way of a deed of variation to their 
respective Service Agreements, to enter 
into new restrictive covenants extending 
the ‘non-compete’ protections for  
the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ 
APPOINTMENTS AND 
REMUNERATION
The Chairman and the Non-executive 
Directors do not have contracts of 
employment but are appointed by letter 
of appointment. Such appointments are 
initially for a three year term and are 
terminable on three months’ notice by 
either party at any time. There are no 
entitlements in respect of loss of office. 
The remuneration of the Non-executive 
Directors is determined by the Board 
within the limits set out in the Articles of 
Association. Save in the case of the one 
off award to Mike McTighe above, Non-
executive Directors are not eligible for 
pensions, share incentives or  
bonus payments.

The table on the left sets out the most 
recent election/ re-election dates for  
the Chairman and each of the Non-
executive Directors.

Non-executive Directors’ appointments

Mike McTighe

David Jeffcoat

Jeremy Beeton

Neil Masom

3 August 2009

6 December 2009

1 October 2015

1 October 2015

Date of appointment 
as a Non-executive 
DirectorName

23 September 2014

25 September 2013

NA

NA

Date of last 
election/re-election 
at AGM

23 September 2017

25 September 2016

NA

NA

Expiry of current 
3 year term
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
 2016 2015

Emoluments1 Bonus3
Benefits 

in kind
Pension or 

payment in lieu Total Total

£‘000 £‘000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Executive Directors

Paul Hamer 345 68 1 57 471 489

Sean Cummins 235 32 1 39 307 334

Graham Olver 982 8 1 16 123 334

Non-executive directors

Mike McTighe 125 - - - 125 125

Robert Barr 184 - - - 18 35

David Jeffcoat 37 - - - 37 35

Jeremy Beeton 205 - - - 20 -

Neil Masom 205 - - - 20 -

1 Includes basic salary, car allowance in lieu of company car and fees to Non-executive Directors.

2 Payment in relation to the period Graham Olver held office during the year, having resigned from the board on 31 August 2015. In addition, he received salary, benefits in kind and pension 

of £160,000 paid in line with his service contract from the date of his resignation as a director up to the date on which his employment terminated. 

3 Of this amount, 50% will be paid in June 2016. The balance will be deferred and, save in certain circumstances set out in the rules of the STIP, paid in June 2019.

4 Payment in relation to the period Robert Barr held office during the year, having resigned on 24 September 2015.

5 Both Jeremy Beeton and Neil Masom were appointed on 1 October 2015. The remuneration stated above relates to the period for which they held office during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
As at 31 March 2016, the total beneficial, family and contingent interests of the Directors in the share capital of the Company were 
as follows:

TIP including the Chairman’s Share Award

At 31 March 2016 Beneficial Shares Vested Unvested PSP

Paul Hamer 127,303 1,662,906 - 419,056

Sean Cummins 258,085 125,000 - 193,410

Mike McTighe 200,000 575,162 287,581 -

David Jeffcoat 192,916 - - -

Jeremy Beeton 5,000 - - -

Neil Masom 28,590 - - -

On behalf of the Remuneration Committee

NEIL MASOM 
CHAIRMAN OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 
7 JUNE 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO 
THE MEMBERS OF WYG PLC

We have audited the financial 
statements of WYG plc (Company) 
for the year ended 31 March 2016 
which comprise the Consolidated 
Income Statement, the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
the Consolidated and Company Balance 
Sheets, the Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Shareholders’ Equity and the 
Consolidated and Company Cash Flow 
Statements, and the related notes 1 to 
32. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)  
as adopted by the European Union.

This report is made solely to the 
Company’s members, as a body, in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Company’s members 
those matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Company and the Company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES 
OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR
As explained more fully in the Statement 
of Directors’ Responsibilities, the directors 
are responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view. Our responsibility is to audit and 
express an opinion on the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable 
law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with 
the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors.

SCOPE OF THE AUDIT OF THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An audit involves obtaining evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud 
or error. This includes an assessment 
of: whether the accounting policies 
are appropriate to the Group’s and the 
parent Company’s circumstances and 
have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates 
made by the directors; and the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 
In addition, we read all the financial and 
non-financial information in the annual 
report to identify material inconsistencies 
with the audited financial statements 
and to identify any information that is 
apparently materially incorrect based 
on, or materially inconsistent with, the 
knowledge acquired by us in the course of 
performing the audit. If we become aware 
of any apparent material misstatements 
or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.

OPINION ON FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state 
of the Group’s and of the parent 
Company’s affairs as at 31 March 2016 
and of the Group’s profit for the year 
then ended;

• have been properly prepared in 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by 
the European Union;

• have been prepared in accordance  
with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006.

OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS 
PRESCRIBED BY THE 
COMPANIES ACT 2006
In our opinion, based on the work 
undertaken in the course of the audit:

• the part of the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report to be audited has been properly 
prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006; 

• the information given in the  
Strategic Report and the Directors’ 
Report for the financial year for  
which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements.
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MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE 
REQUIRED TO REPORT BY 
EXCEPTION
We have nothing to report in respect 
of the following matters where the 
Companies Act 2006 requires us to report 
to you if, in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not 
been kept by the parent Company, or 
returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not 
visited by us; or

• the parent Company financial 
statements and for part of the 
Directors Remuneration Report to be 
audited are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of directors’ 
remuneration specified by law are not 
made; or

• we have not received all the 
information and explanations we 
require for our audit.

SIMON MANNING ACA 
SENIOR STATUTORY AUDITOR 
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP 
Chartered Accountants and 
Statutory Auditor 
Leeds, United Kingdom 
7 JUNE 2016
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 March 2016 Note

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Continuing operations

Revenue including share of joint venture revenues 133,482 130,464

Less share of joint venture revenues (665) (1,787)

Revenue 3 132,817 128,677

Operating expenses 4 (130,377) (127,538)

Share of result of joint ventures (17) 418

Operating profit 2 2,423 1,557

Finance costs 6 (201) (116)

Profit before tax 2,222 1,441

Taxation 7 608 504

Profit for the year 2,830 1,945

Profit/(loss) attributable to:

Owners of the parent 2,832 1,923

Non controlling interests (2) 22

2,830 1,945

Earnings per share 8

Basic 4.0p 2.9p

Diluted 3.9p 2.7p

Operating profit for the year includes net costs of £4.8m (2015: £4.2m) that are separately disclosed in note 2.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 March 2016

2016 

£’000
2015 
£’000

Profit for the year 2,830 1,945

Other comprehensive income/(expense):

Currency translation difference (195) (798)

Tax on items taken directly to equity* (572) -

Impact of defined pension asset ceiling* 31 2,060 (1,995)

Remeasurement of net defined pension liability* 31 845  1,275

Other comprehensive expense for the year 2,138 (1,518)

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,968 427

Total comprehensive income/(expense) attributable to:

Owners of the parent 4,970 405

Non controlling interests (2) 22

4,968 427

*These items will not be reclassified subsequently to the income statement.
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BALANCE SHEETS
As at 31 March 2016 Group Company

Note
2016 

£’000
 2015 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Non-current assets

Goodwill 12 18,193 13,895 - -

Other intangible assets 13 9,295 4,836 - -

Property, plant and equipment 14 3,181 2,307 - -

Investment in joint ventures 15 407 418 - -

Investments 15 - - 52,734 52,734

Deferred tax assets 16 1,224 511 - -

32,300 21,967 52,734 52,734

Current assets

Work in progress 17 30,372 21,145 - -

Trade and other receivables 18 22,842 21,027 2,164 3,630

Retirement benefit asset 31 799 - - -

Tax recoverable 207 81 - -

Cash and bank balances 8,231 12,324 361 359

62,451 54,577 2,525 3,989

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 19 (46,682) (39,756) (15,715) (17,536)

Current tax liabilities (931) (1,022) - -

Financial liabilities 21 (3,050) - - -

(50,663) (40,778) (15,715) (17,536)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 11,788 13,799 (13,190) (13,547)

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities 21 (5,000) (514) - -

Retirement benefit obligation 31 (2,356) (3,014) - -

Deferred tax liabilities 16 (2,511) (1,104) - -

Provisions, liabilities and other charges 20 (5,940) (8,588) - -

(15,807) (13,220) - -

Net assets 28,281 22,546 39,544 39,187

Equity attributable to the owners of the parent

Share capital 23 73 72 73 72

Hedging and translation reserve 24 385 580 13 13

Retained earnings 24 27,791 21,730 39,458 39,102

28,249 22,382 39,544 39,187

Non controlling interest 24 32 164 - -

Total equity 28,281 22,546 39,544 39,187

The accounts on pages 85 to 124 were approved by the Board of directors on 7 June 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

 
PAUL HAMER SEAN CUMMINS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the year ended 31 March 2016

Share 
capital 
£’000

Hedging & 
translation 

reserve 
£’000

Retained 
earnings 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Non 
controlling 

interest 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Balance as at 1 April 2014 70 1,378 18,381 19,829 258 20,087

Profit for the year - - 1,923 1,923 22 1,945

Other comprehensive (expense)/income:

Currency translation differences - (798) - (798) - (798)

Impact of defined pension asset ceiling - - (1,995) (1,995) - (1,995)

Remeasurement of net defined benefit 
pension liability - - 1,275 1,275 - 1,275

Other comprehensive expense for the year - (798) (720) (1,518) - (1,518)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for 
the year - (798) 1,203 405 22 427

Share based payments charge - - 2,891 2,891 - 2,891

Purchase of treasury shares - - (211) (211) - (211)

Share issue 2 - - 2 - 2

Dividends - - (534) (534) (116) (650)

Balance at 31 March 2015 72 580 21,730 22,382 164 22,546

Share 
capital 
£’000

Hedging & 
translation 

reserve 
£’000

Retained 
earnings 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Non 
controlling 

interest 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Balance as at 1 April 2015 72 580 21,730 22,382 164 22,546

Profit for the year - - 2,832 2,832 (2) 2,830

Other comprehensive (expense)/income:

Currency translation differences - (195) - (195) - (195)

Tax on items taken directly to equity - - (572) (572) - (572)

Impact of defined pension asset ceiling - - 2,060 2,060 - 2,060

Remeasurement of net defined benefit 
pension liability - - 845 845 - 845

Other comprehensive (expense)/income for 
the year - (195) 2,333 2,138 - 2,138

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for 
the year - (195) 5,165 4,970 (2) 4,968

Share based payments charge - - 1,587 1,587 - 1,587

Share issue 1 - - 1 - 1

Dividends - - (821) (821) - (821)

Reduction in minority shareholding - - 130 130 (130) -

Balance at 31 March 2016 73 385 27,791 28,249 32 28,281

Details of the parent company statement of changes in shareholder equity are given in note 25.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2016

Group Company

Note
2016 

£’000
2015 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Operating activities

Cash (used in)/generated from operations 26 (966) 2,404 2 -

Interest paid (180) (140) - -

Tax paid (321) (250) - -

Net cash (used in)/generated from 
operating activities

 
(1,467)

 
2,014

 
2

 
-

Investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (2,092) (1,372) - -

Purchases of intangible assets (computer software) (385) (287) - -

Purchase of subsidiary undertakings, net of 
cash acquired

 
11

 
(7,875)

 
(1,475)

 
-

 
-

Net cash used in investing activities (10,352) (3,134) - -

Financing activities

Proceeds on issue of shares 1 2 - -

Purchase of treasury shares - (211) - -

Dividends paid to company shareholders 9 (821) (534) - -

Dividends paid to non controlling interests - (116) - -

Drawdown of loan facility 8,000 - - -

Net cash generated from/(used in) 
financing activities

 
7,180

 
(859)

 
-

 
-

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and 
cash equivalents

 
(4,639)

 
(1,979)

 
2

 
-

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 
of year

 
12,324

 
15,195

 
359

 
359

Effects of foreign exchange rates on cash and 
cash equivalents

 
546

 
(892)

 
-

 
-

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 27 8,231 12,324 361 359
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of accounting

The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) interpretations endorsed by the European 
Union (EU) and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The accounts 
have been prepared under the historical cost convention with 
the exception of certain items which are measured at fair 
value as disclosed in the principal accounting policies set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the 
years presented.

The preparation of accounts in conformity with IFRSs generally 
requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
accounts and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Although these estimates are 
based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, 
event or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from 
those estimates.

Standards, amendments to published standards 
and interpretations effective for the year ended 31 
March 2016

Other than noted above, there are no IFRSs or IFRIC 
interpretations that are effective for the first time for the year 
ended 31 March 2016 that have had a material impact on 
the Group.

Standards, amendments to published standards and 
interpretations issued but not effective for the year 
ended 31 March 2016 and not early adopted

IFRS15 – Revenue from contracts with customers. The 
directors do not expect the adoption of this standard to have a 
material impact on the Group’s accounts.

IFRS16 – Leases. The directors expect the adoption of this 
standard to have a material impact on the Group’s accounts.

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not 
yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact 
on the Group.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated accounts incorporate the accounts of 
the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its 
subsidiaries) made up to 31 March each year. Control is 
achieved when the Company:

• has the power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable return from its 
involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee 
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting 
rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over 
the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it 
the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant 
facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the 
Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it 
power, including:

• the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to 
the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

• potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote 
holders or other parties;

• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that 
the Company has, or does not have, the current ability 
to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions 
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous 
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains 
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company 
losses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of 
subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the consolidated income statement from the date 
the Company gains control until the date when the Company 
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive 
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the 
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to 
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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Where necessary, adjustments are made to the accounts of 
subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with 
the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses 
and cash flows relating to transactions between the members 
of the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified 
separately from the Group’s equity therein. Those interests 
of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership 
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net 
assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair value 
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the 
fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice 
of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition 
basis. Other non-controlling interests are initially measured at 
fair value. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of 
non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at 
initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of 
subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is 
attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the 
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do 
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests 
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the 
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any 
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration 
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed 
to the owners of the Company.

Revenue recognition

Gross revenue represents the value of work earned during 
the year on contracts by reference to total contract value and 
stage of completion, including third party payments.

Profit is recognised on a percentage completion basis when the 
outcome of a contract or project can be reasonably foreseen. 
Provision is made in full for estimated losses. Where the 
outcome of a contract cannot reasonably be foreseen, profit 
is taken on completion. When it is probable that total contract 
costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is 
recognised as an expense immediately.

The Group employs the use of third party contractors on its 
projects but this is not considered a primary source of revenue. 
In accordance with IAS 11 these costs have been accounted 
as part of the cost of the projects. The Group has primary 
responsibility for the work carried out, including work done 
by subcontractors whose services would have no separate 
value without the existence of the project controlled by the 
Group. Since the Group is acting as principal it recognises 
revenue based on the gross amount received or receivable in 
respect of its performance under the sales contract with the 
end customer.

Third party payments represent costs incurred by the 
Group on behalf of clients which are invoiced at no margin. 
Progress payments receivable in excess of the value of work 
executed on individual contracts are included in trade and 
other payables.

Unbilled revenue

As described above revenue represents the value of work 
earned during the year by reference to the total contract value 
and stage of completion. Unbilled revenue is the difference 
between the revenue recognised and the amounts actually 
invoiced to customers. Where revenue exceeds the amount of 
invoicing, the excess is included within work-in-progress. Where 
invoicing exceeds the amount of revenue recognised these 
amounts are included in trade and other payables.

Separately disclosed items

Items that are material and whose significance is sufficient 
to warrant separate disclosure and identification within the 
consolidated accounts are included within separately disclosed 
items (see note 2).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the 
cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of 
the identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary, associate 
or jointly controlled entity at the date of acquisition. Goodwill 
is recognised as an asset and tested for impairment at least 
annually by reference to the relevant cash-generating unit 
(CGU) and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the 
income statement and is not subsequently reversed.
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Other intangible assets

Intangible assets purchased separately, such as software 
licences that do not form an integral part of related hardware, 
are capitalised at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis 
over their useful economic life. Intangible assets acquired 
through a business combination are initially measured at fair 
value and amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful 
economic lives. Fair value of the acquired intangible assets 
is calculated based on the estimated future benefits the 
Group will derive from the asset acquired, discounted at an 
appropriate Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC). The 
useful economic lives used are as follows:

Computer software – 3 to 5 years

Order books – 1 to 4 years

Customer relationships – 5 to 10 years

Impairment of assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortisation 
are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstance indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes 
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
discounted at an appropriate rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment 
loss. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 
comprises its purchase price and any costs directly attributable 
to bring the asset into use.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets 
as follows:

Short leasehold improvements –  equally over the life of 
the lease

Motor vehicles –  30% per annum on net 
book value

Office furniture and equipment –  20% to 33.3% per annum 
on original cost

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their 
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, 
where shorter, over the term of the relevant lease.

Leases

Assets held under finance leases, hire purchase contracts and 
other similar arrangements, which confer rights and obligations 
similar to those attached to owned assets, are capitalised as 
tangible fixed assets at the fair value of the leased asset (or, 
if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments as 
determined at the inception of the lease) and are depreciated 
over the shorter of the lease terms and their useful lives.

The capital elements of future lease obligations are recorded as 
liabilities, while the interest elements are charged to the profit 
and loss account over the period of the leases to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of 
the liability.

Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight-
line basis over the lease term, even if the payments are not 
made on such a basis. Benefits received and receivable as an 
incentive to sign an operating lease are similarly spread on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Work in progress

Work in progress is stated at cost plus attributable profits 
less foreseeable losses and progress payments received and 
receivable. Cost comprises direct staff costs and attributable 
overheads. Attributable profit is that proportion of the total 
profit currently estimated to arise over the duration of a 
contract, as earned at the balance sheet date. Work-in-
progress is recognised when projects are assessed for contract 
progress and the proportion of contract work completed at 
the balance sheet date is determined in relation to the total 
contract works. Appropriate provisions are made for slow 
moving and irrecoverable work-in-progress.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and other 
short term highly liquid investments with a maturity of three 
months or less.

Tax

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently 
payable and deferred tax along with any adjustments to prior 
year estimates.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the 
year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the 
income statement because it excludes items of income or 
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it 
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. 
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax 
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable 
on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the accounts and the corresponding tax bases 
used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for 
using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred 
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities 
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from 
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that 
affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at 
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
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longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset 
is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income 
statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited 
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt 
with in equity.

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the accounts of each of the Group’s entities 
are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional 
currency”). The consolidated accounts are presented in 
Sterling, which is the Company’s functional and presentation 
currency for the consolidated accounts.

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency 
are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates 
of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary 
assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet 
date. Gains and losses arising on retranslation are included 
in the income statement for the period, except for exchange 
differences arising on non-monetary assets and liabilities where 
the changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
overseas operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing 
on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are 
translated at the average exchange rates for the period unless 
exchange rates fluctuate significantly. Exchange differences 
arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the 
Group’s translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition 
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

Investments in subsidiary undertakings

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated in the 
Company’s Balance Sheet at cost less any provision for 
impairment in value.

Joint arrangements

Where the Group is party to an arrangement over which it has 
joint control, the joint arrangement is classified as either:

• Joint operation: where the parties that have joint control over 
the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for 
the liabilities relating to the arrangement;

The Group recognises its share of assets, liabilities, revenues 
and expenses relating to its involvement in Joint operations;

• Joint Venture: where the parties that have joint control 
of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of 
the arrangement;

The Group recognises its involvement in a Joint Venture as an 
investment using the equity method.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes 
are charged as an expense as they fall due.

For defined benefit retirement benefit schemes, the cost of 
providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit 
Method, with independent actuarial valuations being carried 
out at each balance sheet date. Actuarial gains and losses are 
recognised in full in the period in which they occur. They are 
recognised outside the income statement and presented in the 
statement of comprehensive income and expense.

Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that 
the benefits are already vested, and otherwise is amortised on 
a straight line basis over the average period until the benefits 
become vested.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance 
sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation as adjusted for unrecognised past service cost, and 
as reduced by the fair value of scheme assets. Any surplus 
resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of 
any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the 
scheme or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Short term compensated absences

A liability for short term compensated absences, such as 
holiday, is recognised in trade and other payables for the 
amount the Group may be required to pay as a result of the 
unused entitlement that has accumulated at the balance 
sheet date.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing performance of the operating segments, and who 
has been identified by the Board of Directors.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled payments to certain 
employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured 
at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value determined at 
the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is 
expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based 
on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest.

The fair value of share options is measured by use of an 
appropriate financial model. The expected life used in the 
model has been adjusted, based on management’s best 
estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise 
restrictions and behavioural considerations.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the 
Group’s Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at 
their amortised cost as reduced by appropriate allowances for 
estimated irrecoverable amounts. A provision for impairment is 
established where there is objective evidence that the Group 
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the 
original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision 
is recognised in the income statement.

Bank borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, 
including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and 
direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accrual basis in the 
income statement and are added to the carrying amount of the 
instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period 
in which they arise.

Trade payables

Trade payables are not interest-bearing and are stated at their 
amortised cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order 
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure 
to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust 
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, 
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The key element of capital managed by the Group is its liquid 
cash resources and these are monitored on a daily basis.

The Group is subject to a number of restrictions from its 
lenders as to the amounts of cash that are held in certain 
jurisdictions and outside the security of the lender group.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders 
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s accounts in 
the period in which the dividends are approved by the 
Company’s shareholders.

Project claims

Project claims can be made as a consequence of disputes or 
shortcomings in project delivery and could impact upon the 
results of the Group. It is embedded in the Group’s culture 
that client relationships are developed so as to ensure client 

satisfaction. However, it is recognised that project claims are 
possible, and that these risks cannot completely be eliminated. 
In the event that such claims arise, in common with others 
operating in the sector, the Group has established professional 
indemnity insurance policies that are intended to protect 
against significant losses.

Significant judgements and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the accounts requires the Group to make 
estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses 
and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The 
directors base their estimates on historical experience and 
various other assumptions that they believe are reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis 
for making judgements about the carrying value of the assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different 
assumptions or conditions.

Areas of judgement and sources of estimation uncertainty that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the accounts are:

• Revenue recognition and the assessment of the percentage 
of contract completion achieved. The Group assesses contract 
progress and determines the proportion of contract work 
completed at the balance sheet date in relation to the total 
contract works.

• Review of asset carrying values and impairment charges. The 
Group performs impairment testing in accordance with the 
accounting policy described within the significant accounting 
policies in the notes to the accounts. The calculation of 
recoverable amounts requires the use of estimates and 
assumptions consistent with the most recent budgets and 
plans that have been formally approved by management.

• Professional indemnity claims. Provision is made on an 
assessment of claims and necessarily includes estimates as 
to the likely costs. An actuarial review of claims is performed 
annually. To the extent that actual claims differ from those 
projected, the provisions could vary significantly.

• For the WYD defined benefit pension scheme, pension 
valuations have been performed using specialist advice 
obtained from independent qualified actuaries.

• Work in progress and receivables valuation. The Group assess 
work in progress and trade receivables for exposure to losses. 
Provision is made in full for estimated losses.

• Vacant leasehold properties. The Group has a number 
of vacant leasehold properties, the majority of which are 
held under head leases expiring within the next five years. 
Provision has been made for the residual lease commitments 
together with other outgoings, after taking into account 
assumptions relating to later periods of sub-lease.
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2. DETAILED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue 
including 

share of joint 
ventures 

£’000

Operating 
profit 
£’000

Profit 
before tax 

£’000

Year ended 31 March 2016

Before separately disclosed items 133,482 7,221 7,020

Separately disclosed items - (4,798) (4,798)

Total 133,482 2,423 2,222

Year ended 31 March 2015

Before separately disclosed items 130,464 5,802 5,686

Separately disclosed items - (4,245) (4,245)

Total 130,464 1,557 1,441

Details of separately disclosed items
2016 

£’000
2015 
£’000

Share option costs (1,475) (2,924)

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets (1,533) (1,324)

Other (charges)/credits (1,790) 3

Separately disclosed items (4,798) (4,245)

The Group has incurred a number of material items in the year, whose significance is sufficient to warrant separate disclosure. 
The key elements included within separately disclosed items are:

• Annual charge in relation to share option costs

• Annual charge for the amortisation of acquired intangibles

• Items included in other (charges)/credits relate to bank refinancing costs, buyout of the WYD pension scheme, restructuring and 
acquisition related costs net of credits relating to the legal settlement of the 1986 pension scheme and the release of surplus 
vacant leasehold provisions.

3. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Business segments

IFRS 8 requires segment reporting to be based on the internal financial information reported to the chief operating decision 
maker. The Group’s chief operating decision maker is deemed to be the executive management team comprising Paul Hamer 
(Chief Executive Officer) and Sean Cummins (Group Finance Director). Its primary responsibility is to manage the Group’s 
day to day operations and analyse trading performance. The Group’s segments are detailed below and are those segments 
reported in the Group’s management accounts used by the senior management team as the primary means for analysing trading 
performance and allocating resources. The Executive Committee assesses profit performance using operating profit measured on 
a basis consistent with the disclosure in the Group accounts.

The Group’s operations are managed and reported by key market segments:

• UK

• EAA (Europe, Africa and Asia)

• MENA (Middle East & North Africa including Turkey).
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3. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION CONTINUED
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2016 are as follows:

UK 
2016 

£’000

EAA 
2016 

£’000

MENA 
2016 

£’000

Group 
2016 

£’000

Revenue

External revenue 96,328 23,941 13,213 133,482

Less share of joint venture revenues - (665) - (665)

96,328 23,276 13,213 132,817

Operating profit before central overheads and 
separately disclosed items 10,325 671 258 11,254

Central overheads (4,033)

Operating profit before separately disclosed items 7,221

Separately disclosed items (note 2) (4,798)

Operating profit 2,423

Finance costs (201)

Profit before tax 2,222

Tax 608

Profit for the year 2,830

Loss attributable to non controlling interests (2)

Profit attributable to the owners of the parent 2,832

Other information

Additions to property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 8,289 165 63 8,517

Depreciation and amortisation 2,979 262 100 3,341

Balance sheet

Assets

Segment assets 60,916 15,137 8,237 84,290

Unallocated corporate assets 10,461

Group total assets 94,751

Liabilities

Segment liabilities (37,972) (9,440) (5,210) (52,622)

Unallocated corporate liabilities (13,848)

Group total liabilities (66,470)

Unallocated corporate assets represent cash and cash equivalents, tax recoverable, retirement benefit assets and deferred tax 
assets. Unallocated corporate liabilities represent financial liabilities, retirement benefit obligations, corporation tax and deferred 
tax liabilities.
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3. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION CONTINUED
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2015 are as follows:

UK 
2015 

£’000

EAA 
2015 

£’000

MENA 
2015 

£’000

Group 
2015 

£’000

Revenue

External revenue 83,926 30,425 16,113 130,464

Less share of joint venture revenues - (1,787) - (1,787)

83,926 28,638 16,113 128,677

Operating profit before central overheads and 
separately disclosed items 7,696 1,591 450 9,737

Central overheads (3,935)

Operating profit before separately disclosed items 5,802

Separately disclosed items (note 2) (4,245)

Operating profit 1,557

Finance costs (116)

Profit before tax 1,441

Tax 504

Profit for the year 1,945

Profit attributable to non controlling interests 22

Profit attributable to the owners of the parent 1,923

Other information

Additions to property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 3,171 81 22 3,274

Depreciation and amortisation 2,739 302 84 3,125

Balance sheet

Assets

Segment assets 41,145 14,805 7,678 63,628

Unallocated corporate assets 12,916

Group total assets 76,544

Liabilities

Segment liabilities (30,937) (11,605) (5,802) (48,344)

Unallocated corporate liabilities (5,654)

Group total liabilities (53,998)

Unallocated corporate assets represent cash and cash equivalents, tax recoverable and deferred tax assets. Unallocated corporate 
liabilities represent financial liabilities, retirement benefit obligations, corporation tax and deferred tax liabilities.
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4. OPERATING EXPENSES

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Staff costs (note 5) 58,627 56,316

Other external and operating charges 68,409 68,097

Depreciation 1,362 1,321

Amortisation of intangible assets 1,979 1,804

130,377 127,538

Operating profit has been arrived at after charging:

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,362 1,321

Amortisation of intangible assets 1,979 1,804

Loss on disposal of property, plant, equipment and intangibles 58 3

Operating lease rentals – plant and machinery 745 1,008

Operating lease rentals – other 3,927 4,168

During the year, the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Company’s auditor and 
its associates:

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the parent company and 
consolidated accounts 20 20

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services:

The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 156 131

Tax advisory services 29 21

205 172

5. STAFF COSTS
The average monthly number of employees was:

Group

2016 
Number

2015 
Number

Technical 1,185 1,106

Administrative 321 313

1,506 1,419
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5. STAFF COSTS CONTINUED
The actual number of employees at 31 March was:

Group

2016 
Number

2015 
Number

Technical 1,257 1,159

Administrative 339 322

1,596 1,481

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

£’000 £’000

Wages and salaries 47,556 44,903

Social security costs 6,605 5,708

Pension costs 2,991 2,781

Share option costs (note 2) 1,475 2,924

58,627 56,316

In addition to the above permanent staff, the Group utilises the services of agency and temporary contract staff as 
circumstances require.

Details of Directors’ remuneration are given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. Only the information included within the 
Directors’ remuneration table on page 80 consisting of the emoluments, pension and benefits in kind has been audited and forms 
part of these financial statements.

The Directors have identified 14 (2015: 14) key management personnel, this comprises the two executive directors and senior 
operational management of the wider group whose cost to the group was as follows:

Group

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Short term employment benefits 1,983 1,979

Social security costs 338 314

Post employment benefits 148 182

2,469 2,475

6. FINANCE COSTS

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Interest on bank loans, bonds, guarantees and overdrafts 180 110

Interest on defined benefit scheme liabilities 21 6

201 116
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7. TAX

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Current tax:

Foreign taxes written off to the income statement 9 82

Overseas tax on profits for the year 315 250

Total current tax 324 332

Deferred tax:

Movement in deferred tax (932) (620)

Adjustment in respect of prior years - (216)

Total tax credit (608) (504)

Tax for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Factors affecting the current tax charge for the period

The tax charge for the period is lower (2015: lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK when applied to reported 
profit. The differences are explained below:

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Profit before tax 2,222 1,441

Profit before tax multiplied by the standard rate of UK corporation tax rate of 20% (2015: 21%) 444 303

Short term timing differences 383 560

Fixed asset timing differences (408) (424)

Losses carried forward (255) (480)

Other permanent differences 183 687

Foreign taxes 9 82

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions (32) (396)

Total current tax charge 324 332

Prior year deferred tax – other - (216)

Current year deferred tax (914) (450)

Foreign deferred tax - (157)

Exchange differences (18) -

Effect of change in tax rate - (13)

Total tax credit (608) (504)

Factors affecting current and future tax charges:

During the year, as a result of the change in the UK main corporation tax rate announced in the March 2013 Budget, the relevant 
deferred tax balances have been re-measured. The effect of the change is to reduce the rate to 21% from 1 April 2014, with a 
further reduction to 20% from 1 April 2015. Legislation was introduced in the Summer Finance Bill 2015 that will reduce the rate 
to 19% from 1 April 2017 and 18% from 1 April 2020. UK deferred tax assets and liabilities have been calculated at 31 March 2015 
and 31 March 2016 at the rates applicable to the periods in which the underlying temporary differences are projected to reverse. 
The Finance Bill 2016 contains provisions to further reduce the rate of corporation tax to 17% with effect from 1 April 2020. It is 
expected that the Finance Act 2016 will be substantively enacted in October 2016. As substantive enactment of Finance Act 2016 
will be after the balance sheet date the reduction to 17% has been disregarded in calculating the deferred tax position.

Any rate changes that are not substantively enacted at the balance sheet date are not recognised in these financial statements.
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8. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share being profit for the year 2,832 1,923

Adjustment relating to separately disclosed items (see note 2) 4,798 4,245

Tax impact of separately disclosed items (599) (92)

Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted adjusted earnings per share 7,031 6,076

2016 
Number

2015 
Number

Number of shares

Weighted average number of shares for basic earnings per share 70,638,773 65,803,072

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Share options 1,317,148 5,071,767

Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings per share 71,955,921 70,874,839

Earnings per share

Basic 4.0p 2.9p

Diluted 3.9p 2.7p

Adjusted earnings per share

Basic 10.0p 9.2p

Diluted 9.8p 8.6p

The adjusted earnings per share is calculated after excluding separately disclosed items. This more accurately reflects the 
underlying performance of the Group.

9. DIVIDENDS
The final dividend of 0.7p per share for the year ended 31 March 2015 (2014: 0.5p per share) was paid in November 2015. The 
interim dividend of 0.5p per share for the year ended 31 March 2016 (2015: 0.3p) was paid in March 2016. These have been 
recognised as distributions in the year, the amounts recognised during the year were £821,000 (2015: £534,000).

The directors have proposed a final dividend of 1.0p per share for the year ended 31 March 2016 (2015: 0.7p). This has not yet 
been approved and so is not included as a liability in the financial statements.

10. HOLDING COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT
The directors have taken advantage of Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and have not prepared a separate income 
statement or statement of comprehensive income for the Company. The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders 
includes a loss of £410,000 (2015: £369,000 loss) attributable to the Company.
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11. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
On 8 June 2015, WYG Environment Planning Transport Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, acquired 100% of the 
share capital of FMW Consultancy Limited.

The following table sets out the provisional fair value of the net assets acquired and the resulting goodwill:

Carrying 
value pre 

acquisition 
£’000

Fair value 
adjustments 

£’000

Total fair 
value 
£’000

WIP 30 - 30

Trade and other receivables 296 - 296

Trade and other payables (306) - (306)

Cash 302 - 302

Deferred tax - (218) (218)

322 (218) 104

Goodwill - 417 417

Customer relationships - 1,105 1,105

Order book - 42 42

Total 322 1,346 1,668

Satisfied by:

Cash 1,121

Deferred consideration 547

Total 1,668

The deferred consideration is not dependent on the performance of the acquired business.
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11. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS CONTINUED
On 29 October 2015, WYG Management Services Limited acquired 100% of the share capital of North Associates (Cumbria) 
Limited and its subsidiary Taylor and Hardy Limited.

The following table sets out the provisional fair value of the net assets acquired and the resulting goodwill:

Carrying 
value pre 

acquisition 
£’000

Fair value 
adjustments 

£’000

Total fair 
value 
£’000

Property, plant and equipment 68 - 68

WIP 101 - 101

Trade and other receivables 213 - 213

Trade and other payables (375) - (375)

Deferred tax - (517) (517)

7 (517) (510)

Goodwill - 2,355 2,355

Customer relationships - 1,644 1,644

Order book - 1,074 1,074

Total 7 4,556 4,563

Satisfied by:

Cash 2,300

Deferred consideration 2,263

Total 4,563

The deferred consideration is contingent on the future performance of the business and on the collection of certain working 
capital balances. The amount included above is not expected to be materially different from the ultimate payment.
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11. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS CONTINUED
On 5 January 2016, WYG Environment Planning Transport Limited acquired 100% of the share capital of SCA Planning Limited and 
its trading subsidiary Signet Planning Limited.

The following table sets out the provisional fair value of the net assets acquired and the resulting goodwill:

Carrying 
value pre 

acquisition 
£’000

Fair value 
adjustments 

£’000

Total fair 
value 
£’000

Property, plant and equipment 98 - 98

WIP 80 - 80

Trade and other receivables 899 - 899

Trade and other payables (1,022) - (1,022)

Cash 819 - 819

Deferred tax - (413) (413)

874 (413) 461

Goodwill - 1,526 1,526

Customer relationships - 2,053 2,053

Order book - 122 122

Total 874 3,288 4,162

Satisfied by:

Cash 3,508

Deferred consideration 654

Total 4,162

The deferred consideration is contingent on the future performance of the business and on the collection of certain working 
capital balances. The amount included above is not expected to be materially different from the ultimate payment

All assets and liabilities including tangible assets were recognised at their respective fair values. The residual excess over the net 
assets acquired is recognised as goodwill in the accounts.

Since acquisition the operations of the businesses has been integrated into the Group’s existing operations. As a result it is not 
possible to isolate the cash flows of the acquired businesses. The current year income statement includes revenue of £3.2m and 
an operating profit before separately disclosed items of £1.1m from the businesses acquired in the year.

Had all the acquisitions been made at 1 April 2015, the Group’s revenue and operating profit before separately disclosed items 
would have been reported as £138.9m and £9.1m respectively. This information is not necessarily indicative of the result of the 
operations that would have occurred or the future result of the entity.

In addition, other cash outflows in the year of £2,067,000 relate to deferred consideration payable in respect of the acquisitions of 
Upper Quartile LLP, Delta UK Limited and Alliance Environment and Planning Limited.
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12. GOODWILL

£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2014 64,534

Acquisition of business 1,099

At 31 March 2015 65,633

Acquisition of business (note 11) 4,298

At 31 March 2016 69,931

Accumulated impairment losses at 31 March 2015, 31 March 2016 (51,738)

Net book value

At 31 March 2016 18,193

At 31 March 2015 13,895

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and whenever there are indications that it may have suffered an impairment. Goodwill 
is considered impaired to the extent that its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of the value in 
use and the fair value less costs to sell of the cash generating unit (CGU) to which it is allocated. The CGU relates to the reporting 
segments as reported in note 3. In the impairment tests of goodwill performed, the recoverable amount was determined based 
on the value in use calculations.

The value in use calculations are based on cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent twelve month financial plans 
approved by the Board.

Cash flows for the periods beyond the twelve month financial plans for the CGUs to which significant amounts of goodwill were 
allocated were calculated as follows: cash flows from years two and thereafter were projected to remain constant per annum so 
prudently not exceeding the long term growth rates in the principal end markets in the UK.

Discount rates were applied to the resulting cash flow projections that reflect current market assessments of the time value of 
money. Pre tax discount rates used in the annual impairment were 15% (2015: 14%).

Following the review at 31 March 2016, management concluded that no further impairment was necessary.

Management has assessed the sensitivity of the recoverable amounts to key assumptions to be as follows: a one percentage 
point increase in the pre tax discount rate of 15% would reduce the recoverable amount by £1,322,000; a one percentage fall in 
operating margin across the CGUs would reduce the recoverable amount by £5,972,000; and a one percentage point fall in the 
assumed long term growth rate of 0% would reduce the recoverable amount by £4,056,000.

The net book value of goodwill relates to the UK £17,062,000 (2015: £12,764,000) and EAA £1,131,000 (2015: £1,131,000).
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13. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Order books 
£’000

Customer 
relationships 

£’000

Total acquired 
intangibles 

£’000

Computer 
software 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2014 3,396 12,144 15,540 2,413 17,953

Additions 48 1,567 1,615 287 1,902

Exchange differences (12) (54) (66) (99) (165)

Disposals - - - (262) (262)

At 31 March 2015 3,432 13,657 17,089 2,339 19,428

Additions 1,238 4,802 6,040 385 6,425

Exchange differences - - - 83 83

Disposals - - - (378) (378)

At 31 March 2016 4,670 18,459 23,129 2,429 25,558

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 April 2014 3,310 8,221 11,531 1,620 13,151

Charge for the year 134 1,190 1,324 480 1,804

Exchange differences (12) (6) (18) (83) (101)

Disposals - - - (262) (262)

At 31 March 2015 3,432 9,405 12,837 1,755 14,592

Charge for the year 215 1,318 1,533 446 1,979

Exchange differences - - - 70 70

Disposals - - - (378) (378)

At 31 March 2016 3,647 10,723 14,370 1,893 16,263

Net book value

At 31 March 2016 1,023 7,736 8,759 536 9,295

At 31 March 2015 - 4,252 4,252 584 4,836

At 31 March 2014 86 3,923 4,009 793 4,802

Where appropriate, intangible assets identified in business combinations have been recognised in accordance with the provisions 
of IFRS 3 (Business combinations) and IAS 38 (Intangible assets). Intangible assets have only been recognised where they have 
identifiable future economic benefits that are controlled by the entity, it is probable that these benefits will flow to the entity and 
their fair value can be measured reliably.

There were no intangible assets in the Company (2015: nil).
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Short 
leasehold 

improvements 
£’000

Motor 
vehicles 

£’000

Office 
furniture and 

equipment 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2014 3,112 598 2,787 6,497

Additions 399 34 939 1,372

Acquisition of new business - - 63 63

Exchange differences - (72) (223) (295)

Disposals - (2) (508) (510)

At 31 March 2015 3,511 558 3,058 7,127

Additions 1,035 52 1,005 2,092

Acquisition of new business (note 11) - - 166 166

Exchange differences - (8) 212 204

Disposals (19) (60) (658) (737)

At 31 March 2016 4,527 542 3,783 8,852

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2014 2,324 423 1,508 4,255

Charge for the year 414 63 844 1,321

Exchange differences - (51) (198) (249)

Disposals - - (507) (507)

At 31 March 2015 2,738 435 1,647 4,820

Charge for the year 388 64 910 1,362

Exchange differences - 2 166 168

Disposals 3 (47) (635) (679)

At 31 March 2016 3,129 454 2,088 5,671

Net book value

At 31 March 2016 1,398 88 1,695 3,181

At 31 March 2015 773 123 1,411 2,307

At 31 March 2014 788 175 1,279 2,242

The net book value of the Group’s property, plant and equipment includes an amount of £nil (2015: nil) in respect of assets held 
under finance leases. Depreciation charged in the year on these assets amounted to £nil (2015: nil).

The Company had no property, plant and equipment at either year end.
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15. INVESTMENTS AND JOINT ARRANGEMENTS
Investments

Company investment in subsidiary undertakings

Cost 
£’000

Provision 
£’000

Value 
£’000

At 1 April 2014, 31 March 2015, 31 March 2016 161,796 (109,062) 52,734

The Company’s principal subsidiaries are:

Subsidiary Country of incorporation % Holding Activity

WYG Group Limited England and Wales 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG Engineering Limited England and Wales 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG Environment Planning Transport Limited England and Wales 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG Management Services Limited England and Wales 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG International Limited England and Wales 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG Engineering (Northern Ireland) Limited Northern Ireland 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG Environmental & Planning (Northern 
Ireland) Limited Northern Ireland 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG Management Services (Northern 
Ireland) Limited Northern Ireland 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG International Danismanlik Limited 
Sirketi Turkey 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG International Sp.z.o.o. Poland 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

PSDB Sp z.o.o. Poland 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG Consulting Sp z.o.o Poland 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG HR Consulting Sp z.o.o. Poland 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG International Consulting SRL Romania 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG Bulgaria EOOD Bulgaria 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG Savjetovanje d.o.o. Croatia 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

o.o.o.IEEC Russia 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

o.o.o.WYG Russia 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

IMC Montan Limited England and Wales 50 Multi-disciplinary consultants

Delta Partnership Solutions Limited England and Wales 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

Alliance Environment and Planning Limited England and Wales 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

Arndale 22 Limited England and Wales 95 Multi-disciplinary consultants

FMW Consultancy Limited England and Wales 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

North Associates (Cumbria) Limited England and Wales 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

Taylor & Hardy Limited England and Wales 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

SCA Planning Limited England and Wales 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

Signet Planning Limited England and Wales 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG Advisory Services (Proprietary) Limited South Africa 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG East Africa Limited Kenya 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants
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15. INVESTMENTS AND JOINT ARRANGEMENTS CONTINUED

Subsidiary Country of incorporation % Holding Activity

WYG International Projects Limited England and Wales 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG Projects Uganda Limited Uganda 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

Africa Infrastructure Technical Services South Africa 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG Group JLT United Arab Emirates 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG Kazakhstan LLP Kazakhstan 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

WYG Kenya Limited Kenya 100 Multi-disciplinary consultants

Alliance Planning Limited England and Wales 100 Dormant

Ernest Green Partnership Limited England and Wales 100 Dormant

Hawthorne Kamm Limited England and Wales 100 Dormant

International Economic & Energy Consulting 
Limited England and Wales 100 Dormant

International Management Consultants 
Limited England and Wales 100 Dormant

Management Consultants Group Limited England and Wales 100 Dormant

Savell Bird & Axon Limited England and Wales 100 Dormant

Trench Farrow Limited England and Wales 100 Dormant

Tweeds Project Services Limited England and Wales 100 Dormant

White Young Green International Limited England and Wales 100 Dormant

White Young Green Limited England and Wales 100 Dormant

White Young Green Quest Trustee Limited England and Wales 100 Dormant

White Young Trustee Limited England and Wales 100 Dormant

WYG 22 Limited England and Wales 100 Dormant

WYG Projects Nigeria Limited Nigeria 100 Dormant

WYG Zimbabwe (Private) Limited Zimbabwe 100 Dormant

Wynthomasgordonlewis Limited England and Wales 100 Dormant

Waste Management Research Limited England and Wales 100 Research and business support

The investments in all of the above companies (excluding WYG Group Limited which is held directly) are held through 
subsidiary undertakings.

Joint arrangements

The significant arrangements over which the Group currently exercise joint control are shown below:

Joint arrangement Nature Activity % control Principal location

IMCGL JV
Unincorporated joint 
operation

Multi-disciplinary 
consultants 50 Russia

IMC Montan JV
Incorporated joint 
venture

Multi-disciplinary 
consultants 50 Russia

The Group recognises its share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its involvement in the above joint 
operation. The incorporated joint venture is accounted for as an investment using the equity method.

IMC Montan JV, the 50% owned joint venture had revenue of £1.3m (2015: £3.6m), an operating loss of £37,000 (2015: profit 
£1m) and loss after tax of £3,000 (2015: profit £0.8m). The joint venture paid dividends to its owners of £156,000 (2015: £nil).

The joint venture had current assets of £894,000 (2015:£1.1m) and current liabilities of £80,000 (2015: £0.3m) at 31 March 2016.
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16. DEFERRED TAX
The following are the principal deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the 
current year and prior period:

Accelerated 
Tax 

depreciation 
£’000

Share-
based 

payments 
£’000

Tax 
deductible 

goodwill 
£’000

Retirement 
benefit 

obligations 
£’000

Intangible 
assets 
£’000

Other 
temporary 
differences 

£’000
Losses 
£’000

Deferred 
tax assets 

not 
recognised 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Deferred tax 
asset at 
1 April 2014 2,147 1,562 577 661 - 55 9,545 (14,547) -

Deferred tax 
liability at 
1 April 2014 - - - - (800) (307) - - (1,107)

Acquisitions (10) - - - (312) - - - (322)

Credit/(Charge) 
to income 125 613 (40) (212) 277 216 (937) 807 849

Charge/(Credit) 
to equity - - - 144 - - - (144) -

Effect of change 
in tax rates 12 (29) 2 10 (13) - (235) 240 (13)

As at 
31 March 2015 2,274 2,146 539 603 (848) (36) 8,373 (13,644) (593)

Deferred tax 
asset at 
31 March 2015 2,284 2,146 539 603 - 210 8,373 (13,644) 511

Deferred tax 
liability at 
31 March 2015 (10) - - - (848) (246) - - (1,104)

Acquisitions (11) - - - (1,117) 63 - 11 (1,054)

Credit/(Charge) 
to income 133 (565) (40) 309 306 232 (642) 1,181 914

Charge/(Credit) 
to equity - - - (701) - - - 129 (572)

Effect of change 
in tax rates (242) (158) (50) (49) - (6) (733) 1,238 -

Foreign exchange - - - - - 18 - - 18

As at 
31 March 2016 2,154 1,423 449 162 (1,659) 271 6,998 (11,085) (1,287)

Deferred tax 
asset at 31 
March 2016 2,164 1,423 449 442 - 833 6,998 (11,085) 1,224

Deferred tax 
liability at 31 
March 2016 (10) - - (280) (1,659) (562) - - (2,511)

2,154 1,423 449 162 (1,659) 271 6,998 (11,085) (1,287)

The Company had no deferred tax assets or liabilities at either year end.
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17. WORK IN PROGRESS

Group Company

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Work-in-progress 32,116 23,224 - -

Provision (1,744) (2,079) - -

Net work-in-progress 30,372 21,145 - -

The value of work in progress comprises the costs incurred on a contract plus an appropriate proportion of overheads and 
attributable profit. Profit is recognised on a percentage completion basis when the outcome of a contract or project can be 
reasonably foreseen. Provision is made in full for estimated losses.

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Amounts falling due within one year

Amounts receivable on contracts 20,699 19,415 - -

Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables (1,004) (956) - -

Trade receivables – net 19,695 18,459 - -

Prepayments and accrued income 1,292 1,789 - -

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 2,164 3,630

Other receivables 1,855 779 - -

22,842 21,027 2,164 3,630

At 31 March 2016 trade receivables of £1,307,000 (2015: £1,215,000) were considered for potential impairment. The amount 
provided for these balances was £1,004,000 (2015: £956,000). The allocation of the provision according to invoice due date is 
as follows:

Group Company

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Between 0 and 30 days - 55 - -

Between 31 and 60 days - 48 - -

Between 61 and 120 days - 82 - -

Between 121 and 150 days 156 195 - -

Between 151 and 330 days 435 181 - -

Greater than 330 days 413 395 - -

1,004 956 - -
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES CONTINUED
At 31 March 2016 trade receivables of £7.7m (2015: £6.8m) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of 
independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables according to 
invoice due date is as follows:

Group Company

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Between 0 and 30 days 4,335 2,831 - -

Between 31 and 60 days 947 972 - -

Between 61 and 120 days 1,181 914 - -

Between 121 and 150 days 868 1,340 - -

Between 151 and 330 days 89 757 - -

Greater than 330 days 276 32 - -

7,696 6,846 - -

At 31 March 2016 trade receivables of £12m (2015: £11.6m) were neither past due nor impaired.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Sterling 16,542 12,911 - -

Euro 2,244 4,599 - -

Polish Zloty 786 1,284 - -

Other 1,127 621 - -

20,699 19,415 - -

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

Group Company

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

At 1 April 956 1,901 - -

Provision for receivables impairment 400 305 - -

Utilised in the year (391) (1,086) - -

Exchange differences 39 (164) - -

As at 31 March 1,004 956 - -

The creation of provision for impaired receivables has been included in operating expenses in the income statement.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. There is no material difference between the 
carrying value and the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at the balance sheet date.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The 
Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Current

Trade payables 9,361 8,448 - -

Payments received on account 12,425 10,297 - -

Social security and other taxes 5,864 5,177 - -

Accruals and other payables 15,568 14,019 - 1,654

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - 15,715 15,882

Deferred consideration 3,464 1,815 - -

46,682 39,756 15,715 17,536

Included in Payments received on account are £9.0m (2015: £5.4m) of amounts which are secured with an advance 
payment bond.

20. PROVISIONS, LIABILITIES AND OTHER CHARGES

Claims 
£’000

Vacant 
leasehold 

properties 
£’000

Total 
£’000

At 1 April 2014 4,395 7,589 11,984

Utilised during the year (790) (1,806) (2,596)

Release of provision (400) (400) (800)

At 31 March 2015 3,205 5,383 8,588

Utilised during the year (766) (1,350) (2,116)

Release of provision (270) (262) (532)

At 31 March 2016 2,169 3,771 5,940

Claims

Provisions are made for current and estimated obligations in respect of claims made by contractors and the general public relating 
to accident and other insurable risks arising as a result of the business activities of the Group.

Vacant leasehold properties

The Group has a number of vacant leasehold properties, the majority of which are held under head leases expiring within the 
next three years. Provision has been made for the residual lease commitments together with other outgoings, after taking into 
account assumptions relating to later periods of sub-lease.
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21. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Group Company

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Current

Bank loans and overdrafts (all payable on demand) 3,000 - - -

Redemption liability 50 - - -

3,050 - - -

Non-current

Bank loans 5,000 - - -

Redemption liability - 514 - -

5,000 514 - -

Financial liabilities are repayable as follows:

On demand or within one year 3,050 - - -

In the second year 5,000 514 - -

8,050 514 - -

The redemption liability relates to the fair value of an option to purchase the remaining 5% (2015: 25%) of Arndale 22 Limited.

Analysis of financial liabilities by currency:

Sterling 
£’000

Euros 
£’000

US Dollars 
£’000

Total 
£’000

31 March 2015

Bank overdrafts - - - -

Redemption liability 514 - - 514

514 - - 514

31 March 2016

Bank loans and overdrafts 8,000 - - 8,000

Redemption liability 50 - - 50

8,050 - - 8,050

The Group has outstanding issued bonds and guarantees to the value of £13,605,000 (2015: £7,600,000). No liability is expected 
to arise from these bonds and guarantees.

Included in bank loans and overdrafts is £8,000,000 of loans drawn under the Group’s HSBC 5 year facility. The facility allows 
for amounts to be drawn for variable periods, with each amount attracting an interest cost of LIBOR plus a 1.65% margin. At 
31 March 2016, whilst the loans have been drawn for short term durations, it is management’s current intention that £5,000,000 
will continually be renewed for a period of more than one year. Consequently this amount has been disclosed as a non-
current liability.
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group is exposed to a number of different market risks in the normal course of business including foreign currency risks, 
credit risks and cash flow and interest rate risks.

Risk management is carried out by Group Treasury under policies approved by the Board of directors. These principles 
are embedded in the Group Treasury and Cash Management Operating Guidelines and Procedures. The Board provides 
written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as currency exposure 
management, interest rate risk, working capital control and investment of excess liquidity.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s overall risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse affects on the Group’s financial 
performance. Policy is to manage centrally the Group’s liquidity, funding and exposure to foreign currency risk in a manner which 
ensures straightforward administration, minimisation of risk and operational flexibility.

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in currencies other 
than Sterling. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily the Euro, though most of the Group’s trading is denominated in the 
currencies relevant to the local subsidiaries, thus matching the currency with its cost base. As a result the Group does not hedge 
everyday foreign currency transactions.

The table below shows the extent to which Group companies have monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than the 
local functional currency:

Functional currency of Group operations

Sterling 
2016 

£’000

Euro 
2016 

£’000

Sterling 
2015 
£’000

Euro 
2015 
£’000

Sterling - 532 - 2,014

Euro 149 - 451 -

US Dollar - 892 - 741

Polish Zloty - (69) - 3,323

Turkish Lira - (238) - 63

Russian Rouble - - - (1)

Other - 471 - 730

149 1,588 451 6,870

At 31 March 2016 if Sterling had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the Euro, with all other variables held constant, post-tax 
profit for the year would not have been affected significantly.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and credit exposure to customers, including outstanding receivables and invoiced work 
performed for these parties.

The Group has a customer credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. At 31 March 
2016 there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of each 
financial asset included on the balance sheet.

Liquidity risk

Established procedures are in place to ensure that the operational and working capital requirements of the Group can be met at 
all times. These include:

• regular review, monitoring and forecasting of working capital requirements across Group companies;

• use of short term, local bank facilities.
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
Cash flow and interest rate risk

At 31 March 2016 the Group had committed bonding and debt facilities of £33.0m (2015: £25.0m bonding only).

In July 2015, a new £25m five year committed multicurrency revolving credit facility from HSBC was secured. It offered broad 
flexibility between debt and bonding requirements. The flexible debt facility allows for amounts to be drawn for variable periods, 
allowing the Group to manage cash flows and interest costs.

At 31 March 2016 all financial liabilities are floating rate liabilities (2015: £Nil).

Fair values

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group are considered to be materially equivalent to their book value.

23. SHARE CAPITAL

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary:

68,384,528 (2015: 67,011,654) new ordinary shares of 0.1p each 68 67

4,540,758 (2015: 4,540,758) convertible shares of 0.1p each 5 5

73 72

The ordinary shares have full voting rights and are entitled to participate in a return of capital or assets.

The convertible shares are subject to certain conditions, and have rights of conversion into ordinary shares. The convertible 
shares have no voting, economic or other rights save certain circumstances, and are not entitled to participate in a return of 
capital or assets. The convertible shares are not listed on AIM or any other investment exchange and the holder is entitled to 
convert the convertible shares into ordinary shares at any time provided that:

• The Company’s volume weighted average ordinary share price rises above £1.50 for a period of at least 25 consecutive trading 
days between the second and tenth anniversary following the placing in July 2011; or

• An offer is made to acquire the entire issued share capital of the Company which becomes unconditional in all respects (or, if 
conducted by way of a scheme of arrangement, such scheme of arrangement becomes effective); or

• The ordinary shares cease to be listed either on AIM or the main market of the London Stock Exchange.

The convertible shares have been recorded as equity as the holders do not have an unconditional right to require 
their redemption.

The issue in shares in the year was made to satisfy the exercise of share options (note 30).
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24. RESERVES

2016 2015

Group

Retained 
earnings 

£’000

Hedging & 
translation 

reserve 
£’000

Non 
controlling 

interest 
£’000

Retained 
earnings 

£’000

Hedging & 
translation 

reserve 
£’000

Non 
controlling 

interest 
£’000

At 1 April 21,730 580 164 18,381 1,378 258

Retained profit/(loss) for the year 2,832 - (2) 1,923 - 22

Tax on items taken directly to equity (572) - - - - -

Remeasurement of net defined 
benefit pension liability 845 - - 1,275 - -

Impact of defined benefit asset 
ceiling 2,060 - - (1,995) - -

Currency translation differences - (195) - - (798) -

Purchase of treasury shares - - - (211) - -

Share based payments 1,587 - - 2,891 - -

Dividends (821) - - (534) - (116)

Reduction in minority shareholding 130 - (130) - - -

At 31 March 27,791 385 32 21,730 580 164

2016 2015

Company

Retained 
earnings 

£’000

Hedging & 
translation 

reserve 
£’000

Retained 
earnings 

£’000

Hedging & 
translation 

reserve 
£’000

At 1 April 39,102 13 37,325 13

Retained loss for the year (410) - (369) -

Purchase of treasury shares - - (211) -

Share based payments 1,587 - 2,891 -

Dividends (821) - (534) -

At 31 March 39,458 13 39,102 13
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25. STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Group Company

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Profit/(loss) attributable to the owners of the parent 2,832 1,923 (410) (369)

Currency translation differences (195) (798) - -

Tax on items taken directly to equity (572) - - -

Remeasurement of net defined benefit pension liability 845 1,275 - -

Defined benefit asset ceiling 2,060 (1,995) - -

Share-based payments charge 1,587 2,891 1,587 2,891

Purchase of treasury shares - (211) - (211)

Dividends (821) (534) (821) (534)

Issue of shares 1 2 1 2

Reduction in minority shareholding 130 - - -

Net addition to shareholders’ equity 5,867 2,553 357 1,779

Equity attributable to equity shareholders at beginning of year 22,382 19,829 39,187 37,408

Equity attributable to equity shareholders at end of 
year 28,249 22,382 39,544 39,187

Non controlling interest 32 164 - -

Total equity 28,281 22,546 39,544 39,187

26. CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

Group Company

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Profit/(loss) from operations 2,423 1,557 (410) (369)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,362 1,321 - -

Amortisation of intangible assets 1,979 1,804 - -

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 58 3 - -

Share options charge 1,475 2,924 - -

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 7,297 7,609 (410) (369)

Increase in work in progress (7,508) (1,201) - -

Decrease/(increase) in receivables 365 551 1,464 (1,243)

(Decrease)/increase in payables (1,120) (4,555) (1,052) 1,612

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (966) 2,404 2 -
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27. ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN NET CASH/(DEBT)

At 
1 April 

2015 
£’000

Cash flows 
£’000

Other 
non-cash 

items 
£’000

At 
31 March 

2016 
£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 12,324 (4,639) 546 8,231

Bank loans and overdrafts - (8,000) - (8,000)

Net cash/(debt) 12,324 (12,639) 546 231

Cash in restricted access accounts (882) (101) (87) (1,070)

Unrestricted net cash/(debt) 11,442 (12,740) 459 (839)

Restricted cash relates to restricted access accounts in WYG International Limited. Other non-cash movements represent 
currency exchange differences.

28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND GUARANTEES
The Company and its subsidiary undertakings cross guarantee to the Group’s principal bankers the loans and overdrafts, if any, 
of each Company covered by the guarantee. At 31 March 2016 the Group’s loans and overdrafts amounted to £8,000,000 (2015: 
£662,000).

The Group has outstanding bonds and guarantees to the value of £13,605,000 (2015: £7,600,000) in the ordinary course of 
business. No liability is expected to arise from these bonds and guarantees.

29. FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
At 31 March 2016, the Group and the Company had capital commitments outstanding of £nil (2015: £nil). The Company had no 
capital commitments at either year end.

At 31 March 2016, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases, which fall due as follows:

2016 2015

Land and 
buildings 

£’000
Other 
£’000

Land and 
buildings 

£’000
Other 
£’000

Within one year 3,775 779 3,569 1,004

In the second to fifth years inclusive 5,195 931 6,551 722

After five years 158 - - -

9,128 1,710 10,120 1,726

The Company had no such commitments at either year end.
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
At the AGM in September 2015, shareholders approved new incentive arrangements which comprised three key elements: an 
annual bonus scheme with deferred cash and share-based payments, a more standard long term incentive plan (Performance 
Share Plan) with stretching three year targets for earnings per share and shareholder returns, and a retention scheme for other 
key senior employees.

The new schemes replaced the existing Transformation Incentive Plan (TIP) and required 12.2 million options previously awarded 
under the TIP to be surrendered. The surrender was equivalent to 17.9% of the issued share capital and thus substantially 
removed the potential dilutive effect of the TIP scheme which had become an impediment to optimising shareholder value.

At 31 March 2016 outstanding options and awards to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company, granted in accordance with 
the rules of the relevant share option schemes were as follows:

Transformation 
Incentive Plan

Matching 
share awards

Performance 
Share Plan

Restricted 
Share Plan

Deferred 
Annual Bonus 

Share Plan Total

Exercise price 0.1p 0.1p - - -

At 1 April 2014 19,591,440 500,000 - - - 20,091,440

Awarded 2,092,127 - - - - 2,092,127

Lapsed (999,718) - - - - (999,718)

Exercised (2,639,144) - - - - (2,639,144)

At 31 March 2015 18,044,705 500,000 - - - 18,544,705

At 1 April 2015 18,044,705 500,000 - - - 18,544,705

Awarded - - 1,407,934 1,234,000 - 2,641,934

Lapsed (373,450) - - (93,500) - (466,950)

Exercised (1,372,874) - - - - (1,372,874)

Surrendered (12,194,474) - - - - (12,194,474)

At 31 March 2016 4,103,907 500,000 1,407,934 1,140,500 - 7,152,341

Exercisable at 
31 March 2016 1,804,245 500,000 - - - 2,304,245

Transformation Incentive Plan (TIP)

On 12 July 2011 the Company established the TIP in order to incentivise the Company’s most senior executives. The TIP operates 
as a standard long-term incentive plan under which share option awards are granted. The exercise price for awards is a nominal 
amount. Awards under the TIP were originally intended to vest on the achievement of share price threshold targets for the 
Ordinary Shares (based on when the options were issued).

Following the achievement of share price thresholds, award shares which have vested will only be released to participants after a 
further twelve months.

As noted above, on 24 September 2015, 12.2m options previously awarded under the TIP were surrendered. The remaining 
options under the TIP scheme have performance thresholds of £1.25, £1.30, £1.35 and £1.50. At 31 March 2016 all the 
performance thresholds had been met for the remaining awards apart from the £1.50 target.

The options issued under the TIP attract a charge under IFRS. The fair value of these share options has been calculated using the 
Monte-Carlo pricing model. The key assumptions within the model are the risk free rate of interest (1%) and the company’s share 
price volatility (30- 65%).
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED
Matching share award

In addition, on 12 July 2011, the Company established a separate share matching arrangement for the Chairman to ensure his 
continued retention within the business (the ‘Matching Share Award’). Under the Matching Share Award, in consideration for the 
Chairman investing £100,000 to acquire new Ordinary Shares, the Chairman was granted a share option award of 2.5 matching 
Ordinary Shares for each new Ordinary Share so acquired, being a total of 500,000 Ordinary Shares (‘Matching Shares’). The 
Matching Share Award has a nominal value exercise price. There are no performance conditions that apply to this award. The 
Matching Shares vested on 12 July 2014 (being the third anniversary of the admission of the New Ordinary Shares to trading 
on AIM).

Performance share plan (PSP)

A new Performance Share Plan (PSP) covering the senior executive and leadership teams only was established on 24 September 
2015. Awards under the PSP will only vest on the achievement of earnings per share (EPS) growth and total shareholder return 
(TSR) targets measured over three years and are dependent on continued employment.

The targets are summarised as follows:

Performance level Potential vesting of award 
(50% TSR; 50% EPS)

TSR attainment EPS attainment 
(3 year growth)

Maximum 100% Upper Quartile or above 50% or more growth

Intermediate Between 25% and 100% on a 
straight line basis

Median to Upper Quartile Between 25% and 50% growth

Threshold 25% Median 25% growth

The options issued under the PSP attract a charge under IFRS. The fair value of these share options has been calculated using 
the Monte-Carlo pricing model. The key assumptions within the model are the risk free rate of interest (0.33%), the dividend yield 
(0.89%) and the company’s share price volatility (19- 32%).

Restricted share plan (RSP)

A new Restricted Share Plan (RSP) covers other key senior employees. There are no targets or market conditions attached to 
these awards. All awards will trigger after three years’ continued employment.

The options issued under the RSP attract a charge under IFRS. The fair value of these share options has been calculated by 
discounting the share price by the dividends over the expected life from the date of calculation. The key assumptions within the 
calculation are the dividend yield (0.89%) and the expected life (2.5 years).

Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (DABS Plan)

The DABS Plan is a component of the revised annual bonus arrangements for executives approved by shareholders at the AGM in 
September 2015. Bonuses can only be earned if challenging performance targets determined by the Committee at the start of the 
financial year are achieved. It includes significant elements of bonus deferral in the form of cash and shares such that two thirds 
of any bonus outcome will be deferred for a period of three years, one half of which (i.e one third of the bonus outcome) will be 
deferred in the form of a cash award and one half of which (i.e one third of the bonus outcome) will be an award of shares under 
the DABS Plan.

Employee Benefit Trust

At 31 March 2016 the EBT held nil (2015: nil) ordinary shares with a cost of £nil (2015: £nil) and a market value of £nil (2015: £nil).

Weighted average exercise price and charges

The options outstanding at 31 March 2016 had a weighted average exercise price of 0p (2015: 0p) and a weighted average 
remaining contractual life of 2.5 years (2015: 1.5 years).

During the year the Group recognised total charges of £1,475,000 (2015: £2,924,000) in relation to share-based 
payment transactions.
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31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Defined Contribution Schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme for all UK qualifying employees with Aegon. The assets of 
the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees.

The total cost charged to income of £2,991,000 (2015: £2,781,000) represents contributions payable to these schemes by the 
Group at rates specified in the rules of the plan. As at 31 March 2016, contributions of £318,000 (2015: £271,000) due in respect 
of the current reporting period had not been paid over to the scheme.

Defined Benefit Schemes

The Group has residual liabilities in respect of one defined benefit scheme (the White Young Consulting Group Limited Retirement 
Benefit Plan (1986) (the ‘1986 Scheme’)). On 31 March 2016, the Group effected a buy out of all of its liabilities in respect of the 
only other defined benefit scheme in the Group, the WYD Pension Scheme (the ‘WYD Scheme’).

In 2013 we reached a full and final, binding settlement with the representative beneficiary and independent trustee of the 1986 
Scheme, concluding an issue that had been in dispute since 2008. Under the Court approved settlement, we will pay £3.2m into 
the Scheme in instalments over 12 years. Other than this, WYG has no further liability to the 1986 Scheme.

On 20 March 2015, the 1986 Scheme was transferred to the Financial Assistance Scheme and, in accordance with s161 of the 
Pensions Act 2004, is treated as having been wound up from that date.

In December 2015, WYG Engineering Limited (the Principal Employer under the WYD Scheme), and the Trustees of the WYD 
Scheme reached an agreement under which the liabilities of the WYD Scheme were insured with Just Retirement Limited. The 
agreement contained an option allowing the Trustees to effect a buyout of all the WYD Scheme liabilities and, on 31 March 2016 
they completed the exercise of this option. This eliminated the Group’s only remaining exposure to defined benefit pension risk. 
The process of formally winding up the WYD Scheme has now commenced.

There is currently a surplus in the WYD Scheme Trustee bank account and, after allowing for the expenses of the buyout and tax 
arising in accordance with the Pensions Act 2006, this will be returned to the principal employer following agreement with the 
trustees. Consequently the adjustment made in relation to IFRIC14 in the prior year has been reversed.

Group contributions to the WYD scheme in the year were £341,000 (2015: £526,000).

The two schemes give rise to an overall net pension liability at 31 March 2016 of £1.6m (2015: £3.0m) as follows:

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Present value of defined benefit obligations (WYD Scheme) - (8,379)

Fair value of scheme assets (WYD Scheme) 799 9,732

Asset/(liability) recognised in the balance sheet (WYD Scheme) 799 1,353

Defined benefit asset ceiling (WYD Scheme) - (1,995)

Other pension liabilities (1986 Scheme) (2,356) (2,372)

(1,557) (3,014)

The net liability is included in the balance sheet as follows:

Retirement benefit asset 799 -

Retirement benefit obligation (2,356) (3,014)

(1,557) (3,014)
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31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES CONTINUED

2016 
%

2015 
%

Key assumptions used:

Discount rate 3.3 3.0

Expected rate of salary increases N/A N/A

Future pension increases 2.6 2.7

Inflation – CPI 1.8 1.9

Inflation – RPI 2.6 2.7

Life expectancy at age 65:

Men (years) 89.0 88.9

Women (years) 91.1 91.0

An analysis of the sensitivity to the principal assumptions of the present value if the defined benefit obligation:

Change in assumption Change in liabilities

Discount rate Decrease of 0.25% p.a. Increase by 0%

Rate of inflation Increase of 0.25% p.a. Increase by 0%

Rate of mortality Increase in life expectancy of 1 year Increase by 0%

Amounts recognised in income in respect of these defined benefit schemes are as follows:

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Interest cost (21) (6)

Actuarial gains and losses have been reported in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations in the current period were as follows:

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

At 1 April (8,379) (8,232)

Interest cost (247) (338)

Actuarial gains/(losses) 1,353 (176)

Benefits paid 306 367

Liabilities extinguished on settlement 6,967 -

At 31 March - (8,379)

Members of the scheme receive retained benefits provided by an external pension scheme which act as an offset to the 
benefits previously provided by the scheme (and now provided by the buyout policy). Information which has recently come to 
light has resulted in an increase in these retained benefits and a corresponding reduction in the benefits previously provided 
under the scheme (and now provided by the buyout policy). This is reflected in the actuarial gain of £1,353,000 shown within 
these disclosures.
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31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES CONTINUED
Movements in the present value of fair value of scheme assets in the current period were as follows:

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

At 1 April 9,732 7,849

Interest income 291 332

Actuarial (losses)/gains (508) 1,451

Contributions from the sponsoring companies 341 526

Benefits paid (306) (367)

Charges paid (74) (59)

Assets distributed on settlement (8,677) -

At 31 March 799 9,732

The asset ceiling increased by £65,000 during the year before it was reversed at 31 March 2016.

The analysis of the scheme assets and the expected rate of return at the balance sheet date was as follows:

Expected Return Fair Value of Assets

2016 
%

2015 
%

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

Equity instruments - 3.5 - 1,652

Fixed interest instruments - 1.0 - 5,107

Other assets - 1.0 799 2,973

- 1.4 799 9,732

The overall expected rate of return is based on the weighted average return on each asset category out of the total assets held in 
each plan.

The five year history of experience adjustments is as follows:

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

2014 
£’000

2013 
£’000

2012 
£’000

Present value of defined benefit obligations - (8,379) (8,232) (8,387) (7,625)

Fair value of scheme assets 799 9,732 7,849 7,665 6,607

Surplus/(deficit) in the schemes 799 1,353 (383) (722) (1,018)

Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities:

Amount (£’000) - 126 (1) (58) (146)

Percentage of scheme liabilities (%) - 2% 0% 0% 2%

Experience adjustments on scheme assets:

Amount (£’000) - - - - -

Percentage of scheme assets (%) - - - - -

The 1986 Plan is not included in the experience history as the liability disclosed at 31 March 2016 represents the remaining 
associated wind-up costs of the Plan.
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32. RELATED PARTIES
There is no ultimate controlling party.

Company

Funds are transferred within the Group, dependent on the 
operational needs of individual companies. Balances owed 
by other Group undertakings are shown in note 18 to the 
accounts. Investment income of £nil (2015: £nil) was received 
from a subsidiary company. There are no material transactions 
between WYG plc and its subsidiaries.
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NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the thirty second Annual 
General Meeting of WYG plc (Company) will be held at 
the Company’s registered office at Arndale Court, Otley 
Road, Headingley, Leeds LS6 2UJ on 22 September 
2016 at 10.00am for the following purposes:

ORDINARY BUSINESS
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions 
as ordinary resolutions:

1.  To receive the Company’s annual accounts, strategic report 
and directors’ and auditor’s reports for the year ended 31 
March 2016.

2.  To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the 
year ended 31 March 2016.

3.  To declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 
2016 of 1.0 pence per ordinary share in the capital of 
the Company, to be paid on 28 September 2016 to 
shareholders whose names appear on the register at the 
close of business on 2 September 2016.

4.  To appoint Jeremy Beeton as a Director.

5.  To appoint Neil Masom as a Director.

6.  To appoint Iain Clarkson as a Director.

7.  To re-elect Mike McTighe as a Director.

8.  To re-elect David Jeffcoat as a Director.

9.  To appoint Deloitte LLP as auditor of the Company.

10. To authorise the Directors to determine the remuneration 
of the auditor.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
As special business to consider and, if thought fit, pass 
resolution 11 as an ordinary resolution and resolutions 12 and 
13 as special resolutions:

11.  THAT, pursuant to section 551 of the Companies Act 
2006 (Act) the directors be generally and unconditionally 
authorised to allot Relevant Securities:

11.1.  up to an aggregate nominal amount of  
£22,795; and

11.2.  comprising equity securities (as defined in section 
560(1) of the Act) up to a further aggregate 
nominal amount of £22,795 in connection with an 
offer by way of a rights issue:

11.2.1.  to holders of ordinary shares in the capital of the 
Company in proportion (as nearly as practicable) 
to the respective numbers of ordinary shares held 
by them; and

11.2.2.  to holders of other equity securities in the capital 
of the Company, as required by the rights of 
those securities or, subject to such rights, as the 
directors otherwise consider necessary,

but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the 
directors may deem necessary or expedient in relation to 
Treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates or any 
legal or practical problems under the laws of any territory or 
the requirements of any regulatory body or stock exchange, 

provided these authorities shall expire at the conclusion of 
the next annual general meeting of the Company after the 
passing of this resolution or on 22 December 2017 (whichever 
is the earlier), save that, in each case, the Company may make 
an offer or agreement before the authority expires which 
would or might require Relevant Securities to be allotted after 
the authority expires and the directors may allot Relevant 
Securities pursuant to any such offer or agreement as if the 
authority had not expired. 

In this resolution, Relevant Securities means shares in the 
Company or rights to subscribe for or to convert any security 
into shares in the Company; a reference to the allotment of 
Relevant Securities includes the grant of such a right; and 
a reference to the nominal amount of the Relevant Security 
which is a right to subscribe for or to convert any security into 
shares in the Company is to the nominal amount of the shares 
which may be allotted pursuant to that right. 

These authorities are in substitution for all existing authorities 
under section 551 of the Act (which, to the extent unused at 
the date of this resolution, are revoked with immediate effect). 

12. THAT, subject to the passing of resolution 11 and pursuant 
to sections 570 and 573 of the Act, the directors be and 
are generally empowered to allot equity securities (within 
the meaning of section 560 of the Act) for cash pursuant 
to the authority conferred by resolution 11 and to sell 
ordinary shares held by the Company as treasury shares 
for cash as if section 561(1) of the Act did not apply to 
any such allotment or sale, provided that this power shall 
be limited to allotments of equity securities or the sale of 
treasury shares:

12.1.  in connection with an offer of equity securities 
(whether by way of a rights issue, open offer 
or otherwise), but in the case of an allotment 
pursuant to the authority granted by paragraph 
11.2 of resolution 11, such power shall be limited 
to the allotment of equity securities in connection 
with an offer by way of a rights issue:
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12.1.1.  to holders of ordinary shares in the capital of the 
Company in proportion (as nearly as practicable) 
to the respective numbers of ordinary shares held 
by them; and

12.1.2.  to holders of other equity securities in the capital 
of the Company, as required by the rights of 
those securities or, subject to such rights, as the 
directors otherwise consider necessary,

 but subject to such exclusions or other 
arrangements as the directors may deem 
necessary or expedient in relation to Treasury 
shares, fractional entitlements, record dates or 
any legal or practical problems under the laws of 
any territory or the requirements of any regulatory 
body or stock exchange; and

12.2.  otherwise than pursuant to paragraph 12.1 of this 
resolution, up to an aggregate nominal amount  
of £6,838.

The power conferred by this resolution 12 shall expire at the 
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company 
after the passing of this resolution or on 22 December 2017 
(whichever is the earlier), save that the Company may make an 
offer or agreement before this power expires which would or 
might require equity securities to be allotted or Treasury shares 
to be sold for cash after this power expires and the directors 
may allot equity securities or sell Treasury shares for cash 
pursuant to any such offer or agreement as if this power had 
not expired.

This power is in substitution for all existing powers under 
sections 570 and 573 of the Act (which, to the extent unused at 
the date of this resolution, are revoked with immediate effect).

13. THAT, pursuant to section 701 of the Act, the Company be 
and is generally and unconditionally authorised to make 
market purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of 
the Act) of ordinary shares of 0.1p each in the capital of 
the Company (Shares), provided that:

13.1.  the maximum aggregate number of Shares which 
may be purchased is 6,838,453;

13.2.  the minimum price (excluding expenses) which 
may be paid for a Share is 0.1p;

13.3.  the maximum price (excluding expenses) which 
may be paid for a Share is the higher of:

13.3.1.  an amount equal to 105% of the average market 
value for a Share as derived from the Daily Official 
List of the London Stock Exchange plc for the 
five business days before the date on which the 
contract for the relevant purchase is made; and

13.3.2.  an amount equal to the higher of the price of the 
last independent trade of a Share and the highest 
current independent bid for a Share on the trading 
venue where the purchase is carried out,

and (unless previously revoked, varied or renewed) this 
authority shall expire at the conclusion of the next annual 
general meeting of the Company after the passing of this 
resolution or on 22 December 2017 (whichever is the earlier), 
save that the Company may enter into a contract to purchase 
Shares before this is the authority expires under which such 
purchase will or may be completed or executed wholly or  
partly after this authority expires and may make a purchase of 
Shares pursuant to any such contract as if this authority had 
not expired.

By order of the Board

BENJAMIN WHITWORTH 
COMPANY SECRETARY 
7 JUNE 2016

Registered office:

Arndale Court 
Otley Road 
Headingley 
Leeds LS6 2UJ

Registered in England & Wales No. 01869543
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ORDINARY BUSINESS
Resolutions 1 to 10 are proposed as ordinary resolutions. This 
means that for each of these resolutions to be passed, more 
than half the votes cast must be in favour of the resolution.

Resolution 1: Report and Accounts

The Directors must present the Company’s annual accounts, 
strategic report and directors’ and auditor’s reports to 
shareholders at a general meeting. Those to be presented at 
the AGM are in respect of the year ended 31 March 2016, and 
are called the Annual Report 2016. The Annual Report 2016 
is available on the Company’s website www.wyg.com and has 
been posted to shareholders who have opted to continue to 
receive hard copies.

Resolution 2: Directors’ Remuneration Report

The Directors have elected to seek shareholder approval 
at each AGM for its Directors’ Remuneration Report which 
describes how the Company’s Directors’ Remuneration Policy 
has been implemented during the previous financial year. As an 
AIM company, the Company is putting forward this resolution 
on a voluntary basis.

The Directors Remuneration Report is set out on pages 77 to 
80 of the Annual Report 2016.

This vote is advisory only, therefore it does not affect the 
historical remuneration paid to any individual Director.

Resolution 3: Final Dividend

The Directors are recommending a final dividend for the year 
ended 31 March 2016 of 1.0 pence per ordinary share in the 
Company. If approved, the final dividend will be paid on 28 
September 2016 to shareholders whose names appear on the 
register of members of the Company at the close of business 
on 2 September 2016.

Resolutions 4, 5 and 6: Appointment of Directors

The Company’s Articles of Association require that any Director 
appointed during the year shall hold office only until the next 
AGM and shall then be eligible for election. In accordance with 
this rule, Jeremy Beeton and Neil Masom are seeking election 
at this meeting.

Profiles of Jeremy Beeton and Neil Masom are provided in the 
Annual Report 2016 on page 68, and for Iain Clarkson on pages 
9 and 10.

Resolutions 7 and 8: Re-appointment of Directors

The Company’s Articles of Association require one third of the 
Directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or 

a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not more 
than one third, to retire from office at every annual general 
meeting. In accordance with this rule, Mike McTighe and David 
Jeffcoat are retiring by rotation, and being eligible, are seeking 
re-election at this meeting.

Profiles of Mike McTighe and David Jeffcoat are provided in the 
Annual Report 2016 on pages 67 and 68.

Resolutions 9 and 10: Re-appointment and 
Remuneration of the Auditor

The Company is required to appoint auditors at each general 
meeting at which its annual accounts and reports are 
presented to shareholders. Therefore, resolution 9 proposes 
the reappointment of Deloitte LLP as auditor (to hold office 
until the next such meeting), and, in accordance with normal 
practice, resolution 10 authorises the Directors to determine 
the auditor’s remuneration.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
Resolution 11 is proposed as an ordinary resolution which 
means that for this resolution to be passed more than half the 
votes cast must be in favour of the resolution. Resolutions 12 
and 13 are proposed as special resolutions. This means that for 
each of these resolutions to be passed, at least three-quarters 
of the votes cast must be in favour of the resolution.

Resolution 11: Authority to Allot Shares

Generally, the Directors may only allot shares in the Company 
(or rights to subscribe for, or to convert any security into, 
shares in the Company) if they have been authorised to do so 
by shareholders in general meeting.

Resolution 11 renews a similar authority given at last year’s 
AGM and is in two parts.

In line with guidance issued by the Investment Association 
(previously known as the Investment Management Association), 
if passed, part (a) of resolution 11 will authorise the Directors 
to allot shares in the Company (and to grant rights to subscribe 
for, or to convert any security into, shares in the Company) 
up to an aggregate nominal amount of £22,795. This amount 
represents approximately one third of the issued ordinary share 
capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares) as at 6 June 
2016, being the last practicable date before the publication of 
this document).

In addition, if passed, part (b) of resolution 11 will authorise 
the Directors to allot ordinary shares in the Company (and to 
grant rights to subscribe for, or to convert any security into, 
ordinary shares in the Company) in connection with a rights 
issue only up to a further aggregate nominal value of £22,795. 

NOTES TO AGM RESOLUTIONS
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This amount represents approximately one third of the issued 
authorised share capital of the Company (excluding treasury 
shares) as at 6 June 2016, being the last practicable date 
before the publication of this document.

If given, these authorities will expire at the conclusion of the 
Company’s next AGM or on 22 December 2017 (whichever 
is the earlier). It is the Directors’ intention to renew these 
authorities each year.

As at the date of this document, no shares are held by the 
Company in treasury.

The Directors have no current intention to exercise either 
of the authorities sought under resolution 11. However, 
the Directors consider that it is in the best interests of the 
Company to have the authorities available so that they have 
the maximum flexibility permitted by institutional shareholder 
guidelines to allot shares or to grant rights without the need for 
a general meeting should they determine that it is appropriate 
to do so to respond to market developments or to take 
advantage of business opportunities as they arise.

Resolution 12: Disapplication of Pre-emption Rights

Generally, if the Directors wish to allot new shares or other 
equity securities in the Company for cash or sell treasury 
shares for cash, then they must first offer such shares or 
securities to ordinary shareholders in proportion to their 
existing holdings. These statutory pre-emption rights may be 
disapplied by shareholders.

Resolution 12, which will be proposed as a special resolution, 
renews a similar power given at last year’s AGM and, if 
passed, will enable the Directors to allot equity securities in 
the Company for cash or sell treasury shares for cash up to 
a maximum aggregate nominal amount of £45,590 without 
having to comply with statutory pre-emption rights, but this 
power will be limited to allotments or sales:

(a) up to an aggregate nominal amount of (i) £45,590 in 
connection with a rights issue or (ii) £22,795 in connection 
with an open offer or other pre-emptive offer, in each case 
to ordinary shareholders and to holders of other equity 
securities (if required by the rights of those securities or  
the Directors otherwise consider necessary), but (in 
accordance with normal practice) subject to such exclusions 
or other arrangements, such as for fractional entitlements 
and overseas shareholders, as the Directors consider 
necessary; and

(b)  in any other case, up to an aggregate nominal amount of 
£6,838 (which represents approximately 10% of the issued 
ordinary share capital of the Company as at 6 June 2016, 
being the last practicable date before the publication of  
this document).

This disapplication authority is in line with the Statement of 
Principles issued by The Pre-emption Group in 2015 (2015 
Principles). The 2015 Principles increased the percentage of 
shares which could be issued for cash on a non-pre-emptive 
basis from 5% to 10%, provided that the additional 5% is 
used only in connection with an acquisition or specified capital 
investment. The Directors therefore confirm that they will only 

use the authority to issue shares on a non-pre-emptive basis 
granted in resolution 12 which is in respect of more than 5% 
of the issued share capital of the Company (including treasury 
shares) in connection with an acquisition or specified capital 
investment which is announced contemporaneously with the 
issue, or which has taken place in the preceding six month 
period and is disclosed in the announcement of the issue.

The Directors also intend to follow the provisions in the 2015 
Principles regarding cumulative usage of authorities within 
a rolling three year period. The 2015 Principles provide that 
a company should not issue shares representing more than 
7.5% of its issued ordinary share capital for cash in any rolling 
three year period without prior consultation with shareholders, 
other than on a pre-emptive basis or in connection with an 
acquisition or specified capital investment.

If given, this power will expire at the conclusion of the 
Company’s next AGM or on 22 December 2017 (whichever is 
the earlier). It is the Directors’ intention to renew this power 
each year.

Resolution 13: Purchase by the Company of its  
own Shares

Resolution 13, which will be proposed as a special resolution, 
renews a similar authority given at last year’s AGM. If passed, 
it will allow the Company to purchase up to 6,838,453 ordinary 
shares in the market (which represents approximately 10% of 
the issued ordinary share capital of the Company (excluding 
treasury shares) as at 6 June 2016, being the last practicable 
date before the publication of this document). The minimum 
and maximum prices for such a purchase are set out in the 
resolution. If given, this authority will expire at the conclusion 
of the Company’s next AGM or on 22 December 2017 
(whichever is the earlier). It is the Directors’ intention to renew 
this authority each year.

The Directors have no current intention to exercise the 
authority sought under resolution 13 to make market 
purchases, but consider the authority desirable to provide 
maximum flexibility in the management of the Company’s 
capital base. If passed, the Directors will only exercise this 
authority if they believe that to do so would result in an 
increase in earnings per share and would be in the best 
interests of the Company and of its shareholders generally.

The Company is permitted to hold its own shares it has 
purchased in treasury, as an alternative to cancelling them. 
Shares held by the Company in treasury may subsequently be 
cancelled, sold for cash or used to satisfy options exercised 
under the Company’s share schemes. While held in treasury, 
the Company’s shares are not entitled to receive any dividend 
or dividend equivalent (apart from any issue of bonus shares) 
and have no voting rights. The Directors believe that it is 
appropriate for the Company to have the option to hold its own 
shares in treasury. If, at a future date, the Directors exercise 
this authority in order to provide the Company with additional 
flexibility in the management of its capital base, the Directors 
will have regard to institutional shareholder guidelines which 
may be in force at the time of any such purchase, holding or 
resale of shares held in treasury. 
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Entitlement to attend and vote 

1. The right to vote at the meeting is determined by reference to the 
register of members. Only those shareholders registered in the 
register of members of the Company as at the close of business on 20 
September 2016 (or, if the meeting is adjourned, the close of business 
on the date which is two days before the date of the adjourned 
meeting) shall be entitled to attend and vote at the meeting in 
respect of the number of shares registered in their name at that time. 
Changes to entries in the register of members after that time shall be 
disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote 
(and the number of the votes they may cast) at the meeting.

Proxies

2. A shareholder is entitled to appoint another person or persons as his 
or her proxy/proxies to exercise all or any of his or her rights to attend 
and vote at the meeting. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the 
Company. 
A shareholder may appoint more than one proxy in relation to the 
meeting provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights 
attached to a different share or shares held by that shareholder. If more 
than one proxy is appointed in respect of a different share or shares 
held by a shareholder but the proxy appointment does not specify to 
which share or shares the appointment or appointments relate or the 
total number of shares in respect of which appointments are made 
exceeds the total holding of the shareholder, the directors (in their 
absolute discretion) shall decide which of the proxies so appointed shall 
be entitled to attend and vote and be counted in the quorum at any 
general meeting.  
A proxy may only be appointed in accordance with the procedures set 
out in notes 3 to 5 below and the notes to the proxy form. 
The appointment of a proxy will not preclude a shareholder from 
attending and voting in person at the meeting. In the event of a poll in 
which a shareholder votes in person, any proxy votes lodged with the 
Company by or on behalf of such shareholder will be excluded.

3. A form of proxy is enclosed. When appointing more than one proxy, 
please complete a separate proxy form in relation to each appointment. 
The proxy form may be photocopied. Please take care to state clearly 
on each proxy form the number of shares in relation to which each 
proxy is appointed. Please return all forms together and tick the box to 
indicate that each form is one of multiple instructions being given. 
To be valid, a proxy form (together with any authority under which 
it is executed) must be received by post or (during normal business 
hours only) by hand at the offices of the Company’s registrar, Capita 
Asset Services, no later than 10.00am on 20 September 2016 (or, if 
the meeting is adjourned, no later than 48 hours before the time of 
any adjourned meeting). Any alterations to the form should be clearly 
initialled. 
If two or more valid forms of proxy are delivered in respect of the 
same share, the one which was delivered last (regardless of its date or 
execution) will be valid. If the Company is unable to determine which 
was last delivered, none of them shall be treated as valid in respect of 
the relevant share(s).

4. As an alternative to completing the hard copy proxy form, a shareholder 
may appoint a proxy or proxies electronically by logging onto 
www.capitashareportal.com. Full details of the procedures are given 
on that website. For an electronic proxy appointment to be valid, 
the appointment must be received by Capita Asset Services, no later 
than 10.00am on 20 September 2016 (or, if the meeting is adjourned, 

no later than 48 hours before the time of any adjourned meeting). 
Any electronic communication sent by a shareholder to the Company 
or Capita Asset Services which is found to contain a virus will not 
be accepted by the Company but every effort will be made by the 
Company to inform the shareholder of the rejected communication.

5. CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies for the 
meeting (or any adjournment of it) through the CREST electronic proxy 
appointment service may do so by using the procedures described 
in the CREST Manual. CREST personal members or other CREST 
sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a 
voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting 
service provider(s) who will be able to take the appropriate action on 
their behalf. 
In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the 
CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a CREST 
Proxy Instruction) must be properly authenticated in accordance 
with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s specifications and must contain 
the information required for such instructions as described in the 
CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether it constitutes the 
appointment of a proxy or is an amendment to the instruction given to 
a previously appointed proxy, must, in order to be valid, be transmitted 
so as to be received by Capita Asset Services (ID RA10) no later than 
10.00am on 20 September 2016 (or, if the meeting is adjourned, no 
later than 48 hours before the time of any adjourned meeting). No such 
message received through the CREST Network after this time will be 
accepted. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the 
time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the 
CREST Applications Host) from which Capita Asset Services is able to 
retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by 
CREST. After this time, any change of instructions to proxies appointed 
through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through 
other means. 
CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting 
service providers should note that Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited does 
not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular 
messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in 
relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility 
of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is 
a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a 
voting service provider(s), to procure that his or her CREST sponsor 
or voting service provider take such action as shall be necessary to 
ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system 
by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, 
where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers 
are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual 
concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings. 
The Company may treat a CREST Proxy Instruction as invalid in the 
circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated 
Securities Regulations 2001.

Corporate representatives

6. A shareholder which is a corporation may authorise one or more 
persons to act as its representative(s) at the meeting. Each 
such representative may exercise (on behalf of the corporation) 
the same powers as the corporation could exercise if it were an 
individual shareholder, provided that (where there is more than one 
representative and the vote is otherwise than on a show of hands) they 
do not do so in relation to the same shares.

NOTES TO NOTICE OF MEETING
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Method of Voting

7. Poll voting has been adopted as the method of voting at the AGM in 
line with best practice and to reflect more accurately the views of 
shareholders. This gives all shareholders the opportunity to participate 
in the decision-making of the Company and have  
their votes recorded even if they are unable to attend the meeting  
in person.

Total Voting Rights

8. As at 6 June 2016 (being the last practicable date before the 
publication of this notice), the Company’s issued share capital consists 
of 68,384,528 ordinary shares of 0.1p each, carrying one vote each. 
Therefore, the total voting rights in the Company as at 6 June 2016 are 
68,384,528.

Nominated Persons

9. Where a copy of this notice is being received by a person who has been 
nominated to enjoy information rights under section 146 of the Act 
(Nominated Person):

9.1 the Nominated Person may have a right under an agreement 
between him/her and the shareholder by whom he/she was 
nominated, to be appointed, or to have someone else appointed, 
as a proxy for the meeting; or

9.2 if the Nominated Person has no such right or does not wish 
to exercise such right, he/she may have a right under such an 
agreement to give instructions to the shareholder as to the 
exercise of voting rights. 
The statement of the rights of shareholders in relation to the 
appointment of proxies in notes 2 to 5 above does not apply to a 
Nominated Person. The rights described in such notes can only be 
exercised by shareholders of the Company.

Website publication of audit concerns

10.  A shareholder or shareholders having a right to vote at the meeting 
and holding at least 5% of the total voting rights of the Company 
(see note 8 above), or at least 100 shareholders having a right to 
vote at the meeting and holding, on average, at least £100 of paid 
up share capital, may require the Company to publish on its website 
a statement setting out any matter that such shareholders propose 
to raise at the meeting relating to either the audit of the Company’s 
accounts (including the auditor’s report and the conduct of the audit) 
that are to be laid before the meeting or any circumstances connected 
with an auditor of the Company ceasing to hold office since the last 
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with section 
527 of the Act.

Any such request must:

10.1 identify the statement to which it relates, by either setting out 
the statement in full or, if supporting a statement requested by 
another shareholder, clearly identifying the statement which is 
being supported;

10.2 comply with the requirements set out in note 11 below; and

10.3  be received by the Company at least one week before the 
meeting.

Where the Company is required to publish such a statement on  
its website:

10.4 it may not require the shareholders making the request to  
pay any expenses incurred by the Company in complying with 
the request;

10.5 it must forward the statement to the Company’s auditor no later 
than the time when it makes the statement available on the 
website; and

10.6 the statement may be dealt with as part of the business of  
the meeting.

11.  Any request by a shareholder or shareholders to require the Company 
to publish audit concerns as set out in note 10:

11.1 must be made in hard copy by sending it to the Company 
Secretary, WYG plc, Arndale Court, Otley Road, Headingley, 
Leeds LS6 2UJ;

11.2  must state the full name(s) and address(es) of the 
shareholder(s); and

11.3 (where the request is made in hard copy form) must be signed 
by the shareholder(s).

Questions at the meeting

12.  Shareholders have the right to ask questions at the meeting relating 
to the business being dealt with at the meeting in accordance with 
section 319A of the Act. The Company must answer any such  
question unless:

12.1 to do so would interfere unduly with the preparation for 
the meeting or would involve the disclosure of confidential 
information;

12.2 the answer has already been given on a website in the form of 
an answer to a question; or

12.3  it is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good 
order of the meeting that the question be answered.

Documents available for inspection

13.  The following documents will be available for inspection during normal 
business hours at the registered office of the Company from the date 
of this notice until the time of the meeting. They will also be available 
for inspection at the place of the meeting from at least 15 minutes 
before the meeting until it ends.

13.1  Copies of the service contracts of the executive directors;

13.2 copies of the letters of appointment of the non-executive 
directors; and 

13.3  the register of directors’ interests in the share capital of the 
Company.

Communications with the Company 

14.  Except as provided above, shareholders who wish to communicate 
with the Company in relation to the meeting should do so using the 
following means: 

14.1 calling our shareholder helpline on 0871 664 0300 operated 
by Capita Asset Services for all enquiries in relation to your 
shareholding; or

14.2 by calling 0113 278 7111 and asking for the Company Secretary 
in relation to any other enquiry in relation to the AGM. 

No other methods of communication will be accepted. Any electronic 
communication sent by a shareholder which to the Company or Capita 
Asset Services which is found to contain a virus will not be accepted by 
the Company but every effort will be made by the Company to inform the 
shareholder of the rejected communication.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

FINANCIAL CALENDAR
AGM 22 September 2016

Ex-dividend date for final dividend 1 September 2016

Final dividend record date 2 September 2016

Final dividend payment date 
(subject to shareholder approval)

28 September 2016

Half Year Report  1 December 2016

Trading Update March 2017

Interim dividend payment date 
(subject to Board approval)

March 2017

Preliminary Results 2016 June 2017

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The AGM will be held at the Company’s 
registered office at Arndale Court, Otley 
Road, Headingley, Leeds LS6 2UJ on  
22 September 2016 at 10.00am. Formal 
notice of the AGM, including details of 
special business, is enclosed on pages  
127 to 128 and is available on the 
Company’s website at  
www.wyg.com

SHARE PRICE
Information on our share price is 
available on the Company’s website, 
www.wyg.com, numerous other  
websites and is also listed in some  
daily newspapers.

REGISTRAR
All matters relating to the administration 
of shareholdings should be directed to 
Capita Asset Services, The Registry, 34 
Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent 
BR3 4TU, telephone: 0871 664 0300 
(calls cost 12p per minute plus network 
extras, lines are open 9:00am - 
5:30pm Monday to Friday for UK 
callers or if calling from overseas 
+44 (0)371 664 0300.

You can register for electronic 
communications and access 
your personal shareholding at 
www.capitashareportal.com. If you have 
not previously registered for this service 
you will require your investor code which 
is printed on your share certificate or 
statement of holding.

ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS
Shareholder communications can be 
received electronically rather than 
receiving hard copies by post. This offers 
shareholders an opportunity to receive 
company documentation quickly and in 
a user-friendly format while reducing 
costs and the consumption of natural 
resources.

Please note that all notices of meetings, 
the Annual Report & Accounts and other 
shareholder documents, are published on 
the Company website at www.wyg.com

WEBSITE
The WYG website, www.wyg.com, 
includes a section for investors that 
provides a wide range of information 
about the Company, including the latest 
regulatory news and downloadable 
copies of the report and accounts.
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UNSOLICITED EMAIL
The Company is obliged by law to make 
its share register available to third 
parties who may then use it for a mailing 
list. If you are a UK shareholder and 
you wish to limit receipt of unsolicited 
email you may do so by registering with 
the Mailing Preference Service (MPS). 
Registration can be made online at 
www.mpsonline.org.uk or via telephone 
on 0845 703 4599.

SHAREGIFT
If you have only a small number of 
shares which would cost more for you 
to sell than they are worth, you may 
wish to consider donating them to the 
charity ShareGift (Registered Charity 
1052686) which specialises in accepting 
such shares as donations. The relevant 
stock transfer form may be obtained 
from the Company’s Registrars. There 
are no implications for Capital Gains Tax 
purposes (no gain or loss) on gifts of 
shares to charity and it is also possible 
to obtain income tax relief. Further 
information about ShareGift may be 
obtained on: +44 (0)20 7930 3737 or 
from www.sharegift.org

WARNING TO SHAREHOLDERS
Many companies are now aware that 
shareholders have received unsolicited 
telephone calls or correspondence 
regarding investment matters, typically 
from overseas-based ‘brokers’. They 
often target UK shareholders offering to 
buy shares at a discount or to sell what 
turn out to be worthless or high-risk 
investments. These are commonly known 
as ‘boiler-room scams’. Such ‘brokers’ can 
be very persistent and very persuasive. 
The following advice is provided:

• Make sure you get the name of the 
person calling and their organisation

• Only ever deal with companies 
authorised by the Financial Conduct 
Authority (FCA) at www.fca.org.uk/
firms/systems-reporting/register

• Report the matter to the FCA by 
completing their online form at http://
www.fca.org.uk/consumers/scams/
investment-scams/share-fraud-and-
boiler-room-scams/reporting-form or 
call the FCA Consumer Helpline on 
(UK): 0800 111 6768

• Callers may be persistent so hang  
up the phone if they continue to 
contact you.

Please be aware that if you deal with an 
unauthorised firm you will not be eligible 
to receive payment under the Financial 
Services Compensation Scheme.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

IFRS

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

2014 
£’000

2013 
Restated 2 

£’000
2012 
£’000

Results

Revenue 133,482 130,464 126,914 125,744 139,864

Operating profit/(loss) 1 2 7,221 5,802 4,806 1,502 (3,467)

Profit/(loss) before tax 1 7,020 5,686 4,229 707 (5,806)

Profit/(loss) attributable to the owners of 
the parent 2,832 1,923 2,053 (3,387) 11,388

Dividend per ordinary share:

Interim paid 0.5p 0.3p - - -

Final 2015 – proposed 1.0p 0.7p 0.5p - -

Share price at 31 March 134.5p 111p 110p 74.5p 53.3p

1  Before separately disclosed items.
2  Operating profit/(loss) in 2013 has been restated for the adoption of the amended IAS19 Pensions and Employee Benefits.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

IFRS

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

2014 
£’000

2013 
Restated 4 

£’000

2012 
Restated 3 

£’000

Goodwill and other intangibles 27,488 18,731 17,598 16,255 17,353

Property, plant and equipment 3,181 2,307 2,242 2,361 3,206

Work in progress 30,372 21,145 21,563 20,172 26,853

Receivables 23,848 21,108 22,601 27,040 31,317

Payables (56,789) (52,555) (58,658) (68,034) (84,944)

28,100 10,736 5,346 (2,206) (6,215)

Shareholders’ equity/(deficit) 28,281 22,546 20,087 16,438 17,962

Net financial (assets)/liabilities (181) (11,810) (14,741) (18,644) (24,177)

28,100 10,736 5,346 (2,206) (6,215)

3  The 2012 balance sheet was restated for the Group early adopting IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ in 2013.
4 The 2013 balance sheet was restated for the reclassification of credit balances between receivables and payables.
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OUR PEOPLE BRING 
PROJECTS TO LIFE
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 THEIR EXPERTISE AND 
DIVERSITY IS THE  

KEY TO OUR SUCCESS.
TOGETHER THEY ARE  

MAKING A DIFFERENCE.
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WYG plc 
Arndale Court 
Otley Road 
Headingley 
Leeds LS6 2UJ

T: 0113 278 7111 
F: 0113 278 3487 
E: info@wyg.com 
W: www.wyg.com

www.wyg.com creative minds safe hands
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